
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub 
Committee 

 
Date: THURSDAY, 10 JULY 2025 

Time: 11.00 am 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS - 2ND FLOOR WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Mark Wheatley (Chairman) 

Deborah Oliver, (Ex-Officio) (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy Helen Fentimen OBE JP 
Dawn Frampton 
Steve Goodman OBE 
Shravan Joshi MBE 
Helen Ladele 
 

Sophia Mooney 
David Williams 
Robert Atkin, Safer City Partnership 
James Breed, External Member 
Patrick Fowler, External Member 
Paul Kennedy, City Churches 
Irmani Smallwood, External Member 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Blair Stringman 

blair.stringman@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas CBE 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 14 May 
2025. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 10) 

 
4. MHCLG AND SUBREGIONAL PERSPECTIVE 
 

 Presentation to be heard. 
 

 For Discussion 
  

 
5. CITY OF LONDON POLICE UPDATE 
 

 The Commissioner of the City of London Police to be heard. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
6. INTRODUCTION TO HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING SERVICES 

REPORT 
 

 Report of the Executive Director, Community & Children’s Services.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 11 - 46) 

 
7. HOMELESSNESS & ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY UPDATE REPORT 
 

 Report of the Executive Director, Community & Children’s Services. 
 
Item to follow. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
 
 



3 
 

8. CO-PRODUCTION PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT 
 

 Report of the Executive Director, Community & Children’s Services. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 47 - 56) 

 
9. STATUTORY HOMELESSNESS SERVICE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 

 Report of the Executive Director, Community & Children’s Services.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 57 - 72) 

 
10. MEETING THE HEALTH NEEDS FOR PEOPLE ROUGH SLEEPING IN THE CITY 

OF LONDON 
 

 Report of the Executive Director, Community & Children’s Services. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 73 - 118) 

 
11. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-

COMMITTEE 
 
 

12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION – that, under Section 100(a) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 
 

 For Decision 
  

 
Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 

 
14. CITY OF LONDON POLICE NON-PUBLIC UPDATE 
 

 The Commissioner of the City of London Police to be heard. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
15. QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-COMMITTEE WHILE THE 

PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
 
 



4 
 

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT WHILST 
THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 



HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING SUB COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 14 May 2025  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub 
Committee held at the Guildhall EC2 at 4.00 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Mark Wheatley (Chairman) 
Deputy Helen Fentimen OBE JP 
Dawn Frampton 
Helen Ladele 
 

Sophia Mooney 
James Breed 
Patrick Fowler 
Deborah Oliver 
 

 
Officers: 
Chief Inspector Nikki Gander 
Kirsty Lowe 
Will Norman 
Chris Pelham 
Blair Stringman 

- City of London Police  
- Community & Children’s Services Department  
- Community & Children’s Services Department  
- Community & Children’s Services Department  
- Town Clerk’s Department  

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Steve Goodman OBE and Shravan 
Joshi MBE. 
 

2. MEMBERS DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT  
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Standing Order 26 (6), Deborah Oliver 
being the only Member indicating their willingness to serve, was elected Deputy 
Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

4. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That, the public and non-public summary of the minutes of the 
meeting held on 3 February 2025 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

5. ROUGH SLEEPING PREVENTION AND RECOVERY GRANT 2025/26 
SUMMARY  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Community & 
Children’s Services concerning a draft summary of the interventions that will be 
delivered by the City of London, through the Rough Sleeping Prevention and 
Recovery Grant for the period of 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026. 
 
Members were reminded that this grant replaces the former Rough Sleeping 
Initiative (RSI), which had been in place for seven years, with the last three 
years delivered as a single three-year settlement. The RSPRG for 2025/26 will 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



be issued as a single Section 31 ring-fenced payment, totalling £1,373,509 for 
the City of London—broadly in line with the previous year’s RSI allocation 
Officers noted that the new funding structure provides greater flexibility in how 
the grant is deployed, with no co-production process required with the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.  
 
The draft plan, included in the report, outlines proposed interventions across 
prevention, outreach, accommodation, and recovery services. Members were 
advised that the plan remains subject to change as further operational details 
are confirmed. 
 
In response to Member questions, officers clarified the following: 
 

• The City of London continues to experience a disproportionately high 
level of rough sleeping due to its central location and perceived safety. 
While earlier RSI allocations were formula-based, recent funding has 
been more reliant on the quality and impact of local proposals. 

• There is a possibility that future funding streams may consolidate the 
RSPRG with the Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG), which 
operates under a more complex formula. 

• The proposed winter crash accommodation model aims to complement 
the Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) by smoothing service 
delivery across the colder months. Officers confirmed that access to 
such services would remain tightly gatekept to verified rough sleepers, 
and there is no evidence to suggest that such provision increases inward 
migration. 

• Members discussed the potential use of church spaces for winter 
accommodation. Officers noted the logistical challenges in securing 
suitable venues but confirmed ongoing engagement with faith partners.  

• On the topic of soup kitchens, officers explained that while welfare 
services are valuable, the City prefers to signpost individuals to 
structured support services to avoid inadvertently sustaining rough 
sleeping. 

 
The Committee noted the report and thanked officers for their work. Members 
were invited to submit further questions to officers by email. 
 
RESOLVED – That, the report be noted. 
 

6. STATUTORY HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING SERVICE – USE 
OF TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION REPORT  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Community & 
Children’s Services concerning a summary of temporary accommodation (TA) 
usage under s.188 and s.193 of the Housing Act 1996 and on a discretionary 
basis as a measure for the relief of rough sleeping. 
 
Officers noted the report outlined the use of temporary accommodation (TA) 
during the 2024/25 financial year, including legal frameworks, household 
compositions, and current operational status. A total of 164 households were 
placed in TA, all within Greater London. Notably, no children were 

Page 6



accommodated in bed and breakfast settings. Over half of the placements were 
made on a discretionary basis, with the remainder under statutory obligations. 
The total cost of providing TA amounted to £1,716,131—an increase of 
£686,175 compared to the previous year. 
 
The following points were noted: 
 

• Early Intervention and Prevention: A Member raised concerns about 
the need for alternative approaches to prevent homelessness, 
particularly for families with children, to avoid disruption to education and 
social networks. Officers responded that statutory duties include 
mediation and eviction prevention, while discretionary placements are 
used to ensure safety. TA is also employed to support rough sleeping 
relief, which is recognised as good practice by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

• Housing Market Challenges: Officers highlighted the challenges posed 
by high private rental costs and limited availability of social housing, 
which contribute to extended stays in TA. Collaborative efforts are 
underway with other authorities to improve access to private sector 
housing. 

• Social Housing Allocation: In response to a question raised by a 
Member about alignment between social housing allocation and 
homelessness services, officers confirmed that ongoing reviews and 
collaboration with housing colleagues are in place, particularly to support 
vulnerable groups such as care leavers. 

• Prison Release Coordination: A Member raised the issue of early 
prison releases and the importance of coordination with probation 
services to prevent homelessness. Officers noted that the last wave had 
minimal impact but agreed on the need to prepare for future releases 
and enhance referral processes. 

• Veteran Support: A Member asked about tracking veterans among the 
homeless population. Officers confirmed that veteran status is recorded 
and used to access additional support services. 

• Financial Pressures and Forecasting: A Member questioned the long-
term financial implications of TA, particularly for those under main duty. 
Officers acknowledged the need for improved forecasting and 
highlighted ongoing efforts to expand partnerships with the private 
rented sector, despite limitations in scale. 

 
RESOLVED – That, the report be noted. 

 
7. ANNUAL SEVERE WEATHER EMERGENCY PROTOCOL (SWEP) REPORT 

2024  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Community & 
Children’s Services concerning narrative and analysis on the City of London’s 
Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) 2024/2025. 
 
Officers noted that this year, there were six SWEP activations between 
September and April, covering a total of 27 days. During this period, 82 unique 
individuals accessed SWEP services, resulting in 94 placements—the highest 

Page 7



number recorded to date. Despite the increased outreach and activations 
(double that of the previous year), the uptake of services was lower. The ability 
to offer long-term accommodation solutions was also reduced due to limited 
capacity among City officers and commissioned services. 
 
Members discussed the importance of signposting individuals to additional 
services, particularly during winter. Members also highlighted the role of 
community shelters such as Hackney Night Shelters and shared personal 
experiences of volunteering and supporting rough sleepers. Officers confirmed 
that early-stage planning is underway for winter shelter provision, potentially in 
partnership with local churches, drawing on successful models from 
neighbouring boroughs. 
 
The Sub-Committee noted a continued rise in rough sleeping numbers, despite 
milder winters. Officers attributed this to broader systemic issues such as the 
cost-of-living crisis, housing shortages, and cuts to adult social care. Members 
raised concerns about individuals who are employed but still rough sleeping 
due to affordability and immigration-related ineligibility for housing support. The 
complexity of these cases was acknowledged, particularly for those with no 
recourse to public funds. 
 
Members shared observations from street outreach, noting that many 
individuals refused shelter even during extreme cold. Questions were raised 
about the consistency of such refusals and the operational challenges of 
securing accommodation on short notice. Officers clarified that while adult 
social care funding is a national issue, the City of London has maintained a 
progressive approach, including deploying social workers alongside outreach 
teams to conduct Care Act assessments. 
 
Members discussed the need for better coordination with hospitals, particularly 
A&E departments, to prevent discharges onto the streets. Officers confirmed 
that while there are no hospitals within the City, efforts are being made to 
include neighbouring hospitals like Homerton in SWEP notifications. 
Additionally, the City has implemented a “Hot SWEP” protocol to address risks 
during extreme heat, including providing water, sunscreen, and access to cool 
spaces such as libraries. 
 
Concerns were raised about the timing of SWEP activations by the Greater 
London Authority (GLA), often occurring late in the week. Officers explained 
that while the GLA uses predictive weather data, local authorities retain the 
autonomy to activate SWEP independently, which the City has done when 
necessary. Members acknowledged the strain on outreach teams during peak 
periods and the need for additional capacity to maximise the impact of SWEP. 
 
A Member raised a follow-up on a previous commitment by the Chair of 
Finance at a recent Court of Common Council meeting to allocate increased 
council tax revenue toward homelessness services. It was proposed and 
unanimously supported to seek clarification on a resolution and pursue this 
matter through the Community and Children’s Services Committee. Members 
agreed to draft a formal resolution to ensure this funding opportunity is not lost. 

Page 8



 
RESOLVED – That, the report be noted. 
 

8. HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 2023–2027 
UPDATE REPORT  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Community & 
Children’s Services concerning a summary of progress against the aims set out 
in the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2023–2027. 
 
RESOLVED – That, the report be noted. 
 

9. CITY OF LONDON POLICE UPDATE  
Members received an update of the Superintendent of the City of London 
Police and the following points were made: 
 
The following points were noted: 
 

• The Chief Inspector provided an update on Operation Luscombe, which 
addresses begging in the City through a traffic light escalation system. A 
review identified the need for more frequent welfare support, prompting a 
shift to a more flexible, daily model. 

• The Luscombe tickets are being redesigned to improve accessibility and 
clarity, including multilingual support. 

• A multi-agency working group has been established to address risks 
associated with encampments and rough sleeping. Monthly operations 
now remove hazardous materials while maintaining a welfare-first 
approach. 

• The largest encampment is at Castle Baynard, and efforts are focused 
on removing unused tents and balancing support for rough sleepers with 
community safety. 

• Members raised concerns about resident safety and antisocial 
behaviour. The Chief Inspector encouraged reporting via 101 and 
welcomed direct contact for broader concerns. 

• A specific case at St John’s Court was acknowledged as under active 
review. 

 
RESOLVED - That, the update be noted. 
 

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There was no other business. 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
The public were not excluded. 
 

13. CITY OF LONDON POLICE NON-PUBLIC UPDATE  
There was no update. 

Page 9



 
14. QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-COMMITTEE WHILE 

THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no non-public questions. 
 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was no other business. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 5.20 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Blair Stringman 
blair.stringman@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee: 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee 
 
 

Dated: 
10/07/2025 
 

Subject:  
Introduction to Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Services Report 

Public report:  

For Information  
 

This proposal: 

• delivers Corporate Plan 2024–2029 outcomes 

Links to Corporate Plan 
outcomes 1, 2, 3, 4,10 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No  

If so, how much? NA 

What is the source of Funding? NA 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

NA 

Report of:  Judith Finlay – Executive 
Director, Community and 
Children’s Services 

Report author:  Will Norman – Head of 
Homelessness Prevention 
and Rough Sleeping 
 

 

Summary 

This report provides new Members of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-
Committee with an overview of our Statutory Homelessness, Rough Sleeping (HRS) 
and Supported Accommodation Pathway teams and the work they undertake. The 
report explains where statutory duties are owed, the source of funding for staffing and 
service delivery, and the strategic context for the work.  

The report is designed as a high-level summary for newer Members. Members will 
receive more focused reports relating to the work of specific teams at various points 
of the year.  

This report references the following priorities from the Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2023–2027: 

• Priority 1 – Providing rapid, effective and tailored interventions 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



• Priority 2 – Securing access to suitable, affordable accommodation 

• Priority 3 – Achieving our goals through better collaboration and partnership 

• Priority 4 – Providing support beyond accommodation. 

 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the report 

Main Report 

Background 
 

1. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping services are delivered by local authorities 
to meet the needs of homeless individuals and households. ‘Homelessness’ is 
a broad term that captures anyone who does not have access to a safe and 
secure home which is safe and appropriate for them to access. ‘Homelessness’ 
or ‘statutory homelessness’ are terms used in the sector to differentiate 
between homeless individuals or households who do not have a settled home, 
but they have not been recorded as rough sleeping.  
 

2. ‘Rough sleeping’ is the most acute form of homelessness and refers to (usually) 
an individual who is roofless – i.e. they have been verified as sleeping on the 
streets or in a shelter not designed for permanent habitation. 
 

3. As the phrase suggests, statutory homelessness is a regulated area, and local 
authorities have statutory duties under Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended). 2017 saw the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
which widened these duties and added new emphasis on prevention of 
homelessness. Other intersections with related legislation include (but are not 
limited to): Domestic Abuse Act 2021; Human Rights Act 1998; and Care Act 
2014. 
 

4. Verified rough sleepers fall under Part VII Housing Act duties. However, the 
complex and often chaotic nature of rough sleeping makes engagement with 
legislative frameworks challenging for some. There are countless reasons why 
individuals rough sleep and many local authorities have developed specific 
areas of practice focused on rough sleeping. Most London local authorities will 
have a Rough Sleeping Coordinator and access to an Outreach Team as a 
minimum. Many will commission their own services, and local authorities with 
the largest rough sleeping populations will have extensive and sophisticated 
partnership arrangements coordinated by a dedicated Rough Sleeping Team. 
 

5. Regional and national homelessness and rough sleeping data is collected the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG). Statutory 
work is overseen by the Homelessness Advice and Support Team (HAST) and 
rough sleeping work by the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI). 
 

Page 12



6. Statutory data is submitted automatically from our casework database via a bulk 
data return known as H-CLIC (Homelessness Case Level Collection). This is 
later published by MHCLG. For London-based local authorities, rough sleeping 
data is submitted through the Combined Homelessness and Information 
Network (CHAIN) which all London’s outreach teams use. CHAIN is 
commissioned by the Greater London Authority (GLA). 
 

7. The City of London participates in a number of forums hosted by MHCLG, 
London Councils and the GLA. Some of these are operational and others are 
more strategic.  
 

8. There is a statutory requirement that all local authorities have a Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy. The City’s document for 2023–2027 can be 
found at Appendix 1. Members of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-
Committee hear a progress report at every meeting. Further oversight is 
provided by the Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy Group 
which draws together partners and stakeholders who help us deliver our 
strategic objectives. 
 

9. The total budget for 2025-26 is £5,800,000. This includes £1,553,000 of grant 
income (Homelessness Prevention Grant and Rough Sleeping Prevention and 
Recovery Grant) and £2,588,000 from Central Risk. Full budget information can 
be found at appendix 3. 
 

10. The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Service sits in People Division 
alongside Adult and Children’s Social Care. 

 
Current Position 
 

11. For service area structure, please see the structure diagram at Appendix 2. 
There are currently 20 staff members in the service area. 

 
Statutory Homelessness 
 

12. The team consists of five officers: a Triage Officer handling general inquiries 
and providing the majority of our duty system; two Housing Officers who provide 
casework across a range of prevention, relief and main duty cases; a Senior 
Housing Officer who carries a caseload and provides day-to-day management 
support to the team; and a Team Support Officer to aid with administrative 
duties. 
 

13. The primary function of the team is to ensure that the City of London is 
compliant with its duties as set out in the following legal frameworks: 
 

• Part VII Housing Act 1996  

• Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

• Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
 

14. Demand on the service has been steadily increasing over the last five years. 
Chart 1 illustrates the rate at which individuals and households approach the 

Page 13



service for advice and guidance. These cases do not necessarily result in a 
homeless application being taken; however, the provision of advice is a duty 
covered by homelessness legislation. The rate at which approaches are made 
is a useful measure of developing pressures on wider homelessness and rough 
sleeping services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Chart 1 
 

 
 

15. Chart 2 tracks the rate at which individuals or families (described as 
households) are placed in Temporary Accommodation (TA). The number 
indicates placements per year. Placements in TA are made when the assessing 
officers have reason to believe the presenting household is homeless – i.e., 
they do not have access to somewhere safe and suitable to stay which it would 
be reasonable to expect them to occupy. More information about the City’s use 
of TA can be found in previous Sub-Committee reports (please see background 
papers). 

 
  

85

338

428

512

602
632

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Approaches for Emergency Assistance

Page 14



Chart 2 
 

 
 

 

16. The Statutory Homelessness Service is funded from the core HRS budget and 
income from Housing Benefit claimable on TA. 

 
Rough Sleeping 
 

17. The team consists of five officers: a Rough Sleeping Service Manager who 
manages the budget, leads on commissioning and undertakes contract 
monitoring; two Rough Sleeping Coordinators who provide day-to-day direction 
and guidance for our commissioned services; a Pathway Liaison Officer to link 
rough sleeping services to our Statutory Homelessness and Pathway services; 
and a Team Support Officer. 
 

18. Rough Sleeping services are coordinated by the City team but largely delivered 
through an array of commissioned services. This includes: 
 

• City Outreach Team  

• Snow Hill Court Assessment Centre 

• Block booked TA 

• Mobile Intervention Support Team (MIST) 

• Navigator Service 

• Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) 

• Dellow Centre City Caseworker 

• Psychotherapy Service 
 

19. Demand on the City’s Rough Sleeping services has also been increasing in 
recent years. Chart 3 illustrates the rise in City rough sleepers between 2019/20 
and 2023/24, the last year that annual data is currently available for. 

 
  

68 69

104

129

144

164

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Temporary Accommodation Placements

Page 15



Chart 3 
 

 
 

20. An annual count of rough sleepers takes place in every local authority in 
England each autumn. In 2024, the City of London counted 86 individuals, a 
41% rise on the same count the previous year. This is the third highest figure 
in England after Westminster and Camden (and followed by Somerset, Bristol 
and Brighton). 
 

21. Rough sleeping is funded jointly by the core HRS budget and grant funding 
from MHCLG. Since 2018/19, the City of London has been awarded grant 
funding from the RSI, steadily increasing from £200,000 in 2018/19 to £1.3 
million in 2024/25. In 2025/26, the RSI grant was replaced by the Rough 
Sleeping Prevention and Recovery Grant (RSPRG) and funding comparable to 
2024/25 was awarded. We are currently awaiting a decision from MHCLG 
regarding a grant programme for 2026/27 onwards.  
 

22. The City’s Rough Sleeping services are currently being reviewed by Homeless 
Link, with a final report due later in July. Members will be briefed on the findings 
of this report at the October Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-
Committee. 
 

23. More information on the RSPRG programme for 2025/26 can be found in the 
background paper listed at the end of this report. 

 
Supported Accommodation Pathway 
 

24. The Pathway Team consists of: a Pathway Coordinator who leads on contract 
monitoring, performance of our Pathway providers and the City’s Tenancy 
Sustainment Team; a Pathway Liaison Officer who links in with outreach 
providers, suppliers and maintains sight of the moves in, within and out of the 
Pathway; and a Team Support Officer. 
 

25. Additional to our residential services for former rough sleepers, the Pathway 
Team also includes the City’s Tenancy Sustainment Team (TST) which 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Total Rough Sleepers - City of London

Page 16



provides support to tenants vulnerable to tenancy loss across the City’s portfolio 
of Greater London housing estates. The TST consists of one Senior TST Officer 
and three TST Officers. The service has a caseload of around 50 people. 
 

26. The Pathway consist of the following services: 
 

• Grange Road – high-support hostel offering 29 single occupancy rooms, 
including a cluster of self-contained units, located in Southwark. 

• Crimscott Street – low-medium support hostel offering 21 self-contained 
units, located adjacent to Grange Rd in Southwark. 

• The Lodge – jointly commissioned with Westminster and offering 40 single 
occupancy rooms. Prioritised for low or medium support residents with long 
rough sleeping histories or multiple unsuccessful stays in more typical 
hostels. Located in Camden. 

• City Lodge – jointly commissioned with Westminster and operated along 
similar lines to the original Lodge. Offers 17 single occupancy rooms, and is 
located in Middle Street in the City of London. 

• City and Hackney Housing First – currently proving 30 social and private 
rented sector tenancies in various London boroughs, 12 of which are 
occupied by City of London clients. Housing First provides wrap-around 
support to ensure that tenancies are sustained. 

• Discretionary TA – flexible capacity depending on need. Dispersed offer in 
various London boroughs. Currently there are 35 individuals placed in TA. 
 

27. Excluding discretionary TA, there are currently 94 beds at the disposal of the 
Pathways Team. The Snow Hill Court Assessment Centre is not included in the 
Pathway. Rough Sleeping services retain management responsibilities for this 
service as an ‘off the street’ offer to rough sleepers. 
 

28. The Pathway is funded from the HRS core budget, complemented by some 
funding from the RSPRG. 
 

29. The City’s four residential schemes plus the Housing First project are being 
reviewed by City officers throughout 2025. The Rough Sleeping Assessment 
Centre falls under the responsibility of the Rough Sleeping Team and is not 
included in this process. Findings will be reported to Members of the 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee in early 2026.  

 
Options 
 

30. There are no options for Members to consider. 
 
Proposals 
 

31. There are no proposals for Members to consider. 
 
Key Data 
 

32. Summary data is included within the body of the report. 
 

Page 17



Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 

33. Financial implications – none 

34. Resource implications – none 

35. Legal implications – none 

36. Risk implications – none 

37. Equalities implications – none 

38. Climate implications – none 

39. Security implications – none 

Conclusion 
 

40. The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping service area is made up of three 
teams: the Rough Sleeping Team; Statutory Homelessness Team; and 
Pathway Team. The latter also includes the City’s Tenancy Sustainment Team. 
There are currently 20 full-time officers in the service area. 

 
41. Demand on Statutory Homelessness and Rough Sleeping services have 

steadily increased over the last five years. Approaches for homelessness 
advice and guidance and placements in TA have roughly doubled over the last 
four years. 

 
42. Five residential settings, a Housing First scheme plus numerous block-booked 

and ad-hoc TA placements are at the disposal of the Rough Sleeping and 
Pathway teams. The service has access to 94 rooms under commissioned 
arrangements. 
 

43. The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Service is funded through a 
combination of the core HRS budget, grant funding from the MHCLG and 
income from Housing Benefit placements. 

 
Background papers  
 

• Statutory Homelessness and Rough Sleeping – Use of Temporary 
Accommodation Report (HRS Sub-Committee,14 May 2025) 

• Rough Sleeping Prevention and Recovery Grant 2025/26 Update Report 
(HRS Sub-Committee, 3 February 2025) 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2023–2027 

• Appendix 2 – Structure diagram 

• Appendix 3 – Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Budget Allocation 2025-26 
 
Will Norman 
Head of Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping 
 
T: 020 7332 1994 
E: will.norman@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 18

mailto:will.norman@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Homelessness and Rough  
Sleeping Strategy 2023-27 

Page 19



Foreword 
from the Chairman of the Community and 
Children’s Services Committee 

I am pleased to introduce the City of London Corporation’s Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2023-27. This strategy aims to respond to homelessness that 
may be the result of a loss of a home or those who are at risk of losing their home, 
and those who sleep rough on our streets. 

This strategy renews our commitment to provide the support to improve health, 
wellbeing, and accommodation outcomes for those experiencing homelessness 
or rough sleeping in the Square Mile. Developed collaboratively, the strategy 
commits to deliver tailored interventions, access to accommodation, and providing 
sustainable routes off the streets. 

We are committed to proactively identifying those at risk of becoming homeless 
and ensuring useful information is readily accessible and easy to understand to 
prevent homelessness occurring in the first place and respond effectively where it 
occurs. We are committed to learn through our engagement with people who have 
experience of homelessness and rough sleeping as a priority. 

This strategy represents our determination to tackle an issue which is complex 
and challenging. Through its delivery, the City Corporation will assist people who 
are some of the most vulnerable in our community or face the most challenging 
circumstances of their lives, whilst recognising the unique circumstances they may 
face. 

Ruby Sayed (Barrister), Common Councillor 
Chairman – Community and Children’s Services Grand Committee 

2 

Page 20



Foreword 
from the Chairman of the Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee 

Preventing and ending homelessness and rough sleeping requires 
collective action. Too many individuals still find themselves 
without a home or at risk of losing the roof over their heads. As 
the UK’s financial hub with a vibrant nighttime economy and 
transitory population, the Square Mile sees a disproportionate 
level of visible homelessness. 

By working together across sectors, we can achieve better outcomes for all 
Londoners affected by homelessness and rough sleeping. We have made 
meaningful progress by investing in key services alongside our partners. This 
includes delivering much-needed additional temporary accommodation, securing 
additional funding for our commissioned street outreach service, and opening a 
Rough Sleeping Assessment Centre within the Square Mile in Spring 2024. 

We have also taken great strides to deliver better services to improve health 
outcomes for rough sleepers through our collaborative Homeless Health and Rough 
Sleeping Mental Health programmes, and we continue assisting vulnerable groups 
such as victims of domestic abuse through safe housing solutions. 

We cannot tackle these systemic challenges alone. This strategy outlines our 
approach to partnership, builds on past successes, and signals to all City of London 
residents, workers, businesses, and service users that we are committed to tackling 
new challenges and emerging needs. 

Eamonn Mullally, Common Councillor 
Chairman – Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee 

3 

Page 21



Contents 
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

6.1 

6.2 

6.3 

6.4 

Introduction 

Strategic Context 

Background 

Strategy Progress 

Developing this strategy 

Priorities 

Priority one: Providing rapid, 
effective and tailored interventions 

Priority two: Securing access to 
suitable and affordable accommodation 

Priority three: Working 
collaboratively 
Priority four: Supporting beyond 
accommodation 

Implementation 

5 

7 

9 

13 

14 

15 

15 

17 

19 

21 

23 

4 

Page 22



 
 
 

 

1Introduction
Homelessness is a crisis that can have 
a profound impact on the lives of 
those affected. Within the Square Mile, 
homelessness is most obviously seen 
on our streets, but it is an issue that is 
wider than rough sleeping – including 
those hidden from view who may sleep 
on a friend’s sofa, or those housed in 
accommodation which is unsafe or 
severely overcrowded. 

The groups most likely to experience 
homelessness are the most vulnerable 
in our society with related mental and 
physical health issues within single person 
households. However, anyone can 
experience homelessness and those 
who have been in care, experienced 
exclusion from school or college, 
experienced the criminal justice system, 
have a history of substance misuse, 
victims of domestic abuse and non-UK 
nationals are all over-represented within 
homelessness statistics. 

As well as these referenced groups, 
this strategy relates to those homeless 
whether they are individuals, couples, 
households with children or without. 

The City of London Corporation is 
committed to prevent or end the 
homelessness of those seeking our 
help. Whichever route brings people, 
families, or children into our services, we 
aim to act swiftly and effectively with 
compassion, fairness and respect. 

We spend more than £4 million each 
year to deliver the services, support and 
accommodation to prevent or resolve 
homelessness. This strategy provides 
the priorities to focus our delivery and 
investment going forward, to shape 
our services and to guide our decision 
making in order to deliver our vision, that: 

• homelessness is brief 
• it does not reoccur 
• its impact on the individual, families 

and children, and our communities is 
minimised 

• and it is prevented where possible. 

5 

Page 23



 

 

 

  

To secure this vision, we have identified 
four strategic priorities: 
1. Providing rapid, effective and tailored 

interventions to minimise the duration 
of homelessness, prevent the loss of 
accommodation and prevent the 
crisis of street homeless leading to the 
harm of long-term rough sleeping. 

2. Securing access to suitable and 
affordable accommodation by 
maximising access to a range of 
housing options, delivering more 
homes; providing supported specialist 
housing accommodation for those 
with support needs. 

3. Working collaboratively with other 
agencies including the voluntary 
and Business Improvement 
Districts to reach across traditional 
boundaries and support those facing 
homelessness or rough sleeping, 
and deliver a consistency of service 
across service and local authority 
boundaries. 

4. Supporting beyond accommodation 
to provide support alongside 
appropriate accommodation to 
secure better outcomes, enhance 
employability, support recovery and 
prevent repeat homelessness. 

These priorities provide the framework 
for our strategy to deliver better 
outcomes for individuals, and more 
efficient and effective services. They 
will be underpinned by a Five-Year 
Service Development Plan that will be 
continously refreshed, so that it remains 
responsive to political, policy and 
economic change. 

6 

Page 24



2Strategic Context
This strategy is shaped and responds 
to the drivers of national and regional 
policy, and the interface with a range 
of City Corporation strategies and 
responsibilities. 

National 

The UK Government sets the legislative 
framework for preventing and 
addressing homelessness. Since 2017 
the UK Government has acted to 
strengthen legislation, to shift the focus 
to prevention, and to reduce the barriers 
to help for specific groups such as those 
including children, who experience 
domestic violence and those who have 
served in the armed forces. Legislation 
gives local authorities the primary role in 
responding to homelessness. It is backed 
by significant funding in the form of a 
Homelessness Prevention Grant. 

The Government is also committed to 
end rough sleeping in this parliament. 
To meet this commitment, the 
Government has published a cross-
government strategy, Ending Rough 
Sleeping for Good which introduced 
several initiatives and funding so that 
local authorities, voluntary, faith and 
community sectors can intervene swiftly 
when someone is sleeping rough. 

These commitments include funding 
to local authorities in the form of the 
Rough Sleeping Initiative Grant, and 
programmes to increase the supply of 
supported accommodation. 

The Government has also expanded 
its Rough Sleeping Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Grant Programme, with the 
scheme providing funding for substance 
misuse treatment services for people 
sleeping rough or at risk of sleeping 
rough. 

7 

Page 25



 
 

 

 

Regional 

The Mayor of London has set out his 
vision and priorities for tackling the 
shortage of affordable housing across 
London, and its links to homelessness 
in his London Housing Strategy. The 
strategy highlights the importance of 
prevention and the need to address 
the root causes of homelessness to drive 
forward effective prevention work. 

He is committed to ending rough 
sleeping and has established the Life Off 
the Streets Executive Board – of which 
the City Corporation is a member – to 
work in partnership with organisations 
across London to monitor the 
effectiveness of interventions in tackling 
rough sleeping and identifying further 
interventions. 

Local 

The City of London Corporation is the 
governing body of the Square Mile, 
dedicated to vibrant and thriving City, 
supporting a diverse and sustainable 
London within a globally successful UK. 

Its Corporate Plan 2018-2023 seeks a 
flourishing society in which: 

• People are safe and feel safe 
• People enjoy good health and 

wellbeing 
• People have equal opportunities to 

enrich their lives and reach their full 
potential 

• Communities are cohesive and have 
the facilities they need 

This strategy supports the delivery of 
that plan, and both contributes to and 
is supported by the delivery of a range 
of strategies and plans including the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the 
Local Plan, the Safer City Partnership 
Strategy, the Violence against Women 
and Girls Strategy and the Department 
of Community and Children’s Services 
Business Plan. 

8 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

3Background
Homelessness describes a range of 
situations that include those described 
by legislation, and situations we might 
recognise as homelessness such as sofa 
surfing or in its worst form, rough sleeping. 

Government legislation describes a 
household as homelessness where: 

• they have no accommodation they 
are legally entitled to occupy, either 
in the UK or overseas 

• they have accommodation but 
cannot secure entry to it 

• they have accommodation designed 
or adapted to be lived in that consists 
of a ‘moveable structure’ (such as 
a caravan, mobile home, or canal 
boat) but they have nowhere to put it 

• they have accommodation but 
it is not reasonable or suitable to 
continue living there 

Somebody is threatened with 
homelessness if: 

• they are likely to become homeless 
within 28 days 

• they have been giving a valid notice 
(known as a Section 21 notice) to 
leave a property, and that notice will 
expire within 56 days 

Local authorities have a legal 
responsibility to support people and 
families who are threatened with 
homelessness or who are homeless. 
As well as the 1996 Housing Act, this 
strategy has also been informed by the 
following national legislation. 

• Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
• Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
• Armed Forces Act 2021 
• Children Act 1989 

9 

Page 27



These four Acts add to existing legislation 
and strengthen the response to tackling 
homelessness. They explicitly state that 
a person who is homeless as a result 
of being a victim of domestic abuse is 
classed as being in priority need, as well 
as those who previously served in the 
regular naval, military or air forces. 

The picture of statutory homelessness 
in London highlights the challenges 
local authorities in London are facing, 
with rising demand and cost for 
housing, temporary accommodation 
and homelessness and rough sleeping 
services. The average cost of privately 
rented accommodation has risen by 5% 
in the 12 months to May 2023 up from an 
increase of 5% in the 12 months to April 
2023. (Office for National Statistics, 2023). 

The average private rent in London was 
£2039 per month which is beyond the 
means of many families. This is also true 
of properties for purchase within London, 
particularly with higher mortgage 
borrowing rates and the price of housing 
means that secure home ownership is 
out of reach for many individuals and 
families within London, and places more 
pressure on the rental market, which has 
increased rent prices. This has placed 

acute stress on the budgets of many 
households within London and has 
increased the number of individuals or 
families presenting to us for homelessness 
assistance or tenancy and social housing 
support. 

Applications for homelessness in London 
have risen by 54% between 2013 and 
2023 and UK Government statistics show 
that in 2022, 59% of people in temporary 
accommodation across England were in 
London. 

The number of people seen sleeping 
rough in London is also increasing. In 
2023, the GLA reported that the number 
of people sleeping rough in London has 
increased by 9% compared with 2022. 
The figures show that 3,272 individuals 
were sleeping rough in the capital from 
April to June 2023, compared to 2,998 
individuals from April to June 2022. Of 
those 84% were male, and half were UK 
nationals. 

10 

Page 28



The City 

With London’s smallest population, the 
City Corporation deals with the lowest 
number of approaches for homeless 
assistance – having a duty to assist 29 
households in 2022/23 - and has the 
lowest number of households placed in 
temporary accommodation in London. 

With over 500,000 jobs supported within 
the Square Mile, it is unsurprising that the 
majority of those seeking homelessness 
advice, information and assessment 
are connected to the City Corporation 
through work. 

In 2022/23, 512 people approached the 
City Corporation for help because of the 
risk of experiencing homelessness – an 
increase of 16% on 20/22. In the same 
year, 129 households were placed into 
temporary accommodation over the 
course of the year – an increase of 20% 
on 2021/22. 

In 2022/23 outreach services recorded 
482 people sleeping on the streets of 
the Square Mile – the sixth highest level 
among London’s local authorities. Half 
of those sleeping rough were new to 
the streets – having no record of street 
homelessness anywhere in London. 

Among those homeless on the streets, 
38% had long-term histories of rough 
sleeping and 17% had returned to 
street homelessness. The profile of 
those sleeping rough in the Square Mile 
has moved towards a younger, more 
complex cohort with higher support 
needs. 

11 

Page 29



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our strengths 

• A commitment to deliver comprehensive services that has been backed by a 
significant growth in funding by the City Corporation 

• Quality services, co-located with social care, that deliver advice, guidance and 
assessment that is accessible through an inclusive range of channels 

• Spot purchasing of interim accommodation allowing us to search in or as close as we 
can to the areas where a homelessness applicant last resided to help maintain links 
with support networks and services where possible 

• Provision of specialist and enhanced services – such as a dedicated homelessness 
social work, enhanced tenancy sustainment and “Housing First” accommodation 

• Integrated and tailored response to street homelessness that goes beyond 
accommodation to support those who sleep rough to sustain a life away from the 
streets 

• The learning and success of our “everybody in” approach during the pandemic 
evolved into an “in for good” approach to prevent a return to the streets 

• Successfully securing external funding and partnerships to strengthen our approach 
and expand services 

• Committed partnerships with neighbouring local authorities, the City and Hackney 
Health and Care Board, City of London Police and the voluntary sector 

Our challenges 

• Housing insecurity and homelessness is increasing, and the wider economic context 
would suggest this will continue in the period ahead 

• Increasing demand places pressure on our services and budgets, and is increasing 
London-wide competition for - and the cost of - temporary accommodation 

• The diversity of need we respond to – including from those fleeing domestic violence, 
those from the LGBTQI+ community, those with uncertain migration status and youth 
homeless - is growing and more evident 

• Secure, affordable housing options are severely limited and constrain the timely 
move-on from our hostel and interim accommodation provision 

• Many of those homeless on our streets are very transient – moving across service 
boundaries and interrupting service interventions 

• Housing solutions are predominantly beyond the boundaries of the Square Mile and 
the statutory remit of our wider services 

• Access to primary care for those homeless on the streets is limited by location of 
provision 

• Some of those homeless on our streets can be associated with anti-social behaviour or 
other criminality – as victim or perpetrator – causing concern to those who live, work in 
or visit the City 

• Services that play a vital role in preventing homelessness and sustaining life away 
from the streets – including mental health services and voluntary sector services – are 
facing significant pressures 

12 

Page 30



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4Strategy Progress
Since the last Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy in 2019, the City 
Corporation has delivered new initiatives 
to tackle homelessness and rough 
sleeping. These include: 

• a pilot for a safe and secure 
accommodation project for women 
fleeing domestic abuse to help 
address violence against women and 
girls (VAWG) 

• a high support hostel to provide 29 
additional beds, securing a more 
effective response to rough sleeping 

• funding for a tri-borough “staging 
post” hostel for those street homeless 
to relieve pressure on assessment and 
emergency placements 

• a Rough Sleeping Mental Health 
Programme (RaMHP) in partnership 
with East London Foundation Trust 
(ELFT) 

• a Homeless Health Coordinator to 
deliver a dedicated work plan to 
improve the health of rough sleepers 

• a new partnership with Guy’s and St 
Thomas’ to provide clinical in-reach 
to Grange Road hostel 

• an extended substance misuse 
offer to those who have left 
street homelessness and been 
accommodated beyond the Square 
Mile 

• improved Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping web pages to provide 
enhanced information and advice 

13 

Page 31



5Developing this strategy
This strategy has been developed 
through consultation with key 
stakeholders, including those who have 
experienced homelessness and those 
who remain homeless in the City. 

This process has identified the four key 
priorities, set out in the section below. 
For each priority, we set out what the 
implementation of this strategy will 
achieve in addressing that priority, 
and what will be done to secure those 
achievements. 

14 

Page 32



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6Priorities
Priority one: Providing rapid, 
effective and tailored interventions 

By focusing on the prevention of 
homelessness before it occurs, we 
recognise that early interventions are 
important to minimising the duration and 
preventing homelessness. We believe 
that for this to be the most effective, 
these early interventions should be 
personalised to provide the most 
appropriate response in conjunction with 
the City of London Housing division. 

To deliver this priority, over the next four 
years we will focus on the following: 
• Improve access to rapid ‘off the 

street’ options for rough sleepers to 
end rough sleeping events quickly 

• Deliver a clear, consistent approach 
to protect those sleeping rough, our 
communities and our services from 
ASB and criminality ensuring our 
community feels safe for all 

• Strengthen our communication 
methods to improve referral 
pathways to local providers and 
outreach services 

• Embed co-production with people 
with lived experience of homelessness 
when designing or renewing services 

Key actions to deliver these include: 
• Open a new Rough Sleeping 

Assessment Centre in the Square Mile 
(under construction, due to complete 
in 2024) 

• Review and recommission our 
frontline outreach services that 
consider inclusion of best practice 
examples and input from those with 
lived experience of homelessness and 
or rough sleeping 

• Implement new Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocols (SWEP) so these 
interventions reach more people in 
an impactful way 

• Re-commission the City Advice 
Service so that all groups of people 
including residents and young people 
have access to accurate information 
and support. 

Some of our key measures of success on 
the delivery of these are: 
• Increase in the rate of homelessness 

preventions 
• Increase in referrals received under 

the Duty to Refer 
• Reduction in the number of 

individuals entering temporary 
accommodation 

• Reduction in the number of 
individuals sleeping rough during 
severe weather events 

• Enhanced information and advice 

15 

Page 33



16 

Case Study 
City of London Corporation Women’s Project 

The City of London Corporation opened its first dedicated women’s 
accommodation project in April 2023. The Domestic Abuse Act (2021) 
introduced new requirements for local housing authorities to have 
safe accommodation available to any applicant on approach where 
domestic abuse is the reason they have given for leaving their home. 

Recognising the national and regional shortage of affordable, suitable 
accommodation, the City Corporation commissioned an existing 
housing provider to refurbish six-bed housing in a London Borough. 
Security was upgraded and its location is kept confidential to protect 
anonymity of residents. To date, the City Corporation have placed six 
women using this project. 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Priority two: Securing access 
to suitable and affordable 
accommodation 

We recognise that access to suitable 
and affordable accommodation is 
central to promoting good health 
and wellbeing of our service users, 
as well as being a way off the streets 
for those rough sleeping. We believe 
that access to suitable and affordable 
accommodation needs to be 
appropriate to the level of need of the 
client and will help prevent homelessness 
occurring in the first place. 

To deliver this priority, over the next four 
years we will focus on the following: 
• Increase access to safe and suitable 

accommodation for those fleeing 
domestic abuse and violence against 
women and girls (VAWG) 

• Work to keep families and children 
near local services and schools 

• Minimise the use of inappropriate 
temporary accommodation 

• Improve options within the private 
rented sector to support move on 

• Reduce the number of rough sleepers 
returning to the streets 

Key actions to deliver these include: 
• Maximise our temporary 

accommodation offer by using 
targeted support, help with rent 
deposits and support to sustain long-
term tenancies 

• Create and implement a temporary 
accommodation framework 
for procurement of interim and 
emergency housing 

• Deliver new accommodation 
solutions, such as increases in the 
number of available hostel beds and 
access to social housing in the City of 
London 

• Expand the City of London’s Housing 
First offer to maximise the number of 
tenancies available to rough sleepers 

Some of our key measures of success on 
the delivery of these are: 
• Reduction in the number of 

households placed in temporary 
accommodation 

• Reduction in the length of stay in 
temporary accommodation 

• Increase in the number of properties 
available to individuals facing 
homelessness or that are rough 
sleeping 

• Number of commissioned and 
appropriate hostel beds increases 

17 

Page 35



18 

Case Study 
High Support Hostel 

The City of London Corporation and its commissioned partners 
conducted research to determine what additional projects could 
be introduced to have the highest impact in supporting those in our 
rough sleeping population who have the most complex needs. In 
November 2022, The City of London Corporation opened a 29-bed 
high support hostel. 

This new service occupies a site that was redeveloped from the 
ground up and designed with psychologically informed principles 
in mind. The project removes barriers between staff and residents 
and creates mixed areas for residents and staff to share time and 
participate in activities. 

Page 36



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Priority three: Working Key actions to deliver these include: 
collaboratively 

Homelessness and rough sleeping 
cannot be solved in silo. Working in 
partnership with multiple agencies that 
reach across traditional boundaries 
is key in supporting those facing 
homelessness or that are rough sleeping. 
By working in partnership with key 
services when developing or delivering 
the offer, services will be delivered 
consistently across service and local 
authority boundaries. 

To deliver this priority, over the next four 
years we will focus on the following: 
• Develop sub-regional and pan-

borough solutions to homelessness 
• Strengthen our engagement 

with health partners to improve 
interventions for the most vulnerable 

• Maximise the use of commissioned 
drug and alcohol services, City 
Advice and psychological services to 
prevent homelessness 

• Deliver an embedded multi-agency 
response to ASB and criminality 
to protect rough sleepers and our 
communities 

• Collaborate with Business 
Improvement Districts within the City 
of London to build on relations with 
the business community and improve 
the sharing of information with 
employers to tackle persistent issues. 

• Develop and implement a new Youth 
Homelessness Protocol to improve 
the holistic approach to supporting 
young people facing homelessness 

• Implement an improved pathway 
for non-UK nationals who have no 
recourse to public funds 

• Improve the safeguarding of 
vulnerable adults who are street 
homeless by developing solutions with 
the City and Hackney Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

• Amplify key messages through 
shared communication with Business 
Improvement Districts within the City 
of London 

• Maximise funding opportunities 
alongside Business Improvement 
Districts to increase the use of joint 
communication campaigns and 
related activity. 

Some of our key measures of success on 
the delivery of these are: 
• Increase in cross-sector buy-in to 

homelessness prevention within the 
Square Mile 

• Reduction in anti-social behaviour 
reported 

• Up take of commissioned services 
increases 

• Improved pathways for those who 
have no recourse to public funds 

19 

Page 37



20 

Case Study 
Health Community Wellbeing Van 

The City of London Corporation’s Health Community Wellbeing Van 
is a partnership between City and Hackney Public Health, North-East 
London Integrated Care Board and East London Foundation Trust. This 
weekly, GP-led service brings vital primary care interventions directly 
to rough sleepers found in the Square Mile. 

The service operates from a fully converted vehicle and was launched 
in February 2023. The van offers a private consultation space, storage 
for clinical equipment and signposting resources and facilities for 
making hot drinks. The van also delivers a range of health and 
wellbeing interventions to people experiencing homelessness and 
those who are less likely to access traditional healthcare sessions. 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Priority four: Support beyond 
accommodation 

We recognise that it is important to 
provide wrap around support alongside 
appropriate accommodation for those 
who are rough sleeping or facing 
homelessness to enable them to remain 
in long term accommodation and 
prevent a return to the streets. 
By providing wrap around support that 
is tailored to the needs of the individual, 
we aim to secure better outcomes, 
improve health and wellbeing, enhance 
employability and support recovery, all 
of which will reduce the likelihood of 
returning to the streets or homelessness 
occurring in the first place. 

To deliver this priority, over the next four 
years we will focus on the following: 
• Improve health and wellbeing 

outcomes among those facing 
homelessness or that are rough 
sleeping 

• Improve tenancy sustainment in the 
private rented sector so clients on the 
path to recovery remain housed 

• Improve the employability of former 
and current rough sleepers 

• Support service users with complex 
substance misuse needs to remain in 
long term accommodation 

• Strengthen feedback opportunities 
by giving service users a stronger 
voice to shape the services they use 

Key actions to deliver these include: 
• Reduce delays in hospital discharge 

by improving communication with 
hospital teams 

• Expand the support offer available to 
those with complex substance misuse 
needs by maximising the involvement 
of commissioned Pan-London services 

• Deliver a clinical space in the Square 
Mile to provide primary care for those 
sleeping rough 

• Encourage local businesses to 
employ and train those who have or 
who are experiencing homelessness 

Some of our key measures of success on 
the delivery of these include: 
• Reduction in the number of people 

sleeping rough 
• Reduction in the number of repeat 

rough sleepers 
• Reduction in delayed transfers of 

care 
• Increase in number of service users 

entering education, employment or 
training 

21 

Page 39



22 

Case Study 
Employment and Progression Service – ‘Streets to Work’ 

The first project of its kind in the City of London, ‘Streets to Work’ 
launched in February 2023. The project has a remit to work across all 
our cohorts – vulnerably housed social tenants, residents in supported 
accommodation and rough sleepers. 

The service offers individuals the opportunity to build up their skills 
through education, training and employment opportunities as well 
as through volunteering. The service offers a mix of one-to-one and 
group sessions held in the community or at a client’s accommodation. 
We expect to see the project work with a minimum of 40 people per 
year, with 15 of these gaining stable employment. 

Page 40



7Implementation
This strategy is delivered in the context 
of legislative change – particularly the 
Government’s commitment to fully 
embed the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 and its commitment to prevention, 
and the enactment of the Domestic 
Abuse Act 2021. 

It aligns with the Government’s strategy 
Ending Rough Sleeping for Good and 
with the City Corporation’s participation 
in the Mayor of London’s Life of the 
Streets Taskforce and its framework to 
address the wider determinants of rough 
sleeping with partners across the capital. 
In its delivery it supports the City 
Corporation to meet the objectives of its 
Corporate Plan and is supported by the 
delivery of the Housing Strategy, Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Safer 
City Partnership Strategy. 

The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy is agreed, renewed, and 
monitored by the City Corporation’s 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Sub-Committee. A detailed service 
development plan will support the 
delivery of this strategy and will be 
refreshed to reflect service demand and 
legislative change. 

23 

Page 41



24 

Page 42



Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping

Senior Tenancy 
Support Officer

Rough Sleeping 
Coordinator 

Head of Service

Pathway Coordinator

Pathway Liaison 
Officer

(Pathway)

Tenancy Support 
Officer

(Rough Sleeping)

Tenancy Support 
Officer

Tenancy Support 
Officer

Service Manager

(Rough Sleeping)

Team Support Officer

(Rough Sleeping) 

Rough Sleeping Social 
Worker

Team Support Officer

(Pathway)

Team Support Officer

(Statutory 
Homelessness)

Senior Housing Officer

Housing Officer Housing Officer 

Homeless Health 
Coordinator

Strengths Based 
Practitioner

Homelessness Triage 
Officer 

(Locum)

Pathway Liaison 
Officer 

(Rough Sleeping)

June 2025

Rough Sleeping 
Coordinator 

(RSPRG)

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 44



Appendix 3 

Homeless & Rough Sleeping Services 
Budget Allocation 2025/26 

Budget  

 
2025/26  

£'000   

Central Risk 
 

  

Employee expenses (962) 

Premises related expenses (55) 

Transport related expenses (3) 

  

Supplies and Services: 
 

• High Support Hostel (HSH) (700) 

• Rough Sleeping Prevention and Relief (RSPR) (1,374) 

• Outreach Contract (500) 

• Other Commissioned Services (49) 

• Security - Parkguard (35) 

• Legal costs (3) 

• St Mungos - Crimscott  (140) 

• The Lodge (150) 

• Rough Sleepers Assessment Centre (RSAC) (500) 

• Severe Weather Emergency Protocols (SWEP) (50) 

• Other Supplies and Services (64)  
(3,565)   

Third Party Payments: 
 

• Other Bodies (55) 

• Accommodation  (1,150) 

• Client subsistence & travel (10)  
(1,215)   

Total Expenditure (5,800)   
  

  

Page 45



Appendix 3 

Income 
 
Government Grants:                                                                                                                                   

  

• Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG) 179 

• Rough Sleeping Prevention and Relief Grant 
(RSPRG) 

1,374 

Rent Allowance     825 

Transfer from Reserves     834 

 
Total Income 3,212   

Total Central Risk (2,588) 

 

Page 46



City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee: 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee  
  
 

Dated: 
10/07/2025 

Subject:  
Co-production Project Progress Report 

Public report:  

For Information 
 

This proposal: 

• delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes 
 

Diverse Engagement 
Communities 
Proving Excellent Services 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N/A 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Yes 

Report of:  Judith Finlay, Executive 
Director of Community and 
Children’s Services 

Report author:  Kirsty Lowe, Rough 
Sleeping Services Manager 

Summary 

This progress report follows on from the previous co-production paper submitted to 
the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee in December 2024. The 
report provides a summary of the achievements of the co-production service over the 
last financial year, April 2024–March 2025, and the workplan for the current delivery 
year.   
 
Overall, the co-production service has achieved well against its aims, and the service 
has a clear 2025–2026 workplan to build on its current successes.  
 
The Rough Sleeping Prevention and Recovery Grant (RSPRG) funds the co-
production service until 31 March 2026. Once the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
& Local Government (MHCLG) notifies authorities of possible 2026–2027 grant 
funding, a decision will be made regarding future service delivery.   
 

  

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



Recommendation 

 
Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the report. 

Main Report 

Background 
 
1. In 2019, the Healthier City and Hackney Fund funded Groundswell, a leading 

homelessness advocacy organisation, to provide health assistance to City 
residents. The service was not able to fully deliver the work as intended, which 
resulted in an opportunity to repurpose an underspend of the budget elsewhere. 
  

2. In 2020–2021 the Rough Sleeping Team repurposed the underspend and worked 
with Groundswell and an independent researcher, Becky Rice, to carry out 
interviews with those who had slept rough in the City and who had recently been 
accommodated in the temporary City Assessment Service (CAS). CAS was 
commissioned in response to the Government’s ‘Everyone In’ approach to protect 
and preserve life due to the COVID-19 pandemic. All people who were met rough 
sleeping in the City were offered accommodation, predominately at CAS, which 
was the first emergency off the streets, rough sleeping accommodation within the 
Square Mile. In 2024, the permanent rough sleeping assessment service, Snow 
Hill Court opened. 

 

3. The aim of this piece of work was to hear from those with lived experience about 
why they had decided (many for the first time) to come in off the streets and 
engage with services such as CAS. Groundswell and Becky Rice produced the 
City Voices report, which sets out recommendations based on the wants and 
needs of the service user. The report went on to shape and guide decisions to 
commission the permanent assessment service, Snow Hill Court. 

 

4. In 2021, the findings of City Voices was shared with senior City officers and 
Members from the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee through a 
series of workshops facilitated by Groundswell. Members confirmed ongoing 
support of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Team’s ambition to work and 
commission services in a more co-produced way. 

 

5. Co-production is a way of working together to create positive change. Co-
production seeks to maximise the involvement of people who have experienced a 
problem or challenge in identifying and solving that problem. This might include 
designing, commissioning, delivering, improving, or evaluating services.  
 

6. 2022 marked the first year of the multi-year Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) grant 
funding. RSI funds enabled the City to commission a multi-year advocacy/co-
production service. Groundswell was awarded phase 1 of the three-year plan in 

Page 48



2022. This involved consultation of a broader group of services users, including 
those currently sleeping rough and those across the accommodation pathway. 

 

7. By 2023 the phase 1 consultation report was complete. It recommended that the 
City directly commission a co-production service. The contract was awarded to 
Mayday Trust and Groundswell. Mayday Trust later merged with Platfform who 
the lead commissioned provider of the City of London (CoL) Co-production 
Service are now. 

 

8. The co-production service delivered by Mayday Trust and Groundswell began in 
November 2023. The focus for the first six months was to recruit the team. The 
team was initially made up of four staff, which later increased to five staff 
members who deliver on three main areas: 

  
a) Advisory Group: Members are made up of diverse individuals with lived 

experience of homelessness and/or rough sleeping. Members are working 
with, or have previously worked with, City rough sleeping/homelessness 
services.  
 

b) Champions: Each rough sleeping and accommodation support service has a 
nominated champion. Professionals meet every month to discuss the 
importance of co-production, the ways in which their services deliver co-
production, and to highlight potential barriers to delivering co-production.  

 
c) Workshops/promotion: This group sets up and facilitates four co-production 

workshops attended by leaders and decision-makers from across the CoL and 
all homelessness commissioned organisations. The workshops are an 
opportunity to share good practice but also to agree next steps for how the 
City will commission and deliver co-produced homelessness services.  

 
 
Current Position 
 
9. The three-year RSI funding came to an end on 31 March 2025. CoL was notified 

by MHCLG of the one-year RSPRG in late December 2025 for this financial year 
(1 April 2025–31 March 2026). CoL confirmed continuation of funds for the co-
production service for a further year.  
 

10. The co-production service’s quarter four (Q4) contract monitoring meeting took 
place in May 2025 where annual achievements were discussed: 

 

a) Advisory Panel Members  
(i) A key performance indicator (KPI) was to recruit and maintain 

between five and eight panel members each quarter. The project 
was able to achieve an average of six members across the year.  

 
The members have all received one-to-one co-production and 
participation training and ongoing support and guidance from the 
Engagement and Support Coordinator (ESC). The ESC works in a 

Page 49



very person-centred way, focusing on the members’ individual 
needs and strengths. A recent example of this support is that one 
panel member is being supported by the Groundswell progression 
team to find employment opportunities. 

 
The group is diverse, with women and those from LGBTQ+ 
communities represented more recently. The women who joined the 
group have already helped the panel update the group agreement 
to better reflect the group’s diversity.  

 
(ii) A KPI was to host one Advisory Panel meeting a month. The project 

was able to exceed this, hosting 15 meetings in total with an 
average attendance of three members at each meeting. It has been 
steady progress for the project and the group, seeing attendance 
numbers peak in Q4, where the average attendance was six.  
 
In the later quarters the Advisory meetings focused on the Rough 
Sleeping Outreach Service as part of an Appreciative Inquiry 
approach. The group would get together to review progress made in 
the last Appreciative Inquiry and prepare for the next.  
 
Appreciative Inquiry is a positive approach to organisational change 
that focuses on emphasising positive idea generation, encouraging 
discussion, focusing on strengths and untapped potential. 
Appreciative Inquiry approaches typically undergo four stages, 
which is known as the 4D cycle of Discover, Dream, Design and 
Deliver.   
 
Further to this, the group is developing areas of interest and 
investigation of their own choice, including what ‘move on’ 
accommodation is available to clients after the supported 
accommodation pathway, and mapping street count and housing 
stock figures across the CoL. In March 2025, the group did a ‘deep 
dive’ into the process of contract tendering and planned service 
visits to help the group’s understanding of services, monitor their 
efficiency and develop useful knowledge for future employment. 

 
 

b) Champions 
(i) A KPI was to host one Champions meeting a month. The project 

slightly underachieved, however, delivering 10 meetings over the 
year, with an average attendance of five champions each meeting. 
 
Over the year, the Community Partner has worked hard to recruit 
champions through regular visits to services and team meetings. 
They have facilitated workshops attended by various presenters 
from across the partnership to present models of co-production, and 
to impart knowledge and skills in how best to deliver client 
participation, with varying success.   
 

Page 50



Future planning meetings are currently taking place with 
champions, managers and City officers, with the aim to structure 
future meetings in a way that enables particulate to fully engage 
and motivate champions to prioritise the work. 

 
(ii) A KPI to deliver one Learning Group or Appreciative Inquiry session 

a month. The service delivered eight sessions in total in 2024–2025 
and delivered a further two sessions this financial year to complete 
the Appreciative Inquiry. In this group, Advisory Panel members, 
City officers, champions and City Outreach workers came together 
as a wider working group to: share thoughts and ideas on what 
homeless provision worked well in the authority area; and set out 
what the future Rough Sleeping Outreach Team should look like for 
the second half of the year through the Appreciative Inquiry. All 
work from the Appreciative Inquiry will be written up in the coming 
months and will go on to shape the future tendering process for the 
new City Outreach Service. 

 
Engagement with the City Outreach Team has been a particularly 
valuable aspect of the Appreciative Inquiry approach. The service 
has commented that the Outreach Team’s contribution has 
deepened the co-production services’ understanding of existing 
operational realities and constraints. Their involvement has helped 
provide evidence of the impact of co-production, and in turn has 
supported stronger relationships across the two services. 

 
Feedback from the Advisory Panel: 

 
‘I really like seeing how our voices carry and are listened to, 
particularly meeting the decision-makers is impressive.’ 

 
‘Despite feeling apprehensive and anxious about joining the group 
and navigating the space, I always come away feeling relaxed, 
included and heard.’ 

 
‘I will take away an understanding of the dynamics and restraints 
behind commissioning services.’ 

 
‘I enjoy speaking to people who have empathy and knowledge.’ 

 
‘My highlight was hearing from the City officer who explained the 
commissioning cycle. In the future I want to go visit City officers and 
outreach in their place of work (Guildhall).’ 

 
c) Workshops/promotions 

(i) A KPI to host and facilitate four leadership events, which the service 
delivered by the end of the financial year. All sessions were well 
attended by senior figures from service providers, public health, 
CoL officers, CoL members and representatives from London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets and London Borough of Hackney. 

Page 51



 
The workshops were a mix of presentations from Platfform, 
focusing on the theme of power-sharing, but also the sessions 
explored practical steps to putting co-production into action. 
 
The service gathered feedback from participants, who reported how 
much attendees valued the opportunity to connect across roles and 
organisations, and particularly emphasised the importance of 
involving people with lived experience. The open discussions and 
range of perspectives were also appreciated, with many noting the 
strong commitment and engagement of those involved. 
 
The workshops have been a meaningful and energising part of the 
wider co-production journey – helping to build shared 
understanding, strengthen relationships, and inspire collaborative 
action.  
 

11. The table below sets out the outputs the co-production service will deliver this 
year.

Page 52



Outputs Learning that has led to this 

Advisory Panel 

o 10 Advisory Panel members 
 
o 12 monthly Advisory Panel meetings to gather and 

present feedback and insights, set priority areas, prepare 
for Appreciative Inquiries, and plan events 

 
o Training sessions and visits to services to develop 

knowledge and skills 
 

o Panel members receive one-to-one mentoring, 
progression support, reflective practice and attend extra 
participatory/team-building activities 

Ongoing recruitment through gradual relationship-building is 
time-consuming but more effective than recruitment drives. 
The Advisory Panel is engaged and confident, and monthly 
meetings are working well. 
The Advisory Panel has strong relationships within the co-
production project and desire to further develop skills and 
knowledge. We want to review how we can ‘give back’ and 
ensure that we are giving people opportunities to progress. 
 

Champions programme 

o Q1: Monthly meetings between champions, managers 
and City officers to understand barriers and challenges 
and explore remuneration, proposed solutions and agree 
on activities for Q2-4 

o Q2–4: Monthly Champion Forums focused on practice-
sharing and reflective learning  

o Agreed investment from CoL to support champion 
participation  

Champions haven’t yet had the chance to build relationships 
with City officers. We are proposing three joint meetings with 
champions, managers, and City officers to build trust and 
collaboration. 
It takes time for strong relationships to form between the project 
team, City officers, services, and the Advisory Panel. The 
service wants to create similar conditions for champions, 
recognising the time and care needed to build safety and shared 
understanding. 

Learning Groups (until May 2025) 

o Final Appreciative Inquiry Learning Groups in April and 
May 

o Co-produced set of recommendations for future 
commissioning of outreach service and a reflection 

This space has been valuable and has helped build strong 
relationships, but now the service is to shift focus into rough 
sleeping services, for the reasons outlined above.  

P
age 53



document evaluating the Appreciative Inquiry process in 
practice 

o Agreement on how to stay in touch in future, and on who 
will take forward actions 

Appreciative Inquiry in services 

o Appreciative Inquiry delivered in one or two frontline 
services (topics selected collaboratively by champions, 
Advisory Panel, and people using the service, co-
facilitated by champions and Advisory Panel members) 

o Training for champions on how to deliver Appreciative 
Inquiry in their service and sharing of system change 
resources 

o Facilitation training for champions and Advisory Panel 
members and project team 

o Write-up findings, key themes, and recommendations for 
next steps  

 

 
Groundwork needs to happen before any session can take place 
– building relationships, helping people feel safe, building trust 
and confidence. This includes individual preparation and support 
for Advisory Panel members.  
 
The service has tested some small community listening 
approaches and worked with individual services, but intends to 
formalise how they reach people with lived experience outside of 
the Advisory Panel (who are currently rough sleeping and/or 
can’t attend monthly meetings).  
 

Co-production events 

o Two events bringing together Advisory Panel, City 
officers, champions and local leaders – to be overseen by 
the Advisory Panel. Events to be held in September and 
February. 

The service wants to create opportunities for everyone to come 
together. The Advisory Panel is keen to meet, influence and 
learn from more stakeholders. 
 
 
 

Commissioner & Leader Working Groups  

P
age 54



o Two to four Commissioner & Leader Working Groups 
focused on reflection, learning, and action planning to 
embed co-production more deeply into commissioning 
practices and service design. These sessions will build on 
previous learning, offering space to revisit reflections and 
potentially co-create a Team Agreement. Two of these 
sessions will be held in person, with a focus on practical 
action planning. In addition, we can offer up to two online 
sessions to explore themes such as power and 
relationships, reflective practice, and strengths-based 
leadership – depending on interest from the group. The 
two action-focused sessions to be held in June and 
November to alternate with the co-production events to 
maintain momentum. 

 
o A cross-borough co-production meeting to agree 

approach moving forward. 

The service wants to build on the momentum from last year’s 
workshops with a focus on practical action planning. 
 
Attendees in the cross-borough meeting have said it is useful to 
meet colleagues. The service intends to meet with City officers 
and other attendees to agree next steps for the group. 

 

P
age 55



  
Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 
12. Strategic implications – none 

13. Financial implications – none 

14. Resource implications – none 

15. Legal implications – none 

16. Risk implications – none 

17. Equalities implications – none 

18. Climate implications – none 

19. Security implications – none 

Conclusion 
 
20. The co-production service has delivered well on most of its KPIs in 2025–2026 

and has set out a clear vision of what is achievable for the service this year.  
 

21. To date the project has: recruited and support an Advisory Group of people with 
lived experience; developed a Champions group of professionals working to 
deliver homelessness services; provided Learning Group and Appreciative 
Inquiry sessions for panel members, City officers, champions and outreach 
workers; facilitated four workshops, bringing together leaders in the City and the 
sector to commit to commission and deliver services in a more co-produced way.  
 

22. The ambition of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Team is to continue to 
develop services in this area through continued commissioning of the current 
service. 

 
 
Appendices 
 

• None 
 
Background Papers 
 

• Homelessness Rough Sleeping Co-production Programme – Introduction 
Report 09/12/2024 

 
Kirsty Lowe 
Rough Sleeping Services Manager 
Department of Community and Children’s Services 
 
T: 020 7332 3170 
E: kirsty.lowe@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 56

mailto:kirsty.lowe@cityoflondon.gov.uk


City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee: 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee 
 
 

Dated: 
10/07/2025 
 

Subject:  
Statutory Homelessness Service Development Plan 

Public report:  

For Information  
 

This proposal: 

• delivers Corporate Plan 2024–2029 outcomes 

Links to Corporate Plan 
outcomes 1, 2, 3, 4,10 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No  

If so, how much? NA 

What is the source of Funding? NA 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

NA 

Report of:  Judith Finlay – Executive 
Director, Community and 
Children’s Services 

Report author:  Will Norman – Head of 
Homelessness Prevention 
and Rough Sleeping 
 

 

Summary 

This report provides Members with an overview of the new Statutory Homelessness 
Service Delivery Plan (SDP). The plan was created as a response to 
recommendations made by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG) following their diagnostic visit on 21 January 2025. This iteration of the SDP 
covers the period 1 June 2025 to 31 March 2026.  

This report references the following priorities from the Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2023–2027: 

• Priority 1 – Providing rapid, effective and tailored interventions 

• Priority 2 – Securing access to suitable, affordable accommodation 

• Priority 3 – Achieving our goals through better collaboration and partnership 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the report 

Main Report 

Background 
 

1. Local authority statutory homelessness functions are regulated activities; 
however, no mandatory inspection framework exists where periodic review 
takes place.  
 

2. Approaches for homelessness advice and guidance have increased from 85 in 
2019/20 to more than 600 in 2024/25. The number of households placed in 
Temporary Accommodation (TA) in a year has increased from 68 in 2019/20 to 
164 in 2024/25. In the same period, the Statutory Homelessness Team has 
grown from two full-time Housing Officers, to three, plus a Triage Officer role. 
 

3. The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Service has adopted a commitment to 
continued learning. The Rough Sleeping Team, and how we commission the 
services we need to tackle rough sleeping, are currently under independent 
review for the second time in 10 years.  
 

4. MHCLG’s Homelessness Advice and Support Team (HAST) is the statutory 
equivalent to the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), which works with local 
authorities to help them deliver local, regional and national rough sleeping 
strategies. HAST offers a diagnostic visit, which may be requested by HAST or 
a local authority. The City of London requested a diagnostic visit from Hast in 
December 2024. The visit took place on 21 January 2025 and feedback was 
provided via an additional visit on 13 March 2025. 

 
Current Position 
 
HAST Diagnostic Visit 
 

5. Diagnostic visits do not form part of a mandatory inspection framework. The 
visit does not yield any overarching performance measure or standard rating. 
Diagnostic visits are either offered by HAST or requested by local authorities, 
which have no obligation to undertake them. Recommendations arising from 
the visits are advice only and there is no formal requirement to adopt 
recommendations. 

 
6.  HAST diagnostic visits use a 10-point framework: 

 
  

Page 58



i. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
Aim: An up-to-date strategy and live delivery plan in place that reflects 
the local priorities identified through the homelessness review, 
developed and delivered with key partners, setting ambitious targets to 
reduce homelessness and end rough sleeping. 
 

ii. Funding, Leadership and Corporate Support 
Aim: Strong corporate leadership to reduce homelessness, and support 
delivery of excellent homelessness services, including through effective 
use of homelessness funding.   
 

iii. Use of Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG) 
Aim: The HPG is used effectively to deliver on key priorities for funding: 
to embed the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA), prevent single 
homelessness and rough sleeping, reduce family homelessness and use 
of TA, and eliminate use of B&Bs for families. Additional HPG funding is 
directed at vulnerable renters and preventing evictions from the private 
rented sector. 
 

iv. Embedding the HRA and Preventing Homelessness 
Aim: Fully embedded legislation, with a strong prevention culture across 
homelessness services and partnerships. Customer experience informs 
development of the service. 
 

v. Staffing Structure and Service Delivery 
Aim: Service structure and staff numbers are right for delivering an 
accessible service, with manageable caseloads, well-trained and 
supported teams.  Face-to-face vs remote service delivery structured to 
meet need and provide the most positive customer experience. 
 

vi. Homelessness Case Level Collection (H-CLIC) and Performance 
Management  
Aim: H-CLIC data is accurately collected and reported to MHCLG, and is 
used locally to drive performance. 
 

vii. Access to Accommodation 
Aim: Access to all accommodation options are well managed according 
to customer need and availability of stock: through (HRA-compliant) 
Allocations Scheme, access to private rented sector and supported 
housing as appropriate; including for single people. Customers are well 
informed of their options and supported to access and sustain suitable 
accommodation. 
 

viii. Management of Temporary Accommodation (TA) 
Aim: Suitable and appropriate TA options provided with a strong focus 
on resettlement. Use of B&B is minimised, no unlawful use for families 
(six or more weeks). Households are not placed out of area where 
avoidable, and any out of area placements are in accordance with a 
published allocation policy. 
 

Page 59



ix. Preventing Single Homelessness and Ending Rough Sleeping 
Aim: Strong understanding of rough sleeping in the area and a public 
commitment to prevent and end it, through multi-agency collaboration 
and offers of accommodation and support. Ensuring that rough sleepers 
access the relief duty, have needs fully assessed and a Personalised 
Housing Plan in place. Awareness of local causes of single 
homelessness and rough sleeping and working to actively prevent it.   
 

x. Partnership Arrangements to Deliver 
Aim: Having strong partnerships and ownership of plans to prevent 
homelessness, including through effective delivery of the duty to refer.  

 
7. Three HAST officers attended the diagnostic visit on 21 January. MHCLG has 

access to extensive H-CLIC and Combined Homelessness and Information 
Network (CHAIN) data, meaning that a comprehensive data analysis had 
already been undertaken. During the day, the HAST Team met with the 
Statutory Homelessness Team, Judith Finlay (Executive Director, Community 
and Children’s Services), Eamonn Mullally (Chair, Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Sub-Committee), Martin Goodwin (Housing/Social Housing Register), 
Ian Tweedie (Head of Adult Social Care) and Jacqui McKeating (Benefits 
Manager). 

 
HAST Feedback 
 

8. At the feedback visit on 13 March, HAST provided a comprehensive 37-slide 
feedback presentation. Feedback included detailed data analysis, (limited) near 
neighbour comparison1 and a ‘deep dive’ into City-specific performance data. 
Five slides were dedicated to findings and recommendations. These can be 
found at Appendix 1.  
 

9. The feedback recognised areas of strength, as well as areas where our service 
delivery is less developed or where future evolution may be required. Some 
examples taken from Appendix 1 include: 
 

In relation to corporate context and strategy: 
 

• There is significant political oversight & support which has historically 

focussed on rough sleeping, but there has been more focus on statutory 

homelessness in the last few years as temporary accommodation 

placements have risen. 

• There is a clear commitment to support frontline homelessness services 

in regard to supporting the response to all types of homelessness. This 

includes offering a ‘gold standard’ service to care leavers. 

• A new Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy 2023/27 confirms this 

commitment and provides a statutory framework on which to deliver 

                                            
1 HAST uses a complex equation to help match the target local authority with two to four comparable 
local authorities. This exercise was hard to achieve for the City, with no viable matches. 

Page 60



services from. There is a very much a ‘golden thread’ that exists through 

the organisation.  

In relation to service delivery: 

• Review [private rented sector] PRS options with specific regard to 

reviewing existing schemes nationally and across London. This could 

also mean working with individual boroughs.  

• Consider team size when reviewing next steps in regard to increasing 

casework provision.  

• Excellent knowledge of homelessness & associate legislation and a 

practical understanding of how it [is] used on [a] day-to-day basis 

(specifically to note the ability to offer accommodation under a power).  

• Understanding of the current challenges specifically in regard to current 

temporary accommodation numbers and the need to be able to move 

homelessness prevention upstream and increase the use of the private 

rented accommodation for those applicants where this would provide a 

suitable & safe move on option.  

• Clear commitment by external partners that the aspirations to support 

rough sleepers is a shared responsibility. 

• Ensure enough time and commitment is given to strategic discussions 

with partners when reviewing the homelessness strategy actions and 

next steps. 

Service Development Plan 
 

10. The ‘potential next steps’ section for each thematic area (oversight, operational 
management, the frontline, partnership, cross-corporation support) have been 
drafted into an SDP with an initial lifespan of 2025–2026. This will be reviewed 
at year end and extended into 2026–2027 as necessary. A copy of the 2025–
2026 plan can be found at Appendix 2. 
 

11. The SDP has 14 actions. The potential next steps, or recommendations, are 
not mandatory and an initial review identified 19 recommendations that have 
not been adopted. Reasons for this were varied, but were most commonly 
related to work already underway in the department which covers the 
recommendation, or knowledge of evidence that exists which may have been 
missed by the HAST Team, therefore rendering the recommendation not 
applicable.  
 

12. Consideration was also given to capacity within the service to adopt each and 
every recommendation. Priority has been given to recommendations that are 
most likely to yield positive effects or strategic development required to match 
future demand. 
 

13. A number of actions in the cross-corporation theme involved the Housing Team. 
Officers have met to review these actions separately. Four actions relating to 
the Housing Register, social housing allocations and Annual Lettings Plan have 
been carried over into the SDP. 

Page 61



 

14. Of the 14 actions on the SDP, eight are now underway and proceeding without 
issues. The remaining six are yet to commence. 

 
Options 
 

15. There are no options for Members to consider. 
 
Proposals 
 

16. There are no proposals for Members to consider. 
 
Key Data 
 

17. Summary data is included within the body of the report. 
 

Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 

18. Financial implications – none 

19. Resource implications – none 

20. Legal implications – none 

21. Risk implications – none 

22. Equalities implications – none 

23. Climate implications – none 

24. Security implications – none 

Conclusion 
 

25. Statutory Homelessness Services are not subject to any mandatory inspection 
framework. The City of London invited the MHCLG’s HAST Team to undertake 
a diagnostic visit to gain a better understanding of the service’s strengths, 
weaknesses and resilience in meeting future demand. 
 

26. The visit took place on 21 January 2025, and feedback was provided on  
13 March 2025. There are no mandatory actions to complete, and the visit did 
not result in an overall rating. 
 

27. Feedback included a number of ‘potential next steps’, many of which have been 
carried over into an SDP to run until 31 March 2026. Any actions that cannot 
be complete in this time will be carried over into a supplementary plan for 
2026/27. 
 

28. The SDP has 14 actions, eight of which are already progressing. Four of the 
actions are shared with colleagues in Housing and will be addressed jointly. 

 
 
  

Page 62



Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – HAST Feedback (abbreviated) 

• Appendix 2 – Statutory Homelessness Service Development Plan 2025–2026 
 
Will Norman 
Head of Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping 
 
T: 020 7332 1994 
E: will.norman@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 63

mailto:will.norman@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Oversight

Corporate Context and Strategy 

• There is significant political oversight & support which has historically focussed on rough sleeping but there has been more focus on statutory homelessness in the last few 

years as temporary accommodation placements have risen.

• There is regular member scrutiny with performance reports on both rough sleeping and numbers in temporary accommodation

• There is a clear commitment to support frontline homelessness services in regard to supporting the response to all types of homelessness. This includes offering a ‘gold 

standard’ service to care leavers.

• A new Homelessness & Rough Sleeper Strategy 2023/27 (the Strategy) confirms these commitment and provides a statutory framework on which to deliver services from. 

There is a very much a ‘golden thread’ that exists from through the organisation. 

• The Strategy confirms the response to ‘all’ types of homelessness including those at risk of losing their homes and those in vulnerable housing situations. It clearly links 

homelessness, health & wellbeing and understands that a tailored approach is required to deliver effective and life changing services. 

• The Strategy confirms the commitment to learn through lived experience and the Corporation’s role of leadership in a community where there is responsibility to help those 

who are more vulnerable than others. 

• A Strategy Delivery Plan is in place and is monitored through a Sub-Committee that meets every 2/3 months and includes updates on the individual strategy workstreams. 

Potential next steps

• There is a real opportunity to share learning & best practice and by doing has the 

potential of promoting upstream homeless prevention across London & England. 

• Evidence who your rough sleepers are, why they are rough sleeping and the 

geographical area that they have come from with the aim of sharing this information 

regionally to promote interventions that could reduce future rough sleepers by 

supporting them at an earlier stage (includes challenges from NRPF)

• Publish a yearly progress report that breakdowns whole numbers of homelessness 

demand and sets a clear picture of the pressures that the Corporation is facing.

• Evidence reasons for homelessness from those residents at risk of losing their home 

with the aim of reviewing how future targeted intervention work could support these 

residents at earlier stage going forward. 

• Link health & wellbeing needs to demand and evidence the interventions/support 

that were needed to support this demand

• Evidence how service delivery or strategic thinking has changed because of lived 

experience learning 

P
age 65



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Operational Management

Service delivery

• A clear understanding of the link between strategic ambitions and frontline service delivery

• Excellent knowledge of homelessness & associate legislation and a practical understanding of how it used on day-to-day basis (specifically to note the ability to offer 

accommodation under a power) 

• Understanding of the current challenges specifically in regard to current temporary accommodation numbers and the need to be able to move homelessness prevention 

upstream and increase the use of the private rented accommodation for those applicants where this would provide a suitable & safe move on option. 

• Positive recognition that investment in officers (training, office culture, career progression) creates a knowledgeable workforce that seeks to offer a holistic service to residents 

and by doing so improves the outcomes for both the resident and the organisation as a whole. 

• Positive understanding that a variety of different housing solutions are needed depending on the needs of the applicants. This includes access to social housing were 

appropriate and investment into PRS access. 

• Clear picture given of how the service operates on a daily basis broken down into the customer journey and how the front door operates. Clear processes identified in how a 

customer is triaged and allocated to officers.

• Understanding of current caseloads per officer (currently running at 20/25 per officer) and linked temporary accommodation placements 

Potential next steps

• Review of Personal Housing Plans for all approved applicants in TA (21 out of 32 

current placements) with a view of confirming the move-on option for each applicant. 

Potentially seek to make more social housing offers to reduce overall TA numbers.

• Review the very low numbers of rough sleepers going through the statutory 

homeless route (regardless of whether they go into temporary accommodation) to 

ensure that City is meeting all of its statutory obligations under homelessness 

legislation. 

• Review the triage calls to ensure that all applicants that are meeting the threshold for 

an assessment of their circumstances & needs (the first HCLIC trigger) are having 

that assessment carried out. 

• Review PRS options with specific regard to reviewing existing schemes nationally 

and across London. This could also mean working with individual boroughs. 

• Consider formal management and officer training through accredited management 

courses and housing qualifications. 

• Consider team size when reviewing next steps in regard to increasing casework 

provision. 

P
age 66



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

The Front Line

Service delivery

• Clear link identified by officers to support the strategic ambitions of the Corporation and the understanding how it was being monitored and reported on. 

• Officers are also responsible for project areas (rough sleeping, MARAC, MAPPA, DA etc…) which is in addition to casework duties (which is further broken down into specific 

workstream duties). This is positive as it enables a good understanding of how services deliver together (and the individual’s role in that) but comes with a risk of being able to 

time manage effectively and be able to perform well in all areas. 

• Good teamwork identified through case management meetings which provides an opportunity to discuss and work through solutions. 

• Officers continue to ‘own’ cases until final discharge and this has ensured that PHP’s continue to be updated throughout the applicant’s journey through the service. Officers’ 

therefore have a mixture of cases in each of the homelessness stages.

• Excellent understanding of homelessness & associate legislation and a practical understanding of how it used on day-to-day basis. Practical examples given on day of visit that 

shows confidence in legislation interpretation. 

• Officer learning & development at present is led individually by officers.

• There is a good understanding of workload pressures and an open environment in which that can be talked about. This should be regularly reviewed 

Potential next steps

• Review the triage process to ensure that all applicants that are meeting the threshold 

for an assessment of their circumstances & needs (the first HCLIC trigger) are 

having that assessment carried out (for example there is no need for an applicant to 

provide documentation in order for an assessment to be carried out). 

• Review cases currently going straight into a relief duty. If family/friends eviction or 

end of PRS (and PO has not already expired) then a prevention duty is likely owed in 

the first instance. 

• Make sure that expired relief cases (where a main duty is owed) are completed 

shortly after 56 days unless a housing option is imminent 

• Consider pulling housing allocations & HB into the bi-weekly casework meetings 

when necessary to discuss move-on or prevention options. 

• Create personal development plans for all officers (including managers) to ensure 

relevant training & qualifications are identified 

• Keep under review all project areas to ensure capacity within officer workloads and 

share best practice/swap projects to ensure multi-skilled officer base.

P
age 67



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Partnership

Service delivery

• Meetings with internal partners - Housing Benefit, Social Services, Housing Allocations

• Meetings with external partners – Providence Row, St Mungos & Thames Reach

• Clear commitment by external partners that the aspirations to support rough sleepers is a shared responsibility

• Good understanding of the homelessness service identified across all partners including the current challenges and service aspirations. 

• A number of examples of good practice including a social worker based in the housing options team, flexible use of DHP, care leaver offer 

• Operational links between services clear and known to officer level

• Regular operational meetings have ensured that shared pressures are identified and joint solutions considered/acted upon. 

• In regard to housing allocations more partnership work is recommended to review direct offers to households in temporary accommodation, void relet times and the priority given 

to other homeless households in order to prevent homelessness. 

Potential next steps

• Assure the Corporation that void relet times are solely due to major repairs and not 

difficulties with existing working practices. 

• Consider introducing a yearly annual lettings plan which forecasts the lettings for the 

coming financial year and allocates them between competing housing demand 

groups

• Review the homelessness prevention work carried out by the allocations team to 

understand whether there is duplication with a view to a closer working relationship

• Evidence learning & changes in practice from lived experience with all partners 

• Ensure enough time and commitment is given to strategic discussions with partners 

when reviewing the homelessness strategy actions and next steps.

• Ensure housing allocation policy meets current legal requirements especially in 

regard to the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

• Support the allocations team to ensure their IT systems are fit for purpose which 

should then include auto-bidding and auto re-registration 

P
age 68



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Cross corporation support 

Service delivery

Potential cross-Corporation actions

• Consider purchase / or repurposing of existing socially owned stock for both self contained and shared temporary accommodation. This 

includes reviewing existing sheltered accommodation. 

• Combine housing register / housing needs service to remove duplication and make best use of existing resources. 

• Ensure the best use of existing social housing 

• As part of stock survey work review & visit of all properties to determine housing need of current tenant

• Active downsizer & under-occupation scheme

• Be able to identify & work with overcrowded households at a much earlier stage to reduce future homeless approaches from family 

members. 

• Active reciprocal programme with other LA’s (London & nationally) when a DA or gangs move is needed. 

• Ensure strategic approach to development work both inside and outside of the Corporation boundaries 

• Ensure homelessness data is included with housing register data when determining need 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 70



Number HAST Ref. HAST Recommendation Adopt Action Lead officer When by Evidence RAG

1 1.2
Publish a yearly progress report that breakdowns whole numbers of 
homelessness demand and sets a clear picture of the pressures that 
the Corporation is facing. Yes

Track on 
spreadsheet or 
through Jigsaw WN 31/03/2026

Subcommittee 
report scheduled 
for Q1-Q2 Not started

2 1.4

Evidence who your rough sleepers are, why they are rough sleeping 
and the geographical area that they have come from with the aim of 
sharing this information regionally to promote interventions that 
could reduce future rough sleepers by supporting them at an earlier 
stage (includes challenges from NRPF) Yes

Rough sleeping 
team to track KL 31/12/2025

Include in annual 
data review 
Subcommittee 
report for Q2 Not started

3 1.5

Evidence reasons for homelessness from those residents at risk of 
losing their home with the aim of reviewing how future targeted 
intervention work could support these residents at earlier stage going 
forward. Yes

Track on 
spreadsheet or 
through Jigsaw SCol 31/07/2025

Data report in 
Jigsaw Not started

4 1.6
Evidence how service delivery or strategic thinking has changed 
because of lived experience learning Yes

Service user 
feedback loop SCol 31/12/2025 Jigsaw report Not started

5 2.2
Review the triage calls to ensure that all applicants that are meeting 
the threshold for an assessment of their circumstances & needs (the 
first HCLIC trigger) are having that assessment carried out. Yes

Call notes 
recorded on Jigsaw 
need to be 
routinely checked SCol 31/07/2025

Call notes/stored 
call recordings Ongoing - no issues

6 2.3
Consider formal management and officer training through accredited 
management courses and housing qualifications. Yes

Push through 
WFDB WN/ZD 31/03/2026

Training logs and 
WFDB minutes Ongoing - no issues

7 2.5
Review PRS options with specific regard to reviewing existing 
schemes nationally and across London. This could also mean working 
with individual boroughs. Yes

Already started - 
LBTH etc WN 31/03/2026 PRS scheme Ongoing - no issues

8 2.6
Consider team size when reviewing next steps in regard to increasing 
casework provision. Yes Underway WN 31/03/2026

Team size and 
structure Ongoing - no issues

9 3.3 Create personal development plans for all officers (including 
managers) to ensure relevant training & qualifications are identified Yes

Dedicated learning 
and training offer 
through WFDB WN/SCol/ZD 31/03/2026

People training 
offer updated Not started

10 3.4
Review cases currently going straight into a relief duty. If 
family/friends eviction or end of PRS (and PO has not already expired) 
then a prevention duty is likely owed in the first instance. Yes

Minor evolution of 
practice SCol 31/03/2026

11 4.2
Review the homelessness prevention work carried out by the 
allocations team to understand whether there is duplication with a 
view to a closer working relationship Yes

Explore possibility 
of regular meeting 
and data sharing MG/WN 30/09/2025 TBC Ongoing - no issues

12 4.4
Consider introducing a yearly annual lettings plan which forecasts the 
lettings for the coming financial year and allocates them between 
competing housing demand groups Yes

WN to be included 
in annual lettings 
plan LG/WN 31/03/2026

Annual lettings 
plan Ongoing - no issues

13 5.1
Consider purchase / or repurposing of existing socially owned stock 
for both self contained and shared temporary accommodation. This 
includes reviewing existing sheltered accommodation. Yes

Pick up through 
asset management 
strategy (Housing) LG/WN 31/03/2026

Asset Management 
Strategy Ongoing - no issues

14 5.9 Ensure homelessness data is included with housing register data 
when determining need Yes

WN to be included 
in annual lettings 
plan LG/WN 31/03/2025

Annual lettings 
plan Ongoing - no issues

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 72



City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee(s): 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Subcommittee 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Dated: 
10/07/2025 

11/07/2025 

Subject:  
 
Meeting Health Needs for People Rough Sleeping in the 
City of London 

Public report:  

For Information 
 

This proposal: 

● delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes 

the strategic implications section] 

Corporate Plan Outcomes: 
● Diverse Engaged 

Communities 
● Providing Excellent 

Services 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  Judith Finlay 

Report authors:  
 
 
 

Will Norman, Head of 
Homelessness, Prevention 
& Rough Sleeping 

Nana Choak, Homelessness 
Health Coordinator 

Andrew Trathen, Consultant 
in Public Health 

Cindy Fischer, Senior 
Manager, Unplanned Care 
NHS North East London 

Dr Padma Wignesvaran 
Clinical Director – Homeless 
& Inclusion Heal, 
Greenhouse Practice 

Summary 

This paper presents an overview of support offered across the City of London to 

address the health needs of the rough sleeping population, both in the context of local 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



services and wider policy developments at the North East London level. It outlines 

some of the challenges that rough sleepers face in accessing services and changes 

underway in the ICB designed to address them. 

 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 

 

● Note the report. 

Main Report 

Background 

1. People experiencing homelessness in London often also experience significant 

health inequalities driven by overlapping social determinants such as poverty, 

unstable housing, substance use, and mental health issues. These challenges 

create compounded healthcare needs, generally known under the umbrella 

term of "tri morbidity," which includes physical illness, mental health challenges, 

and both illicit substance and alcohol use. Key examples include: 

● early-onset geriatric conditions: homeless individuals in their 50s often 

display health profiles akin to housed individuals in their 70s or 80s, 

suffering from frailty, chronic diseases, and cognitive decline. 

● unplanned hospital admission: homeless populations are disproportionately 

admitted to hospitals for preventable conditions, with extended stays due to 

discharge complexities. 

● mortality rates1: homeless men and women have average life expectancies 

of 45 and 43 years, respectively, compared to 76 years for the general 

population. 

2. The sole GP practice within the Square Mile is the Neaman Practice, which 

primarily serves the residential population. Where registered with a GP, City of 

London rough sleepers are generally registered with practices like the 

Greenhouse Surgery (Hackney), Health E1 (Tower Hamlets), and the Dr Hickey 

Surgery (Westminster). These surgeries are located outside the City of London 

and for reasons of distance, complex needs and chaotic lifestyles, can be 

challenging for rough sleepers to access. Current practice is to signpost new 

and/or unregistered rough sleepers encountered in the Square Mile to the 

Greenhouse Surgery. 

 

                                                 
1 Causes of death among homeless people: a population-based cross-sectional study of linked hospitalisation and 

mortality data in England - PubMed, crisis_homelessness_kills_es2012.pdf 

Page 74

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30984881/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30984881/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/236799/crisis_homelessness_kills_es2012.pdf


3. Mobile healthcare models aim to reduce barriers that prevent rough sleepers 

from accessing traditional healthcare settings. By delivering care directly to 

underserved locations, mobile units provide both physical healthcare and 

welfare support such as food, clothing, and hygiene products. 

Current Situation 

4. Our primary data source for rough sleepers is the Combined Homelessness 

Information Network (CHAIN). This database is commissioned by the Greater 

London Authority (GLA) and managed by Homeless Link. People are counted 

as having been seen rough sleeping if they have been encountered by a 

commissioned outreach worker bedded down on the street, or in other open 

spaces or locations not designed for habitation, such as doorways, stairwells, 

parks or derelict buildings. The report does not include people from “hidden 

homeless” groups such as those “sofa surfing” or living in squats, unless they 

have also been seen bedded down in one of the settings outlined above. 

5. This means that although the intelligence from this database is informative, it is 

difficult to draw definitive conclusions as not all individuals will be captured, and 

there may be inconsistency in obtaining and recording information during these 

encounters. 

6. Between 2020 and 2024, CHAIN data indicate that 1,523 unique individuals 

were recorded rough sleeping in the Square Mile, with 656 of those seen in 

2023/24 alone (data for 2024/25 has not yet been published). 

7. Of the 1,523 unique individuals, only 477 have accurate support needs 

recorded on the database. Among them, 10% (47) reported disabilities, 119 

had medium or high physical health needs, and 194 had medium or high mental 

health needs. Additionally, 38 had medium or high needs across all areas, while 

187 (40%) had medium or high needs in three areas. 

8. Despite the significant levels of need, barriers like mistrust, mobility, and 

eligibility concerns often prevent people from engaging with traditional 

healthcare services. This has led to the development of an outreach offer. This 

has recently been facilitated by the Community Wellbeing Team (CWT), a 

mobile unit capable of supporting a range of logistical needs that allow us to 

tackle these barriers and connect people with the healthcare system. 

 

Community Wellbeing Team 

9. The City of London has deployed mobile health delivery to help address the 

challenges in accessing care that are rough sleeping. 

The aims are to: 

Page 75



● Improve health outcomes: address the specific health challenges faced by 

the homeless population by delivering targeted and effective primary care. 

● Increase access to health care: overcome barriers such as mobility, digital 

exclusion, or distrust of traditional healthcare systems by bringing care 

directly to individuals in need. 

● Address wider needs: provide holistic support that goes beyond health, by 

recognising and responding to the interconnected challenges of 

homelessness, health, immigration, and many others. 

10. The Community Wellbeing Team has four members and uses mobile outreach 

vehicles to support people in City and Hackney. The team uses flexible 

outreach methods to engage vulnerable residents and provide support, advice, 

and harm reduction resources to people who are experiencing homelessness 

and who use substances problematically. 

 

11. Since February 2023, the CWT has operated in the City of London on 

Wednesdays from 0900 - 1200. CWT work with the Greenhouse to provide a 

space which offers basic health checks to people rough sleeping. Health checks 

typically include blood pressure, wound inspection, prescriptions, GP 

registrations and questions around general wellbeing and mental health. 

Turning Point also offers drug and alcohol support with a non-medical 

prescriber.  

 

12. The service currently operates at Puddle Dock, Baynard Castle, which is 

identified as a high-impact rough sleeping area by City of London Joint Working 

Group Meeting. On-the-ground intel is provided by the City outreach team 

provided by Thames Reach and the City Navigator Team provided by St 

Mungos. 

 

13. Depending on the need, the service has previously rotated between Monument, 

Peninsular House, White Hart Court, and Moorgate or adopted a targeted 

roving model with Turning Point offering Opiate Substitution Therapy (OST) 

restarts to rough sleepers. 

 

14. CWT also supports Guy's and St Thomas Health Inclusion nurse (HIT), which 

is funded by the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Team at City of London, 

by providing the trailer outside Snow Hill Court because the building does not 

have a clinical space. The HIT service runs from 1000 - 1400 on Mondays to 

provide access to primary care, which includes full health assessments, blood 

tests, prescriptions, vaccinations, screenings, wound care, frailty assessments, 

and referrals into secondary care to residents in the assessment centre. They 

Page 76



are joined by Hackney Harm Reduction Hub who do outreach across the City 

offering harm minimisation and BBV testing. 

 

15. Aside from the core offer, the team have also worked with the smoking 

cessation service, Open Doors, Praxis, Groundswell, Hep C Trust, and Barts 

Liver Van. These services have joined in addition to the GP and Non-Medical 

Prescriber (NMP). 

 

Challenges 

16. The service in the City of London faces many challenges specific to the locality. 

Despite the relatively small geographical area, individuals are reluctant to walk 

short distances to engage with the services offered. There appear to be several 

reasons for this that the team has recorded anecdotally, including not wanting 

to leave a begging spot or sleep spot. The time of day has been noted as a 

possible boundary to engagement because it coincides with the morning 

commuter rush. Discussions are ongoing around deploying at different times 

however, service resources are limited, and The Greenhouse is unavailable 

outside of normal working hours of 8am to 6.30pm. 

 

17. The CWT’s mobile health delivery model is wellbeing focussed and equipped 

with a private consultation room. However, it does not offer a full clinical space 

specified with the necessary supporting equipment such as printers. Therefore, 

clients need to travel to the Greenhouse or another physical premises for 

access to primary care, follow up treatment, consultation and other clinical 

interventions. 

 

18. Recruitment and retention of suitable clinical staff has been challenging due to 

shift requirements and working practices. 

 

19. While there are obvious benefits to mobile delivery models – targeting specific 

groups or locations for example, lacking a fixed location misses a potential 

opportunity to establish a consistent and predictable service offer. 

 

Greenhouse and Other Health Partners 

 

20. The Greenhouse Practice provides care to people living in hostels or supported 

accommodation, rough sleepers, and people who spend a significant amount 

of time on the street or in other public places in the London borough of City and 

Hackney. The mission of the practice is to improve access to good health care 

for vulnerable people. The service is part of the East London Foundation Trust 

(ELFT) 

 

Page 77



21. The clinic is based in Hackney and shares a building with the Hackney Housing 

team who provide housing support for single homeless people in Hackney. 

 

22. The Greenhouse clinic provides the following services: 

● GP 

● Nurse 

● Health Care Assistant (HCA) 

● Health and wellbeing coach 

● Social prescriber 

● Citizens advice legal advisor 

23. The Greenhouse team also work with other health professionals and teams to 

provide a range of services inhouse including: 

● Podiatry 

● Diabetic nurse specialist 

● First Contact Physiotherapy 

● Hep C Trust 

24. There are a range of challenges which limit Greenhouse in terms of the scope 

of provision. The practice only has three clinical rooms available, which 

constrains the number of services the team would ideally wish to provide. 

Funding is available for a single full time GP, which has remained constant 

despite increases in patient registrations. The location of the site is outside of 

the City, and this can mean patients do not access all of the support that 

Greenhouse may be able to offer them. 

 

25. During COVID, ELFT were commissioned to provide outreach to the homeless 

population in hotels. In 2022 outreach services were combined with 

Greenhouse to provide outreach into these hotels and the ‘Change Please’ 

homeless bus. This contract drew to a close in 2024 and was extended into 

2025 and is currently under review. City of London has not used the ‘Change 

Please’ element of the contract since October 2022. Clinical capacity was 

redirected towards the City Assessment Service which was initially located at 

the Youth Hostel Association site on Carter Lane and then later at the City Inn 

Express on Mare St in Hackney. 

 

26. The team currently provides outreach care into Snow Hill Court Assessment 

Centre and supports the City Outreach Team. Outreach is only available during 

opening hours of Greenhouse, 8am to 6.30pm. 

27. Two GP outreach sessions are spent in the City of London. Working closely 

with the City Outreach Team (Thames Reach) and other stakeholders, the 

outreach offer has been developed specifically to support the needs of City 

Clients: 

Page 78



● Currently on Wednesday mornings we have a GP working with a health 

advocate from Groundswell doing street outreach with City Outreach to 

target patients of concern. 

● The GP is then based on the Community wellbeing van to provide 

services in a fixed place with Turning point. The GP then provides in-

reach into Snow Hill Court. 

 

28. The Greenhouse team works closely with City Outreach, Navigators, RAMHP, 

Turning point and the Pathway team to provide targeted support for vulnerable 

clients. 

 

29. The City of London have dedicated Social Worker and Strength Based 

Practitioner roles integrated into the Rough Sleeping Team. These roles work 

closely with outreach services and the Snow Hill Court Assessment Centre to 

enable greater equity of access to Care Act assessments and general 

coordination of social care interventions. Access to underserved groups such 

as rough sleepers at larger encampments can be safely facilitated through the 

CWT. 

 

30. The outreach work is currently out of contract, and the future of the service 

alongside any developments will be part of wider planning and negotiations at 

the NEL ICB level. 

 

 

ICB Perspective 

31. East London NHS Foundation Trust has been providing the outreach service 

since May 2020 in City and Hackney. This has been over and above the service 

delivered through their homeless practice (the Greenhouse). The population in 

scope has extended to include a large refugee and asylum seeker population 

(though this is less an issue for the City of London), and a growing street 

homeless population in the City.  

 

32. The Alternative Provider Medical Services (APMS) inclusion practice contract 

with the Greenhouse also contains an element of outreach activities in addition 

to the services offered at the practice site. 

33. Over time, the Greenhouse has flexed the delivery model in terms of allocation 

of clinical resources, time, and locations visited, and this has evolved since the 

service commenced and is in response to changing needs. 

 

34. The ICB has developed a NEL Homeless Health Strategy which was approved 

in May 2025. Development of the strategy and engagement with system 

partners has highlighted that limited or inconsistent outreach services can 

further exacerbate health inequalities in the homeless population. Therefore, 

Page 79



developing NEL principles for outreach services for people experiencing 

homelessness is an agreed action within pillar 2 of the strategy. This is a 

complex piece of work, and it is important to continue service provision while 

this is developed. 

35. The proposal is to commission interim outreach services to cover gaps in City 

and Hackney, Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest while a NEL wide 

service is developed. These interim arrangements will build on services 

provided by existing providers and ensure that current levels of service are 

maintained to ensure continuity of care. 

 

36. The ICB is working with the East London Foundation Trust to finalise 

arrangements for interim outreach services for 2025-26. There will be the option 

to extend by a further 6 months if required to ensure that there is continuity of 

service to homeless patients. 

37. Having these interim arrangements in place will give us time to move to the 

NEL wide service once the model has been finalised which will lead to a more 

equitable service provision across NEL.  

 

 

Options 

 

38. None 

 

Proposals 

 

39. None 

 

Key Data 

 

40. As per main report 

 

 

 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

 

Financial implications 

None 

Resource implications 

None 

Legal implications 

None 

Page 80



Risk implications 

None 

Equalities implications  

None to consider at this stage 

Climate implications 

None 

Security implications 

None 

 

Conclusion 

 

41. People rough sleeping in the City face a range of barriers to accessing care, 

against a background of high levels of need for their physical and mental health. 

There are numerous reasons that individuals may not visit a GP including 

geography, anxiety about leaving a specific location, mistrust of services, 

negative previous experiences, concerns about eligibility and more. 

 

42. A key element in our response to these issues comes from outreach provided 

by the CWT, the Greenhouse and other ELFT services. Bringing services to 

people where they are at aims to connect individuals with the services they 

need and also aims to build better relationships between clients and 

professionals. 

 

43. The benefits of this approach are recognised in the new NEL homeless health 

strategy. Work is now underway to improve both core primary care provision 

and outreach coverage across the region, with suitable stakeholder 

engagement to ensure the unique needs in the City are met. 

 

Appendices 

 

• Appendix 1 – NEL Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

 

 

Andrew Trathen 

Consultant in Public Health, City and Hackney Public Health 

E: andrew.trathen@cityandhackneyph.hackney.gov.uk 

 

Will Norman 

Head of Homelessness, Prevention & Rough Sleeping 

T: 0207 3321994 

E: will.norman@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 81

mailto:andrew.trathen@cityandhackneyph.hackney.gov.uk
mailto:will.norman@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

Nana Choak 

Homeless Health Coordinator 

T:  020 3834 7564 

E: nana.choak@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Cindy Fischer 

Senior Manager, Unplanned Care – NEL Health and Care Partnership 

E: cindy.fischer@nhs.net  

 

Dr Padma Wignesvaran 
Clinical Director - Homeless and Inclusion Health, Greenhouse Practice 
E: padma.wignesvaran@nhs.net 

 

Page 82

mailto:nana.choak@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:cindy.fischer@nhs.net
mailto:padma.wignesvaran@nhs.net


 

 

 
 
 

 

  

 NEL Homeless Health Strategy – 
Case for Change 
 
Full report of evidence, analysis and 
insights informing the 2025 – 2030 
strategy 

Page 83



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

2 

Contents 
 
 
 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Defining homelessness ................................................................................................................ 6 

Scope of the NEL Homeless Health Strategy ............................................................................. 6 

The case for change ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Co-designing the strategy .......................................................................................................... 12 

Pillar 1 – Improve pathways for hospital admission, discharge and ‘step-down’ ................. 13 

Pillar 2 - Improve equitable access, increase engagement in and ensure high quality 

primary and community care services ...................................................................................... 15 

Pillar 3 – Develop innovative approaches to deliver proactive, personalised care and 

enhance access to mental health, substance misuse and end of life care and support ...... 17 

Pillar 4 - Strengthen a preventative approach to reduce the risk of poor health outcomes for 

families living in temporary accommodation ........................................................................... 20 

Pillar 5 – Develop the infrastructure to support people seeking asylum and refuge to 

understand, access and be supported by health, care and wider services .......................... 22 

Cross-cutting themes ................................................................................................................. 24 

Remaining meaningful and areas of developing focus ........................................................... 28 

Conclusion and next steps ........................................................................................................ 29 

References .................................................................................................................................. 30 

 

Page 84



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

3 

Introduction 
 
This Case for Change sets out a comprehensive narrative of the evidence, data and insights that 
underpin and steer the North East London Homeless Health Strategy 2025–2030. It expands on the 
summary strategy document, offering a detailed view of the context, challenges, and opportunities 
that shape our shared vision, approach and priorities. 
 
Our vision as an integrated care system (ICS) is to create meaningful improvements in health, wellbeing and 
equity for everyone living in north east London (NEL). This means partners across the neighbourhoods and 
communities, places and partnerships of NEL working together to tackle today’s challenges and ensure 
sustainable services for the future. We are driven by a focus on prevention, early intervention, reducing 
health inequalities and supporting the most vulnerable and excluded people to improve their health 
outcomes. 
 
Health inequalities, the avoidable, unfair and systematic differences in health outcomes,1 exist between NEL 
and the rest of the country and between our places and communities; reflecting personal and social 
inequalities in society at large. Inequalities in health are the result of differences in the social and economic 
conditions and structures in which people are born, grow, live and age. People facing exclusion often 
experience the largest barriers to accessing care, including not feeling heard, not knowing how to access 
services and experiencing discrimination.2 The wider determinants of education, income and housing, greatly 
affect and influence the health outcomes of our population. Everyone in our system has a role to play in 
reducing health inequalities; creating health equity should be embedded across programmes and services 
within communities and across NEL. 
 
Underpinned by national guidance such Core20PLUS5,3 4 the national framework for inclusion health,5 as 
well as NICE guideline for integrating health and care for people experiencing homelessness,6 our system 
has co-designed the NEL Homeless Health Strategy. The evidence is clear that people experiencing 

homelessness and people who are described as being in an ‘inclusion health group’7 are socially excluded, 
experience multiple, overlapping risk factors for poor health (such as poverty, violence and complex trauma), 
face stigma and discrimination, and are not consistently accounted for in electronic records (such as 
healthcare databases). As an umbrella term, ‘inclusion health’ describes groups of people who frequently 
suffer from multiple health issues, such as mental and physical ill health and substance dependence issues, 
coupled with deep barriers to accessing health and care services. This results in extremely poor health 
outcomes which are often much worse than the general population, including a lower average age of death. 

 
The decision to develop and agree our NEL Homeless Health Strategy is born from a strong history of 
working in partnership to support people experiencing homelessness, strengthened through the Covid-19 
pandemic, when people were supported into accommodation and to receive vaccinations. With the pandemic 
exacerbating already wide health inequalities,8 the need for the system to work together differently to address 
the extremely poor health and social outcomes for people experiencing homelessness was amplified and 
actioned in a many different ways. To strengthen and build on this approach, following a robust process of 
partnership co-design and engagement, we are proud to present, the NEL Homeless Health Strategy 2025-
2030. 

 
 
 

  

The strategy is a call to action to convene the system around the most important areas of joint focus for 
the population (with a wide definition of homelessness) and provide a strategic framework to support 
place and neighbourhood partners to develop plans to address this population’s needs over five years. 

Page 85



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

4 

Executive Summary  
 

 

Our purpose  
 
The NEL Homeless Health Strategy is a call to action to convene the system around the most important 
areas of joint focus and improvement for the population (with a wide definition of homelessness) over 5 years. 
It provides a strategic framework to support place and neighbourhood partners to develop plans to address 
the needs of people experiencing homelessness. 
 
 

Our ambition  
 
Driven by a range of underpinning evidence, policy and guidance and our extensive co-design process, the 
overarching ambition of the NEL Homeless Health Strategy is to: 

 
 

Our approach 
 
We will deliver our ambition by working together towards five homeless health pillars and three cross 
cutting themes, underpinned by the key strategic opportunities identified. 
 
 
Our homeless health pillars 
 
The goals of the five homeless health pillars are to: 
 

1. Improve pathways for hospital admission, discharge and ‘step-down’, 

2. Improve equitable access, increase engagement in and ensure high quality primary and community 

care services, 

3. Develop innovative approaches to deliver proactive, personalised care and enhance access to mental 

health, substance misuse, and end-of-life care and support, 

4. Strengthen a preventative approach to reduce the risk of poor health outcomes for families living in 

temporary accommodation, 

5. Develop the infrastructure to support people seeking asylum and refuge to understand, access and be 

supported by health, care and wider services. 

While the definition of homelessness is broad and how people experience homelessness is not static, 
this strategy takes a targeted approach to improving health and social outcomes for specific groups as 
follows: 
 

• People who are rough sleeping —particularly those experiencing prolonged and more complex rough 
sleeping (Pillars 1 and 3), 

• Families with children living in temporary accommodation (Pillar 4),  
• People seeking asylum and refuge (Pillar 5), 

 
The strategy considers the work to improve access to primary and community care (Pillar 2) a universal offer 
for all people experiencing homelessness. 
 
  

Improve health and social outcomes for people experiencing homelessness through integrated 
health, care and housing pathways and a focus on the wider determinants of health. 

Page 86



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

5 

Each homeless health pillar has a defined set of priorities, steered by what evidence and involvement tell 
us about the context, issues and solutions that can make a difference and contribute to achieving the goal of 
the pillar.  The pillar priorities seek change to core provision (be that mainstream or specialist services), steer 
fundamental projects and give opportunity for testing and learning about the types of solutions that can have 
an impact and be scaled to be sustainable. 
 
 
Our cross-cutting themes 
 
The three homeless health cross-cutting themes represent important areas of focus that horizontally fit 
across each of the five pillars.   The cross-cutting themes either support specific priorities in the pillars or 
represent important thematic areas of focus that are required to improve health and social outcomes for 
people experiencing homelessness.  The three cross-cutting themes of the homeless health strategy are: 
 

• Safeguarding – ensuring the health, wellbeing and human rights of people experiencing 
homelessness and multiple disadvantage are effectively protected through safeguarding. 

• Workforce development –a holistic focus on workforce to invest in, structure and deliver accessible 
and high-quality services; support, develop and retain staff with a focus on wellbeing and the skills 
need to support the population and; creating opportunities for employment and development for 
people experiencing homelessness. 

• Data, intelligence and evaluation – improve our understanding of the needs of people experiencing 
homelessness and wider inclusion health groups through better data collection, sharing and analysis, 
ensuring evidence and evaluation drive meaningful change. 

 
 
Our key strategic opportunities 
 
The strategy is underpinned, steered and enabled by four key strategic opportunities (see Our opportunities) 
 

• Building our call to action through integration and collaboration across NEL and within places and 
neighbourhoods 

• Working with local people and communities 
• Greater focus on prevention, early intervention and the wider determinants of health 
• Equitable access to core services and specialist support 

 

 

Transformation, system delivery and financial approach 
 
Importantly, the strategy will not stand alone. It must influence and be embedded across NEL strategic 
commissioning programmes and priorities, including long-term conditions, primary, secondary and urgent 
care, mental health, substance misuse, and housing and health priorities.  
  
In addition, wider NEL system strategies, such as the Anti-Racist Strategy9 and the People and Culture 
Strategy10 set shared ambitions that support and strengthen our work, creating further opportunities to 
improve health and social outcomes for people experiencing homelessness at system, place and 
neighbourhood levels. 
 
Transforming and integrating services to address health inequalities is essential but complex, particularly 
under financial pressures. With the cost of inaction increasingly clear, achieving meaningful change demands 
balancing limited resources with innovative, sustainable solutions that ensure equitable access to high-quality 
care and support for all. Achieving the ambitions of the NEL Homeless Health Strategy will require a robust 
financial strategy: building clear investment cases, evidencing population and system impact, demonstrating 
return on investment, securing partnership funding and maximising external grant opportunities to drive 
lasting change. 

  

Page 87



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

6 

Defining homelessness 
 
Homelessness is not static and takes many forms. Nationally, homelessness is defined widely, recognising 
the complexity of people’s lives, that experiences change over time and that homelessness is often hidden or 
not in plain sight.11 People can experience homelessness in the following ways, all of which can have a 
detrimental impact on health: 
 

• Rooflessness – people living without shelter and sleeping rough on the streets. 

• Houselessness – people who have temporary places to sleep, including people living in local authority 

temporary accommodation or in institutions, shelters or provided accommodation, for example people 

seeking asylum. 

• Living in insecure accommodation – people threatened with severe exclusion due to insecure 

tenancies, eviction, domestic violence, or staying with family and friends known as ‘sofa surfing.’ 

• Living in inadequate housing – people living housing that is in poor condition and disrepair, for 

example without electricity, water and heating, or housing that is overcrowded and unsuitable. 

 

Scope of the NEL Homeless Health Strategy 
 
Whilst homelessness is broad and changeable, the strategy takes a targeted strategic commissioning-based 
approach to improving health and social outcomes by focusing on the most pressing needs within these 
population groups and the opportunities available within the ICS. Guided by national and local evidence, 
including insights from those with lived experience, the NEL Homeless Health Strategy focuses on the 
following groups: 
 

• People who are rough sleeping - particularly those experiencing prolonged and more complex rough 

sleeping  

• Families with children living in temporary accommodation  

• People seeking asylum and refuge  

 
The strategy considers improving access to primary care a universal need for all people experiencing 
homelessness. Furthermore, the focus of the strategy supports the overlapping needs of other inclusion 
health groups, including people in contact with the criminal justice system, sex workers, people with drug and 
alcohol dependence and Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities. 

 
 

The case for change 

 

Summary of challenges  
 
London is the epicentre of the national homelessness crisis, with London Councils estimating that more than 
175,000 Londoners are homeless and living in temporary accommodation – equivalent to one in 50 residents 
of the capital.12 Homelessness is driven by the cost of living, the availability and cost of housing, mental and 
physical health problems, job insecurity and the significant increase in people seeking asylum.  
 
The data and information in this section presents a high-level profile of people experiencing homelessness, 
their health needs, the challenges faced when accessing health and care services and a summary of the cost 
of inaction. The availability and quality of data about people experiencing homelessness is poor, meaning we 
need to consider wider sources and different types of evidence. Where data and evidence is available for 
NEL, this is included throughout the strategy. 
 
 

  

Page 88



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

7 

Population overview  
 
Homelessness does not impact people equally 
 

• Black people are over three times more likely to experience homelessness and Asian people are more 

likely to experience ‘hidden homelessness’ such as living in over-crowded housing.13 There is also 

evidence that LGBT+ people are significantly over-represented among people experiencing 

homelessness.14 

• New evidence suggests 12% of people experiencing homelessness are autistic, much higher than 

estimates for the overall population at around 1-2%.15 

• People with a history of imprisonment or contact with the criminal justice system are at higher risk of 

homelessness; for example it is estimated that 15% of people are homeless when sentenced to time 

in prison and 30% are homeless on release.16 17 18 

• Evidence suggests a notable intersection between homelessness and engagement in sex work, 

particularly among vulnerable populations; one study showed a quarter of young homeless women 

have engaged in sex work to fund accommodation or in the hope of getting a bed for the night.19 20 

• Romany Gypsy, Roma and Irish Traveller communities are disproportionately affected by 

homelessness,21 and face some of the starkest health inequalities when compared to other minority 

ethnic groups, including barriers to accessing healthcare.22 Roma and Traveller people face life 

expectancies between ten to 25 years shorter than the general population,23 experience a higher 

prevalence of long-term illness, and the health of those in their 60s is comparable to an average 

White British person in their 80s.24   

 
Rough sleeping  

 

• The numbers of people sleeping rough in London and NEL is rising, with nearly 12,000 people 

sleeping rough in London and 2,636 people in NEL in 23/24, up 19% and 12.5% from the year 

before.25 

• All places in NEL, except Havering, have seen an increase in the numbers of people sleeping rough 

between 2022/23 and 2023/24. Newham and the City of London have some of the highest numbers of 

people sleeping rough in England.26 

• It is estimated that around 13% of people rough sleeping are women.27 In order to be safe, women’s 

rough sleeping is often hidden, transient and intermittent, meaning their experiences are harder to 

understand and it is more challenging for services to support them.28 

 
Temporary accommodation  
 

• The number of households living in temporary accommodation in NEL continues to rise from 15,583 in 

June 2022 to 19,195 as of March 2024; representing 16% of the total households living in temporary 

accommodation in England.29 Of the households living in temporary accommodation, 13,504 (70%) 

are households with children. 

• 65% of Londoners living in temporary accommodation are women.Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

8 

Seeking refuge and asylum 
 

• There were around 7,000 people seeking asylum living in NEL as of October 2024, housed in Home 

Office asylum accommodation across our places. The numbers of people has risen steadily over 

recent years, with around 2000, 1500 and 1000 people living in Newham, Tower Hamlets and 

Redbridge respectively.30 

• Evidence suggests that over 50% of people sleeping on the streets are non-UK nationals.31 

 
Health needs 
  

• People experiencing homelessness are more likely to experience common health conditions, at a 

higher level of severity than the general population, creating frailty at a much younger age.32 33 34 They 

also experience poorer diagnoses of physical and mental health conditions.35 

• People experiencing homelessness, particularly in the form of rough sleeping have extremely high 

levels of undiagnosed and untreated chronic, long-term conditions (including TB, Hepatitis C, heart 

disease and epilepsy)36 37 and have an average life expectancy of 43 for women and 45 for men, 

around 30 years below the overall population.38 

• Furthermore, there has been a rise in the numbers of deaths of people experiencing homelessness.39 

• People experiencing homelessness are at high risk of brain injury as a result of trauma, alcohol use or 

health issues. Brain injury is also a factor in the causes of homelessness, as it can change a person's 

behaviour and compromise the skills they need to function effectively in daily life.40 

• Data shows that this population is much more likely to have mental health problems (54%), substance 

misuse problems (63%) or a combination of both (43%).41 Homelessness is lonely, stressful and often 

traumatic, having a major impact on mental health and as a result, people are far more vulnerable to 

alcohol and drugs.42 43 32% of all deaths among people experiencing homelessness in England in 

2017 were a result of drug poisoning, compared to 1% of the general population.38 

• The health needs of people seeking refuge and asylum are complex and often related to experiences 

prior to leaving their home country, during transit and after arrival in the UK. Common health 

challenges are untreated communicable diseases, poorly controlled chronic conditions, accessing 

maternity care, and health and specialist support needs. Barriers to accessing health and care 

services, further exacerbate people’s complex health needs.44 

From a NEL perspective, our data and insights tell us that: 
 

• Almost 50% of people using specialist homeless primary care services in inner NEL* have at least one 

long term condition and 14% have three or more - with the most common conditions being depression 

(20%), hypertension (11%) and diabetes (7.5%).45 

• The rate of serious mental illness is seven times higher for people experiencing homelessness, 

compared with the whole population of NEL.45 

• Around 40% of deaths of people experiencing homelessness in NEL were considered avoidable or 

treatable, compared to 22% for the same population nationally. These avoidable deaths are most 

commonly attributed to substance related conditions, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

(COPD) and self-harm.45  

 
 
 
 
 

 
* Hackney, Newham and Tower Hamlets 

Page 90



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

9 

Access to services and support 
 

• Accessing appropriate health and care services is a challenge for those who are experiencing 

homelessness.  Service provision is complicated and fragmented, with multiple entry points and 

pathways into and between services, but little coordination to enable holistic care.46 47 

• Core services are not designed for or lack capacity to comprehensively support the needs of people 

experiencing homelessness and specialist services are frequently funded in short term ways. This 

undermines the ability of services to recruit and retain staff with the right experience to deliver and 

develop the service.48 49 

• Evidence suggests that two-thirds of GPs refuse to register homeless patients50 and primary care 

services are often unable to offer the care people need.51  

• People face stigma and discrimination when interacting with health and care services, reporting 

dehumanising and traumatic experiences, entrenching health inequalities further.52 

• Without good access to primary and community care and early, preventive support, people turn to 

acute services. Nationally, people experiencing homelessness are six times more likely (than the 

whole population) to attend A&E, three times more likely to be admitted, and stay in hospital three 

times as long. They are more likely to have unscheduled care that costs eight times as much as the 

general population, have the poorest experiences of health services and are often discharged to the 

streets.53 54 

• People experiencing homelessness, as well as wider inclusion health groups, are not consistently 

recorded in health, care and wider datasets when interacting with services. This means the data and 

evidence used for service design and evaluation is insufficient and lacking in consistency and quality, 

exacerbating the fact that services do not meet their needs.55 

 
The system cost of inaction 
 
Homelessness has a human cost; impacting people’s health and life outcomes across the board and not 
preventing and addressing the impact of homelessness has a financial impact to the health and care system 
and wider public services. National guidelines illustrate that given the financial implications of homelessness 
to society, most interventions that address homelessness are likely to be cost effective or even cost saving 
for public services.6 Data and intelligence show that: 
 

• The estimated public sector costs of a person experiencing homelessness is approximately 

£40,000 per year in England (based on 2019/20 prices), whilst preventing homelessness for one year 

would reduce that cost by £10,000 per person.56 

• Estimates suggest the NHS spends £4,298 annually on someone who is homeless, four times as 

much as the general population who are housed.57 

• Preventing rough sleeping for a year could reduce public spending by over £115 million and if 

other forms of homelessness were included, these cost savings would be substantially higher.58  

• Prior to the COVID pandemic, health inequalities were estimated to cost the NHS an extra £4.8 

billion annually.59  As the pandemic exacerbated health inequalities, it is reasonable to conclude that 

the cost of inequalities to the NHS had increased. 

• In 2023, delays to discharge from hospital cost the NHS £1.89bn.60 People experiencing 

homelessness are more likely to be admitted and face complex discharges, and data from specialist 

homeless hospital teams in NEL shows that targeted interventions can reduce hospital attendance, 

admissions, delays, and discharges to the street. 

 

 
 

Page 91



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

10 

Our opportunities 
 
With these challenges as our context, there are significant opportunities to work together within and beyond 
NEL ICS to address the severe health inequalities people experiencing homeless face and create meaningful 
improvements in health, wellbeing, equity for our populations. These opportunities are set within a national61  
and local62 context that as a clear focus on addressing health inequalities, improving outcomes for inclusion 
health groups, preventing ill-health and a shift to doing more in neighbourhoods and communities,63 delivered 
through strategic commissioning. 
 
We are encouraged by recent strengthened cross-government commitments to end homelessness, alongside 
investment to tackle its root causes64 as well as what it will mean for collaboration at a regional level.65 
Evidence, guidance and national positioning show the need to achieve sustainable and lasting change by 
using a range of opportunities to do things differently and better.66 
 
 

Key strategic opportunities  
 
Building our call to action through integration and collaboration across NEL and within places and 
neighbourhoods. 

 
• Through co-designing the strategy, we continue to strengthen the knowledge, momentum and 

commitment that through taking a population health approach and addressing health inequalities 

together, we can make a systematic difference for people experiencing homelessness.   

• This means continuing to strengthen collaboration and integration between health, care, local 

authorities, policing and voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise (VCFSE) organisations; 

creating trust in coming together to focus on what matters to people, addressing people’s needs 

holistically through integrated services and sharing resources to reduce the long-term impact of 

homelessness. Integrated neighbourhood working67 presents new opportunities to address health 

inequalities and support people with the most complex needs at a community level, including people 

experiencing homelessness and wider inclusion health groups. 

• Furthermore, the call to action must be driven and built by visible leadership across partners, places, 

neighbourhoods and areas of service delivery; advocating for inclusion health at every level and 

building knowledge and momentum to act from the top. 

 
Working with local people and communities 

 

• The voices and involvement of members of our communities who are socially excluded are often 

unheard and their needs invisible.  Through developing trusted and effective relationships with local 

partners including VCFSE organisations, we will work with people who have lived experience of 

homelessness to understand their needs, develop informed solutions together and rebalance power 

and control towards them.  

• The involvement of people who are ‘experts by experience’ can range from designing and developing 

projects and services to carrying out participatory research or directly delivering health and care 

interventions. This gives people opportunities to have an influence, develop their own skills and work 

experience and support other people experiencing homelessness.6 68 

 
Greater focus on prevention, early intervention and the wider determinants of health 
 

• We will drive a stronger, evidence-led focus on preventing ill-health and intervening earlier for people 

at risk of homelessness, addressing trauma, mental health needs, and barriers to accessing care and 

support.69 

Page 92



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

11 

• Opportunities to address the root causes of homelessness include a focus on trauma and mental 

health needs, improving access to health, care and support services including drug and alcohol 

services and tackling wider structural issues such as housing, criminal justice, employment and 

economic vulnerability. 

• In focussing on new NHS wide priorities, including ‘analogue to digital’70 there are opportunities to 

address the digital exclusion that people experiencing homelessness face; for example less access to 

reliable devices, consistent internet connections, and the necessary digital skills, primarily caused by 

financial constraints, lack of a fixed address, and instability in living situations.71 

 
Equitable access to core services and specialist support 
 

• National and regional guidelines recognise that both equitable access to core services and 

consistently funded specialist support are opportunities that need to be harnessed to improve health 

outcomes for people experiencing homelessness, reducing the likelihood that people fall through the 

gaps.6 72 

• This means investing more in sustainable specialist services and the most effective interventions that 

improve health outcomes and contribute to reducing overall system costs over time, addressing health 

inequalities through a range of transformation areas. In practice specialist services need to be person-

centred, multi-disciplinary, flexible and trauma informed; provided by consistent and enabled staff, 

alongside being steered, supported or delivered by people with lived experience of homelessness.   

• Alongside this recognition of the investment needed in specialist services is the fundamental need to 

address the barriers of access to mainstream services. For example, normalising access to a GP to 

ensure people are supported and managed in primary care with the aim of preventing or reducing ill 

health and deterioration, and the need to then rely on be supported by secondary care. 

• People experiencing homelessness take many routes into and between the complex service 

landscape and therefore integration and links between services are vital. Taking a ‘no wrong door’ 

approach,73 contact with any service should be used as an opportunity to engage people with the 

wider set of services available and support should be available to navigate the system, regardless of 

where they first seek support from.6 74 Neighbourhood working and co-location of teams is vital for 

health equity, delivering accessible, holistic and cohesive services in shared places.75 

 
  

Page 93



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

12 

Co-designing the strategy 
 
The NEL Homeless Health Strategy has been co-designed with stakeholders across health, care, community, 
local authority, VCFSE, and people with lived experience of homelessness. This inclusive, evidence-led 
approach ensures the strategy meets the needs of people experiencing homelessness in north east London, 
while aligning with ICS goals and national priorities. 
 

• The NEL Homeless Health Strategic Reference Group was established to support a joint COVID 

response. The group created opportunities for joint working on homeless health and provides a 

platform for sharing learning and best practice. This group called for the creation of the NEL Homeless 

Health Strategy and will oversee its delivery and progress. 

• In May 2024, we held the NEL Homeless Health Symposium, bringing together over 100 colleagues 

from across the system, alongside individuals with lived experience of homelessness. The event 

served as a platform to build a case for system-wide action and marked the formal launch of 

engagement for the strategy. 

• Following the symposium, the strategy was co-designed through five Pillar Working Groups, each 

focused on a strategic pillar. Steered by a facilitated structure and a lead, each group (consisting of 

12-26 colleagues from various sectors as well as representatives of those with lived experience) met 

three times, using data and evidence to shape the strategic focus and priorities of the pillars, as well 

as outlining timelines, levels of priority and outcome measures. 

• In addition to the pillar working groups, extensive engagement across the system has been 

conducted; presenting the strategy at over 30 groups within the NHS, at Place level, and with subject 

matter experts in the voluntary sector. 

• To ensure the strategy truly reflects the needs of those experiencing homelessness, the voice of 

people lived experience of homelessness was integrated throughout the design process. This 

began with a focused session with Groundswell, attended by ten peers with lived experience of 

homelessness, to frame the strategic pillars. At the NEL Homeless Health Symposium, three peers 

from Cardboard Citizens performed creative pieces, sharing their experiences of homelessness. Once 

strategic priorities were established through the working groups, we collaborated with Groundswell 

and Cardboard Citizens through dedicated workshops to review and validate the proposed priorities 

for each pillar. Additionally, we’ve ensured the voice of people with lived experience continues to 

shape ongoing projects, for example two women supported by the Magpie Project 

contributed to the commissioning of the NEL Initial Health Assessment Outreach Service for asylum 

seekers under Pillar 5. 

The strategy has been positively received and supported across the system, making it the first ICS Homeless 
Health Strategy in the country. Co-designed with the system and individuals with lived experience, it 
represents an evidence led, committed and evolving effort to address the health needs of the homeless 
population in north east London through continuous collaboration. 
 
  

Page 94



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

13 

 

Pillar 1 – Improve pathways for hospital admission, discharge and ‘step-down’ 
 

‘Your discharge summary goes in the bag along with your other belongings. Not once was the discharge 
summary read out to me, it was taken for granted that I understood all of the medical terms. One discharge 

summary literally said "discharged back to streets.”’ 
Centre for Homelessness Impact, 2020.76 

 
The realities of the way people who experience homelessness use and need support from hospital urgent 
and emergency care services, alongside the capacity and structure of these services to holistically support 
their needs, highlights a deeply entrenched societal challenge. Nationally, people experiencing homelessness 
are six times more likely to attend A&E, three times more likely to be admitted, and stay in hospital three 
times as long.77 They are more likely to have unscheduled care that costs eight times more than the general 
population, have the poorest experiences of health services and are often discharged to the streets.78 79  
 
Using data from the specialist homeless GP services in the inner boroughs of NEL,† 22,000 A&E attendances 
were recorded for people experiencing homelessness in 2023, with over 50% of people attending more than 
once. 80 The most frequently recorded reasons for attending A&E were related to alcohol and substance 
misuse and mental health needs. For many people a diagnosis is not given in A&E or they leave before being 
seen, but 35% of the time people reattend A&E within seven days. The picture is as stark for emergency 
hospital admissions; in NEL in 2023, 2,162 people experiencing homelessness (and using the specialist GP 
practices) were admitted to hospital, often more than once; over 70 people had five or more emergency 
admissions. People were admitted to hospital for a range of complex, chronic and long-term conditions 
including alcohol and substance misuse, chest pain, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma, 
epilepsy and serious mental illness. Almost 20% of all emergency admissions for people experiencing 
homelessness resulted in a readmission within 30 days.  
 
People experiencing homelessness have high levels of undiagnosed and untreated health condition.35 
Evidence suggests that individuals experiencing homelessness develop geriatric conditions decades earlier 
than those with stable housing.81 Those in their 40s and 50s are more likely to experience frailty, including 
cognitive impairment, functional decline, and loneliness.82 Research showed that people experiencing 
homelessness, with a mean age of 56 years, have frailty scores comparable to those of 89-year-olds in the 
general population.83 
 
People typically have much longer stays in hospital after they become medically fit to leave due to the 
complexity of their ongoing needs and the ability of services to meet them. They often need further care and 
support from wider services, appropriate accommodation. Delays occur from the need to obtain evidence as 
eligibility for benefits or support; this is particularly relevant for people with restricted or uncertain eligibility for 
public funds, who often require legal advice.84 
 
Coming into and being discharged from hospital should be seen as a window of opportunity to understand 
and support people’s needs holistically and ensure services are working well together to address and prevent 
homelessness and further inequalities and ensure people’s safety.85 86 This includes the ‘duty to refer’87 
people who may be homeless or at risk of homelessness to local authority services and presents 
opportunities for multidisciplinary working, putting people and their needs in the centre of assessments, 
decision making and wrap around support. A multi-disciplinary approach, within and beyond hospital can help 
people rebuild their lives as well as reduce pressures and costs on services caused by repeat attendance, 
readmission and delays to finding further support for people.88 89 90 91 92 
 
When leaving hospital, a growing body of evidence shows the positive impact of intermediate care based in 
the community, which is often called ‘step-down’ care. This intermediate care can provide safe, short-term 
accommodation and help people to heal and recover, alongside support to access wider health and care 
services and find long-term accommodation. The national ‘Out-of-Hospital Care Models (OOHCM) 
Programme’ provided funding to 17 places to plan, deliver and learn from approaches that enable people 
experiencing homelessness to leave hospital and be supported by specialist services in the community. 93   

 
† Hackney, Newham and Tower Hamlets 

Page 95



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

14 

 
Programme evaluation reinforced evidence that shows wide benefits of this approach; a stay in intermediate 
care can significantly reduce the number of people discharged to the streets or other unsuitable places, 
reduce hospital visits and admissions, improve people’s quality of life outcomes and reduce costs.  However, 
the national programme did not deliver the capacity needed in a sustainable way, suggesting recurrent 
investment in these type of specialist services is needed.   
 
Within NEL, there are specialist teams in the inner London boroughs of Tower Hamlets, Hackney and 
Newham,94 95 supporting people experiencing homelessness in hospital settings to leave hospital and access 
further support, as required, in the community, with evidence building to show the positive impact on patient 
and system outcomes, including reductions in hospital attendance, admittance and length of hospital. In other 
boroughs and hospital settings, there are some processes and individuals supporting people experiencing 
homelessness when in hospital and to leave hospital, however across NEL, there is no one consistent 
approach to identifying, recording and supporting people when they come into hospital, holistically meeting 
their needs and safely discharging them with provision of step-down and wrap around support. Feedback 
indicates that homelessness is often not recognised until the discharge planning stage, which can hinder the 
management of people with the most complex needs, and increase length of stay in hospital.  
 
A hospital is not the right place for somebody to make long-term life decisions, and through the development 
of specialist teams, discharge support and step-down community arrangements, we aim to support more 
people, with a range of needs, in the community. Working with partners across NEL, including hospital and 
discharge planning leads and local authority colleagues, drawing on national guidelines and legal 
frameworks, we have established the following priorities to improve pathways for hospital admission, 
discharge and step-down for people experiencing homelessness across NEL. The aim is to reduce the need 
for future re-admission and prevent further deterioration of multiple health and wellbeing needs: 
 
To improve pathways for hospital admission, discharge and step-down, we will: 
 

 
‘...it’s easier to find A&E and for a lot of people, it’s a warm place to stay.’ 

Groundswell Peers steering the NEL Homeless Health Strategy, 2025 

 

 
“A&E is open 24 hours a day and quite often the chaotic lifestyle of someone experiencing homelessness, 

just getting to a doctor in surgery hours is not going to be feasible. You can tend to only see your doctor 

about one thing, at least with A&E you can go in, talk to someone about one thing, stay there and chip away 

at what you’ve got. It’s more convenient, saves on lots of journeys. I suppose as well, it’s a little bit more 

impersonal, which can be a good thing, and you can talk about things that maybe you sort of don’t want 

others to hear about. So I suppose yeah, a big and bustling A&E, it might be easier to be a bit anonymous.” 

Groundswell Peer steering the NEL Homeless Health Strategy, 2025 

 
  

• Work with key partners to create and implement guidelines and principles for hospital admission 

and discharge in NEL for people experiencing homelessness, 

• Develop a NEL discharge model to support people to leave hospital when they are well enough 

but still need care (discharge to assess), 

• Develop a bed model to enable people to leave hospital and access accommodation where they 

can receive ongoing care and rehabilitation (step-down care), 

• Promote and embed the use of health record systems and templates that capture information about 

people experiencing homelessness and wider inclusion health groups (shared with Pillar 2). 

Page 96



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

15 

 
Pillar 2 - Improve equitable access, increase engagement in and ensure high 

quality primary and community care services 
 
Whilst we see from pillar one that people experiencing homeless use acute and emergency hospital services 
much more than people who are not homeless, the reverse is often true for preventative, primary and 
community care services; meaning people’s health and care needs often remain untreated, becoming more 
serve and complex.96 Being able to access and be supported by primary and community services 
comprehensively is a fundamental bedrock of the health and care system, but capacity of these services to 
meet growing population needs is stretched.97 Commitments of the government continue a focus on 
transforming primary care, emphasising the vital importance prevention, community services and place-
based approaches.98 
 
General practice plays a fundamental role in enabling access to wider health and care services including 
mental health, preventative interventions and secondary care for treatment for diseases or long-term 
conditions. People from inclusion health groups, including people experiencing homelessness, face many 
barriers in accessing general practice.48 96 99 These barriers start with registration, with evidence showing that 
around two-thirds of GPs in London refuse to register people in this population100 101 and more widely, 18% of 

people experiencing homelessness have been refused registration to a GP or dentist.42 

 
Contrary to NHS guidance,102  practices often incorrectly refuse registration due to lack of proof of 
identification, address and immigration status at registration, which many people in inclusion health groups do 
not have.48 103 104 Many people experiencing homelessness are unaware that this is incorrect or have the 
confidence to enforce their rights. National6 and regional72 guidance place a clear focus on ensuring people 
who are experiencing homelessness can register with a GP in line with primary care policy, steering that this 
fundamental barrier should be understood and addressed.105 
 
Barriers go beyond GP registration, painting a complicated picture of inequality. People experience long wait 
times to be seen, inflexible systems such as short and set appointment times, communication and language 
barriers, problems understanding and navigating services and digital exclusion such as not having or being 
able to use a smart phone.99 106 107 The move to more remote and online working for general practice can 
create challenges for people experiencing homelessness and maintaining registration is hard for people who 
move location often.48 108 For people experiencing homelessness, health needs are often competing against 
more immediate needs or substance dependency106 and the evidence is clear that stigma and discrimination 
leads to negative experiences, with people lacking trust and not accessing services for these reasons.109 A 
study in NEL showed that even with knowledge of registration requirements, there was a reluctance to 
register people without documentation, linked to perceptions of people as burdensome or moral judgements 
being made about deservedness to finite resources.110     
 
All people, regardless of immigration status, are entitled to register with a GP.102 People seeking asylum and 
refuge face increased personal and structural barriers to accessing and making the most of health care 
including general practice, for many of the reasons summarised, as well as lacking knowledge of their rights 
and how public services work.111 The Safe Surgeries programme,112  operated by Doctors of the World, 
supports general practice to tackle the barriers faced by many migrants in accessing health services and 
ensure communities are not excluded; with places in NEL already working to implement Safe Surgeries 
effectively.  
 
Underpinning and a further consequence of the barriers to equitable access, is the cross-cutting theme of a 
lack of consistent data and understanding of the population and therefore their needs, driven by the inability 
to currently capture people accurately across health, care and wider data sets. 113  See the ‘Data, evidence 
and evaluation’ cross-cutting theme for more context. 
 
Whilst people should be supported by mainstream primary and community care, the barriers faced by people 
experiencing homelessness in accessing these services means that specialised, multi-disciplinary services, 
that go to where people are, can meet their needs more holistically.6 72 114 Taking care and support out to 
people (often known as ‘outreach’) means going to and providing services in places such as hostels and 

asylum accommodation, day centres, community and faith settings, and on the streets.6  Integrated, person-

Page 97



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

16 

centred services that take a ‘making every contact count’115 approach means physical and mental health 
needs can be supported, services can work with people to prevent poor health (for example through 
vaccinations, smoking cessation or nutrition advice) and wider needs can be supported such as benefits, 
housing and legal advice. Our engagement with Groundwell and Cardboard Citizen’s highlighted the 
importance of support with basic needs such as clothing, personal care and showers, as well as support for 
wound care and foot health. People experiencing homelessness are at increased risk of blood-born and 
sexually transmitted infections such as Hepatitis B, C and HIV and infectious diseases such as TB, with 
services in community settings being able to test, screen and support people to reduce rates of preventable 
diseases.116 
 
Evidence is growing on the effectiveness of different models of primary and community care provision for 

people experiencing homelessness. The HEARTH study reviewed four models of primary care provision for 

people who are homeless; dedicated centres, specialist GPs, mobile outreach and normal GP care.117  The 

study, whilst small, showed positive outcomes from dedicated and specialist services and highlighted the 

importance of flexible ‘drop in’ services and confidence built through specialist services and continuity of staff.   

 

Outreach services can reduce barriers to access by taking care to people,118 overcoming competing priorities 

that may prevent people from addressing a health need and creating an environment of trust and safety. 

Consistency in staff and continuity of care across models has been shown to be an important factor,119 again 

linked creating trust.106 Across all types of provision, the HEARTH study showed that dental needs were 

unaddressed and staff reported poor availability of mental health services.  

 

Access to dentistry is low120 121 and homelessness can significantly increase dental health problems, with 

flexible, community-based services, offering ways to support oral health with education and clinical 

intervention.122 123 124 

 

Drawing on our key strategic opportunities, Pillar 2 presents the clear case for making universal, mainstream 
primary care services more accessible to people experiencing homelessness and wider inclusion health 
groups. It also shows the importance of designing and providing specialist and community based services 
where population needs require it; which will contribute to preventing poor health outcomes and reducing the 
use of urgent and hospital care services.125 We need to ensure that services now, and in the future, can meet 
the needs of our diverse and growing population126 and that through those services, we capture data about 
the population and their needs. Across NEL currently, a range of different specialist and outreach services 
exist for people experiencing homelessness, with the need to more comprehensively understand population 
needs, the impact of current services and opportunities for new best practice; establishing a more equitable 
and consistent approach across our places. 
 
To improve equitable access, increase engagement in and ensure high quality primary and community care 
services, with a focus on mainstream and specialist services, we will: 
 
 

• Design, agree and implement a NEL model for primary care services for people experiencing 

homelessness, 

• Support every general practice in NEL to join the Safe Surgeries programme, removing registration 

barriers and creating equitable access to mainstream primary care, 

• Define and develop principles for ‘outreach’ services that support people experiencing 

homelessness where they are, and commission these services across NEL, 

• Promote and embed the use of health record systems and templates to capture information about 

people experiencing homelessness and wider inclusion health groups (shared with Pillar 1). 

 
‘You are homeless, you don’t have proof of address, its hard to get a GP. So when you come to [specialist 

homeless GP] they must work with you, they count you as a human.’ 
Groundswell focus group participant – Healthy London Partnership, 2019 72 

 

Page 98



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

17 

 

Pillar 3 – Develop innovative approaches to deliver proactive, personalised care 
and enhance access to mental health, substance misuse and end of life care 

and support 

 
‘…many people have alcohol, drugs and also mental health problems. They are often told that they have to 

deal with the alcohol or whatever first, but it doesn’t work for people because they often say that they self-

medicate, so treating people for both conditions at the same time, I’m sure, would make a lot of difference…’ 

Groundswell Peer steering the NEL Homeless Health Strategy, 2025 

 
The impact of experiencing homelessness and multiple disadvantage is extreme. As summarised in the case 
for change, people experiencing homelessness, particularly in the form of rough sleeping, are likely to have 
high levels of physical and mental health issues, at a higher level of severity than the general population.  
This creates vulnerability, ill health and frailty at a much younger age; meaning people die younger, and live 
in poor health at a much earlier age than the rest of the population.32 91 127 128 
 
This pillar of the homeless health strategy focusses on two themes.  The first theme explores opportunities to 
use approaches such as proactive care and personalisation to address the multiple disadvantages that create 
frailty and premature death, particularly for those sleeping rough. The second theme focuses on improving 
access and better integrating the key service areas of mental health, substance misuse and end of life care, 
that are vital in managing exacerbations of ill health and preventing episodes of crisis. Together the two 
themes offer a range of new approaches to address some of the most complex and systemic issues of 
multiple deprivation and homelessness.       
 
Proactive care, an approach to providing care and support for people with moderate to severe frailty, 
predominantly in the aging population129 can be applied to people experiencing frailty and premature aging 
due to the impact of homelessness. Frailty in people experiencing homelessness (comparable to people 30 
years older in the general population) is impacted by risk factors such as drug and alcohol use and 
dependence, loneliness and poor nutrition and has been shown to include conditions commonly associated 
with old age including falls, visual, mobility and cognitive impairment, alongside a much higher rate of long 
term conditions than even the oldest people in the general population.34 83 128 People experiencing 
homelessness are seven times more likely to die from falls, and when this happens the average age of the 
person is 45.130 Adopting proactive care approaches, that are needs-based rather than aged-based, can 
improve the health outcomes of people experiencing homelessness in its most severe forms. This means 
adopting specific approaches for defined groups of people including the use of care plans, care coordinators, 
multi-agency support, as well as planning and interventions delivered through integrated neighbourhood 
teams.32 129 More needs to be done to understand the prevalence, risks and outcomes of frailty in people 
experiencing homelessness, as well as the interventions that can be put in place to address it through 
proactive care approaches.34 131 
 
Personalisation, a cross-cutting theme of the NEL Joint Forward Plan,132  is an integral approach to tackling 
health inequalities; empowering people with complex needs to draw on their own strengths and have greater 
choice and control over the care and support they receive.133 There is strong evidence that Personalisation 
improves health and wider outcomes for people experiencing multiple disadvantage, tailoring support to focus 
on people’s needs, based on what matters most to them.134 135 136 Personalisation approaches include social 
prescribing, personal health budgets, and personalised care planning and review.137 138 NEL based-evidence 
has shown the ways in which personalised support and budgets enable trust, choice, control and positive 
outcomes such as moving to stable accommodation.139 
 
A current NEL project has shown positive benefits of personal health budgets, with people who have been 
rough sleeping for a long-time using budgets to support a range of needs including housing and tenancy 
sustainment, general needs such as clothes, personal care and travel and hobbies including physical activity 
(T1000 Personal Health Budgets project). Proactive and personalised care approaches can be enabled 
through solutions such as the Universal Care Plan,140 a pan-London digital care plan that puts the patient at 
the centre of their care, ensuring their wishes and preferences are always considered by the range of 
services caring for and supporting them, including at end of life. 141 

Page 99



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

18 

 
‘This is the best I have felt in over five years and I am so thankful for all the help. I feel much more hopeful 

and human since being helped by the project and I can start to see a future for myself as a chef again.’ 
NEL T1000 Personal Health Budget Pilot, mid-point evaluation, January 2025 

 
Experiencing homelessness is often a consequence of and results in ongoing trauma, having a major impact 
on mental health and increasing vulnerability to and the misuse of alcohol and drugs. 42 43 Around half of all 
people experiencing homelessness have a combination of mental health and substance misuse needs.41 The 
consequence of these co-occurring conditions result in a much higher rate of death, for example by drug 
poisoning or suicide.142 143 The pressures faced by mental health, drug treatment and recovery services in 
meeting population needs is recognised nationally,144 145 and although there has been recent focus and 
investment has in these services146 147 148 the majority of people experiencing homelessness face barriers 
accessing mental health services and over half report difficulties accessing drug and alcohol services.46 149 150 
This means people’s needs are often not met with preventative focus, early enough, leading to crisis.151 This 
treatment gap, underpinned by fragmented services and long wait times is worsened by restrictive eligibility 
criteria and thresholds, including for example needing to resolve substance use problems before accessing 
mental health services and vice versa.46 152 
 
The forthcoming national co-occurring conditions action plan, focused on people experiencing homelessness, 
will be led by the principle of ‘no wrong door’, emphasising that regardless of where people access care, their 
needs should be met, eliminating the barriers of where people should go for help. Furthermore, the soon to 
be published mental health strategy for London is expected to include a priority focused on tackling 
inequalities in access, experience and outcomes and effective integration with physical health care.  It will 
prioritise the most underserved communities, with a more strategic focus on improving pathways of care for 
people with co-existing substance use needs. These related developments offer opportunities to strengthen 
collaboration between mental health and drug and alcohol treatment services to deliver high quality 
personalised treatment and better outcomes for people with co-occurring substance use and mental health 
conditions. 
 
Research shows that many people experiencing homelessness die in unsupported, undignified situations, 
often without the involvement and support of palliative care services. This stems not only from the sudden 
nature of some deaths but also through a lack of funding for specialist end of life care, and the way in which 
services are designed without the complex needs of people experiencing homelessness in mind.  Being too 
young for care homes designed for the aging population, and many requiring drug and alcohol support, 
results in people remaining in hostels and temporary accommodation as their health deteriorates. This 
inability to provide support for a dignified and planned death is further compounded by the lack of support for 
front line and accommodation staff who are ill equipped to identify, support and care for the seriously ill with 
limited outreach provision from health or social care services.  
 
Knowing when to involve end of life services can be hard as people are often not recognised as suffering 
from terminal illness, alongside being less likely to have support from family or friends who can act as 
advocates, meaning people’s wishes for care, support and practical arrangements are rarely known or 
met. Stigma and complexity around substance misuse creates more barriers. End of life care and support for 
people experiencing homelessness is a good example of where specialist, person-centred services, steered 
by peer involvement, can address and support some of the most complex and systemic issues of multiple 
deprivation and homelessness.5 48 153 154 155 156 
 

‘…some of the things that really bother me are “will I get the right kind of funeral, will they play the songs I 

want at my funeral, will the people I know be informed that I am dead?”’ 

Groundswell Peer steering the NEL Homeless Health Strategy, 2025 

 
 
The focus of this pillar is driven by new approaches and vital developments that seek to address some of the 
most complex and systemic issues of multiple deprivation and homelessness that create frailty and 
premature death, particularly for those sleeping rough.  This will take a range of partners, focused on different 
areas, committing to action and change.  Already in NEL, there are projects underway using proactive and 
personalised care, creating evidence to develop from.   

Page 100



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

19 

 
National and regional developments in mental health and substance use services offer much needed 
opportunities to address the needs of people experiencing homelessness and the treatment gap that 
currently exists. Furthermore, to focus on end-of-life care, we will draw on the expertise, practice and 
knowledge that currently exists, to make a change in an area of care that must support people differently at 
this most vulnerable stage of life.  
 
Through this pillar of the homeless health strategy we will: 
 
 

 
 

‘...as an example, if I wanted to get some mental and physical health support, I swim a lot because this helps 

me a lot. I used to be able to get it through my GP… but now I pay for it. But actually, that’s something that I 

would say benefits me, you know, a swim a day would be a huge difference to me and it costs nothing 

compared to saying come and see this service… and [swimming] costs £200 for the whole year.’ 

Groundswell Peer steering the NEL Homeless Health Strategy, 2025 

  

• Identify and understand where personalised and proactive care can provide greatest potential 

impact on health and system outcomes, learning from approaches within and beyond NEL and 

building evidence of what works, 

• Develop a NEL personalised care and support planning template that embeds co-ordinated, 

multi-professional interventions to address the person’s range of needs including end of life care, 

• Strengthen collaboration between mental health and drug and alcohol treatment services to 

deliver high quality personalised treatment and better outcomes for people with co-occurring 

substance use and mental health conditions, 

• Develop a consistent approach to providing end of life care across NEL that takes learning from 

current provision. 

Page 101



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

20 

Pillar 4 - Strengthen a preventative approach to reduce the risk of poor health 
outcomes for families living in temporary accommodation 

 
The national housing crisis157 is having a significant impact on health, which is particularly true for people in 
inclusion health groups who face the multiple disadvantages of housing precarity, destitution and poor 
health.158  Temporary accommodation (TA) refers to short-term housing provided by local authorities for 
individuals experiencing homelessness or those at immediate risk of homelessness.159 The number of 
households living in TA in England has doubled since 2011. Similarly, reflecting the national picture, 19,195 
households are living in TA in NEL as of 2023/24. This accounts for nearly 16% of the total households in TA 
across England.160 Of those households in NEL, 70% have children, and the number of children living in TA in 
NEL has risen by more than a quarter between 2022 and 2024, reaching 28,488 children.161 This represents 
approximately 6% or 1 in 17 children in NEL. In the last decade nationally, the number of households being 
located outside their home borough has increased by more than 100%, making supporting these households 
challenging.162  
 
While TA is intended as a short-term solution, many people now find themselves living in TA for extended 
periods, sometimes even years.163 This, combined often with poor living conditions such as overcrowding, a 
lack of basic facilities such as cooking, bathing and play areas, or poor quality housing stock, can have a 
detrimental impact on health.164  There are also significant social consequences of living in TA. Due to the 
shortage of housing, families are often relocated outside their local areas, leaving behind their social 
networks, communities, schools, and workplaces.165 This displacement can lead to social isolation, weakened 
community ties, and a loss of social capital. For vulnerable groups, especially children, those with disabilities, 
and those with mental health issues, the lack of stable housing can severely affect their well-being.166 
 

‘I have moved twice in the past 3 months, I don’t know where the letters are going... 
‘I didn’t want to tell the professional that I didn’t understand what they were telling me…’ 

Experiences of women with children, The Magpie Project 167 

 
A growing body of evidence, particularly focusing on families and households with children, highlights the 
connection between living in TA and poor mental and physical health for both adults and children.168 
Research indicates that 66% of people living in TA report their living conditions negatively impacting their 
physical and mental health, with mental health issues such as stress and anxiety being particularly 
exacerbated.169 170 Additionally, a significant proportion of people in TA experience physical health problems, 
and these conditions can worsen or even be triggered by their living conditions.168 169  
 
Living in TA has a detrimental effect on the health and well-being of children, preventing them from receiving 
the ‘best start in life.’171 Children living in TA are more likely to experience disruptions in education due to 
frequent relocations, resulting in poorer educational outcomes and lower levels of well-being compared to 
peers.164 The conditions of TA can hinder child development, impacting both psychological and physical 
growth,171 including higher prevalence of respiratory infections, poor nutrition, unhappiness and depression172 
Lived experience insights from The Magpie Project in Newham tell us that frequent moves often between 
catchment areas make it difficult to track and attend to special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), 
leading to late diagnosis of SEND conditions and mothers struggling to follow their children’s diagnostic 
journey.167 More acutely, TA can increase the risk of sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) because it can 
make it difficult for families to create a safe sleeping space for their babies. This has led to national calls for a 
stronger focus on deprivation, the number of babies and young children living in TA and the risk of SIDS.173 
 
As with other forms of homelessness, individuals in TA face barriers to accessing timely healthcare and 
support. Many rely on healthcare services from the areas where they were previously accommodated, 
making it difficult to establish continuity of care.168 Research by Shelter found that 40% of people living in TA 
struggle to access primary care appointments due to the distance to GP and other healthcare services.174 
Consequently, families often turn to emergency services, with 70% of families in TA visiting A&E more than 
once a year, and 23% visiting more than three times a year.172 Emergency services are ill-equipped to 
address the complex, ongoing needs of frequent users. Access to primary care that offers continuity of 
treatment would better support these families and help reduce health inequalities.175  
The role of housing as a determinant of health is well established,176 and the lack of holistic, person-centred 
health and wellbeing support for families living in TA can contribute to the cycle of homelessness, further 

Page 102



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

21 

exacerbating inequalities.177 Equipping organisations and frontline workers on what comprehensive and 
holistic support looks like for these families can help clarify roles, responsibilities, and opportunities, making 
services and pathways more clear, which in turn will facilitate continuity of care, especially for those moved 
out of their borough.11 47 178 In taking a holistic approach, best practice guidance recommends a focus on a 
consistent point of contact and psychologically informed approaches, as well as setting minimum standards 
for children living in TA and the importance of support around benefits, moving and legal advice.168 179 Such 
an approach will be particularly beneficial for individuals living with disabilities, neurodivergence, complex 
mental health issues, or those who have recently arrived from other countries and do not speak English as 
their first language.177 

 
Debt is a key driver of homelessness, often worsening once an individual becomes homeless.180 Rent arrears 
are the primary cause of family homelessness, particularly affecting women (as women tend to experience 
hidden homelessness, creating a barrier to securing permanent social housing. This leaves families stuck in 
TA.180 While in TA, debt often worsens, with women especially resorting to borrowing to meet basic needs 
like food, rent, travel, and heating. The effects of this debt continue to impact individuals even after their 
homelessness situation has ended.180 Access to advice and support around debt and benefits is crucial in 
preventing and mitigating the impacts of homelessness.180 181 
 
I literally have about £60 to last a month with food.. the thing I don’t understand is that the food bank are only 
there to help people a certain amount of times, but it’s a situation that keeps happening.. I do appreciate… 
Universal Credit but the money is not stretching… I am trying to get myself to understand my entitlements.  

The experiences of families in TA in Westminster182 
 
The current landscape of health and wellbeing support for people in TA presents significant challenges, but 
also opportunities for improvement. While existing research provides some insights into the experiences of 
families with children, there are still gaps in understanding the full range of health and support needs for the 
broader population in TA. Closer system collaboration is necessary to better understand the needs of those 
living in TA. This should be driven by holistic approaches, co-designed with people with lived experience, and 

focus on bridging the gap between health and housing.176 Furthermore, there has been a significant rise in 

the number of households living in TA without children183 and there is a need to understand the challenges 
faced by single individuals in TA in North-East London and beyond, as the available data remains limited. 
 
There is a strong evidence base focusing on families with children but work is still to be done to understand 
the experiences of single adults living in TA. For this reason, the focus of this pillar is on families owing to the 
significant increase in this population living in TA and the growing evidence helping support understanding of 
some of the health, wellbeing and support needs of this population. We are defining a family as ‘a group of 
one or more parents or carers (including grandparents) living together with children aged 18 years and 
under.’ Our focus and pillar priorities were developed by a working group established of colleagues from 
heath, local authority housing and public health and the VCFSE.   
 
Drawing on our strategic opportunities, in particular building a call to action through system collaboration, 
early intervention and prevention, and tackling wider determinants of health, we aim to strengthen a 
preventative approach to reduce the risk of poor health outcomes for families living in temporary 
accommodation. We will: 

 

• Develop NEL best practice guidance on what holistic health and wellbeing support looks like 

for families living in TA, 

• Explore and test the use of a NEL system to inform and notify local services about new 

homeless situations for families, including a focus on health and wellbeing, to prevent further 

inequalities, 

• Identify and implement ways to include benefit and debt advice in women’s health services to 

prevent homelessness, 

• Continue to strengthen partnership working to understand and support the health and wellbeing 

needs of people living in TA. 

Page 103



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

22 

Pillar 5 – Develop the infrastructure to support people seeking asylum and 
refuge to understand, access and be supported by health, care and wider 

services 
 

‘We kind of exist below the healthcare system here. I have no idea what's going on and when 
I'm going to know something. So, I don't know if the UK system is good or bad, but I know it's so 

complicated.’ 
Qualitative Health Needs Assessment: Exploring the health and healthcare experiences of asylum seekers living in 

London hotels, London Borough of Newham, 2023184 

 
 
During 2024, around 123 million people globally were forcibly displaced from their homes as a result 
persecution, conflict, violence, human rights violations or events seriously disturbing public order; 40% of 
these people were children.185 When people are displaced, they are much more likely to seek sanctuary in 
another part of their home country, in a neighbouring country or in low or middle income countries.185 The UK 
ranks 20th in Europe in terms of the number of asylum applications per head of population. Countries where 
most of the world’s refugees come from include Syria, Afghanistan, Ukraine, Venezuela, and South Sudan.186 
 
London has provided refuge to those seeking sanctuary over many decades.186 The numbers of people 
seeking sanctuary and refuge globally, in the UK, London and in NEL, continues to rise. As of the end of 
2024, around 7,000 people seeking asylum were living in NEL, with Newham, Tower Hamlets and Redbridge 
having the highest number of people; Newham the highest in London.187 While waiting for an asylum 
decision188 people cannot work, claim benefits and have limited access to public services; the Home Office 
provides them with accommodation and a subsistence allowance. Around half of the people seeking asylum 
in NEL live in ‘contingency hotels’, provided by a private contractor, Clearsprings Ready Homes.Error! 
Bookmark not defined. People also come to the UK via government resettlement schemes which provide 
more support than the asylum process, to a much lower number of people.Error! Bookmark not defined.  
 
People who are granted the right to stay in the UK through refugee status are often at risk of homelessness 
and destitution, due to having low or no income, a lack of knowledge of their rights and options and an 
inability to access local authority housing services.189 190 The short window for moving on from asylum 
accommodation often leads to homelessness191 and destitution increases the likelihood of other risks, 

including work exploitation, modern slavery, and poor health.190 Whilst the numbers of people living in the UK 

with undocumented migrant status is not clear, people who have been refused asylum, do not understand the 
asylum system or who been trafficked are at increased risk of homelessness.192 193  
 
People seeking sanctuary often have complex health needs related to experiences prior to leaving their home 
country, during their journey and after arrival in the UK. As summarised in ‘the case for change (add link), 
untreated communicable diseases such as TB and hepatitis and long term conditions such as diabetes and 
hypertension are common health challenges.194 People seeking asylum and refuge are more likely to have 
experienced trauma and experience mental health problems including depression, anxiety and post-traumatic 
stress disorder (PTSD), along with social isolation.194 195 196 Perinatal outcomes are worse among migrant 
women including maternal mortality197 and one study showed 75% of unaccompanied children arriving in the 
UK had specific health issues including latent TB, hepatitis B, schistosomiasis (a parasitic disease) and 
mental health symptoms; a quarter were referred to sexual abuse services.198  
 
The Home Office199 steers the fundamental infrastructure that enables people to thrive in the UK; access to 
health and care services, education and employment, security and growth and housing, which underpins 
people’s whole life experiences. The current system however creates a range of challenges to building social 
connections, accessing services, and maintaining health and wellbeing.200 Access to employment and 
volunteering opportunities can not only enable income but reduce social isolation and health inequalities, as 
well as tapping into the diversity of people’s skills, talents and experiences.199 201 202 203 NEL based research 
evidenced how important health is for people seeking asylum; a core asset to building a new life.204 
 
The barriers and inequality of access to health and care services described in Pillar 2, including stigma and 
discrimination, not understanding the health system or their rights and language or digital access issues, 
further impact on people’s complex health needs.194 205 206A new health outreach service in NEL, provided by 

Page 104



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

23 

Doctors of the World207 supports people living in contingency hotels thorough assessing their health needs 
and supporting to access GP and wider services. Through the service we can also capture a better 
understanding of people’s health and wellbeing needs, creating evidence for further focus. 
 
Whilst people seeking asylum and granted refugee status are entitled to health care services without 
charge,208 209 the policies are complicated and vary across health services based on people’s status. For 
example, people are who are ‘undocumented’ can be charged for NHS secondary care deemed not urgent or 
immediately necessary. The complexity of the system impacts patients; with people often incorrectly being 
refused care or asked to pay upfront due to staff not being familiar with people’s rights.210 211 People may also 

avoid using services because of fear of being charged, detailed or deported.210 The ‘no recourse to public 

funds’ (NRPF) condition imposed on people with temporary immigration status212 can put people who are 
able to be discharged from hospital but require further health, care or housing support, at risk of 
homelessness and impact their health further.213 Access to social, welfare and legal advice can support and 
empower people and reduce the risk of homelessness, destitution and poor health and wellbeing, as well as 
reducing pressure on public services.214 215 216 
 
This pillar of the strategy was steered by a NEL partnership of colleagues from local authority, health and the 
VCFSE, which has existed for some time; working together to support people seeking asylum and refuge.  
Evidence presented here shows that the health and wellbeing needs of people seeking asylum and refugee 
are complex and that accessing care and support from health and wider services to meet their needs is 
incredibly difficult.  In adopting our wide definition of homelessness, the focus needed to address the health 
inequalities experienced by this population must happen across the pillars and cross-cutting themes of the 
strategy. As experts and service leads, our NEL partnership must help steer this, as well as leading the 
following set of priorities and projects to develop the infrastructure to support people seeking asylum and 
refuge to understand, access and be supported by health, care and wider services: 
 

‘Someone with a complex condition which hasn’t been monitored for several years, I’d normally refer to the 
specialty team, but then they might get charged. These are the patients I go to bed thinking about.’ 

Dr Lucy Langford, Newham GP 217 
 
Pillar 5 has been shaped by a longstanding NEL partnership of local authorities, health, and the VCFSE 
sector, working to support people seeking asylum and refuge. This population’s complex needs and the 
persistent barriers they face means tackling these inequalities must be a priority across all pillars and cross-
cutting themes of the strategy. As experts and service leaders, the NEL partnership will continue to guide this 
work and lead key priorities and projects to build the infrastructure that enables people seeking asylum and 
refuge to understand, access, and be supported by health, care, and wider services. We will: 

 
“They are not like doctors in our country. They are like friends. It’s a secure place. They are so 
kind. When my husband fell into depression, the doctor was worried. Not just about him, but 

about me. They hold our hand every time we have an appointment.” 
Qualitative Health Needs Assessment: Exploring the health and healthcare experiences of asylum seekers living in 

London hotels, London Borough of Newham, 2023  

• Work to become an ‘ICS of Sanctuary’ through the City of Sanctuary award. 

• Build an understanding of the population, their health and wellbeing needs, and gather evidence 

to design, deliver and evaluate projects and services. 

• Develop and implement a NEL approach to provide social, welfare and legal advice to support 

people to be safely discharged from hospital, including those with no recourse to public funds. 

• Establish and pilot interventions to support refugees into employment, volunteering and learning 

opportunities. 

• Continue to strengthen how people and partners in NEL work together to support and improve 

outcomes for people seeking asylum and refuge. 

•  

Page 105



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

24 

Cross-cutting themes 
 
The three homeless health cross-cutting themes represent fundamental areas of focus that fit and are evident 
across each of the five pillars, as well as representing important areas of focus in their own right to support 
and enable improved health and social outcomes for people experiencing homelessness. 
 
This section of the strategy presents the evidence and the priorities agreed against the NEL Homeless Health 
Strategy’s three cross-cutting themes; safeguarding, workforce development and data, intelligence and 
evaluation. 

 
Safeguarding 
 
The protection of people’s health, wellbeing and human rights through safeguarding is an integral part of 
high-quality health and care services and a collective responsibility. The experience and threat of 
homelessness often places people at significant risk of harm, exploitation, and neglect, making safeguarding 
a critical concern. As with all health inequalities, the risk of harm, exploitation or neglect is driven by the 
complexity of people’s health challenges, experiences of trauma and social isolation and deep barriers to 
accessing services. Safeguarding is therefore a central cross-cutting theme of this strategy, woven through 
the ambitions and priorities of each of the pillars and other cross-cutting themes, aiming to prevent harm and 
improve people’s lives.   
 
The focus for safeguarding in relation to people experiencing homelessness is more typically focused on 
adults, however in taking a wide definition of homelessness, safeguarding children is also vital, for example in 
relation to families at risk domestic violence, vulnerable migrant families and unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children.218 Homelessness, particularly rough sleeping is traumatic, lonely, and scary for anyone, but women 
are more vulnerable to the dangers, facing a high risk of violence, abuse, and exploitation.28 
 
The integration and strengthening of safeguarding for people experiencing homelessness is an area of 
development. 219 London based research has shown that local safeguarding boards are not consistently or 
collectively focusing on people experiencing homelessness or initiating reviews when people die homeless.  
Work with the Groundswell London Participation Network in 2023 showed that people with lived experience of 
homelessness feel the culture of safeguarding practice can be disempowering, with people seen as a risk 
rather than being vulnerable to risks, reducing trust. 220 Furthermore, different approaches taken by 
organisations to safeguarding can be confusing, with people often not knowing their legal rights, for example 
how to challenge treatment or service decisions.  
 
The second national analysis of safeguarding adult reviews (SARs – undertaken when an adult who needs 
care and support has died or experienced serious abuse or neglect), found a rise in SARs related to self-
neglect, domestic abuse and substance dependency.221 Assumptions of lifestyle choice in cases of self-
neglect or homelessness were deemed problematic, as well as shortcomings in understanding lived 
experience and trauma. Learning from SARs indicates that transitions, including hospital discharge or moving 
into an independent tenancy, can be positive opportunities for people to move forward in their lives. However, 
transitions quickly become ‘cliff edges’ when multi-agency arrangements fail and when people make 
transitions without appropriate accommodation and support in place.219 
 
A joint ministerial letter to safeguarding adults boards in 2024 strengthens requirements for a more strategic 
approach to safeguarding for people experiencing homelessness, including for boards to have a named lead 
for homelessness and governance that holds partners collectively accountable. Best practice221 and regional 
guidance222 steers the need for a person-centred, integrated partnership approach to this complex area of 
safeguarding, that recognises the heightened risks of abuse, neglect, or exploitation faced by people 
experiencing homelessness and the need to ensure that vulnerable people are protected better.  A further 
call seeks a specific focus on the prevention of premature deaths for people in inclusion health groups, with 
an explicit focus on their discrete experiences of harm, abuse and neglect (including self-neglect) being 
crucial to saving lives.219 
 
Protecting people’s health, wellbeing and human rights through safeguarding is crucial in each of the pillars of 
the NEL homeless health strategy, whether we’re focused on hospital admission and discharge, access to 

Page 106



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

25 

• Strengthen the strategic focus on all forms of homelessness in safeguarding by working with 

partners through the Safeguarding Adults Boards and beyond, committing to new areas of 

development and practice, 

• Bring together people working on safeguarding and homelessness to develop knowledge, 

relationships and practice, strengthening collaboration and collective focus on the population, 

• Capture what’s happening across the NEL system to see where best practice could be spread and 

improvements achieved. 

and support from primary care, the provision of joined-up mental health and substance misuse services, or 
end of life care. Furthermore pillars 4 and 5 have a focus on specific populations and needs, for which a 
collective focus on safeguarding adults and children is vital.   
 
In order to strengthen our approach, through this cross-cutting theme we will: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Workforce development  
 
As well as being a NEL ICS priority,223 workforce development is one of the key principles for action in the 
national inclusion health framework.5 This steers the importance of developing the workforce structure to 
deliver integrated health, care, and support differently, equipping people with the knowledge and skills to 
reduce health inequalities, focusing on staff wellbeing and retention and creating opportunities for 
employment and career development for local people.132 224 225 
 
To address the complex needs of people experiencing homelessness, core services need to be more 
inclusive, accessible and person-centred and specialist services need to be funded, supported, grown and 
sustained. Evidence suggests that workforce development is required in many of these areas, reflecting the 
wider capacity and strategic issues facing public and VCFSE services, but also the need to raise addressing 
health inequalities and prevention on the agendas of systems and organisations.6 48 226 Specialist services 
supporting people experiencing homelessness are often funded in short term, piecemeal ways, making 
attracting, retaining and developing staff extremely hard.227 228 As described in our strategic opportunities, 
consistency in staff and service is a vital if services are to improve health, and social outcomes for people 
experiencing homelessness.6 72 
  
Learning and development for staff around health inequalities, inclusion health groups and homelessness is 
vital and needs to be tailored to the type of service being provided, be it mainstream or specialist. This can 
include a focus on population profiles and needs, entitlements to care, safeguarding, a focus on the impact 
trauma and digital inclusion, as well as space to reflect and be supported by peers.5 6 229 230 231 Working to 
support and improve the health and wellbeing of people who are the most socially excluded from society can 
be rewarding and fulfilling, but also impactful on people’s wellbeing. This can be particularly true when a 
service is stretched, uncertain and people feel they are not able to make enough of a difference or indeed 
they have their own lived experience of homelessness or trauma or are at risk of homelessness. Evidence 
exists for the type of initiatives that can make a difference including peer support and psychological 
interventions.227 232 233 234 
 
Creating opportunities for employment, skills and career development for people with lived experience of 
homelessness offers many advantages for organisations, systems and individuals. For organisations this 
includes gaining a deeper understanding of the people they serve, developing more informed solutions, 
building credibility through trust and inspiration and breaking down barriers and stigma through a more 
diverse and inclusive workforce. For individuals, routes into employment and skill development can support 
inclusion and stability through income, a sense of empowerment and growth, enable skills and abilities 
recognised, improve connections and aid career progression.235 236 237 
 
Taking a holistic workforce approach we will enable workforce development across our homeless health 
pillars in the ways identified in and utilise our system workforce strategies and priorities, along with wider 
evidence and best practice to: 

Page 107



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

26 

• Increase the knowledge, understanding and system leadership of the value and impact of 

consistently funded, high quality, specialist services to support people experiencing 

homelessness, making the case for strategic investment, 

• Scope and establish a learning and development programme that will equip people in 

mainstream and specialist services with the knowledge and skills to reduce health inequalities and 

improve outcomes for people in inclusion health groups, building on what exists or is being 

established, such as learning around trauma informed care, 

• Work with colleagues across NEL to scope and implement interventions to support staff 

wellbeing; based on evidence of what works and what people say would be impactful, 

• Work with system partners to create opportunities into employment and career development for 

people with experience of or who are at risk of homelessness. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Data intelligence and evaluation  
 
The NEL definition of homelessness is broad, including those who are roofless, houseless, living in insecure 
accommodation, and living in inadequate housing. This comprehensive definition aims to be inclusive of all 
groups experiencing homelessness, including vulnerable migrant populations, the Gypsy Roma and Traveller 
(GRT) communities, sex workers, and individuals in contact with the criminal justice system. However, data 
and intelligence around people experiencing homelessness and wider inclusion health groups, though 
available in some forms, is often limited, incomplete and doesn’t articulate the full extent of the health needs 
within this population. A report from Pathway highlighted that these groups are often ‘invisible’ or under-

represented in health data.55  

Many factors influence the current state of inclusion health data in north-east London and beyond, which 
have been identified through the narrative of this strategy. As a system, we currently do not understand the 
demographics and needs of those experiencing homelessness due to the barriers experienced when trying to 
access health care. For example, research shows that around two-thirds of GPs refuse to register patients 
without an address, contrary to NHS guidelines on access to healthcare.50 238 Another study showed 65.5% of 
rough sleepers were registered with a GP, compared to 98% of the general population.239 Additionally, many 
individuals face a lack of trust in the system and encounter stigma from frontline staff, hindering their ability to 
seek care.50 Another key challenge is digital exclusion; as healthcare moves increasingly toward digital 
platforms, many in this population lack access to the necessary digital resources to engage with these 
services.71 This digital divide can impede the interaction with health services, thereby hindering data 
collection. 

Data fragmentation is also a critical issue. The transient nature of the homeless population, combined with 
the absence of integrated data systems across health and social care providers, leads to isolated and 
incomplete data. This makes it difficult to gain a full picture of people’s healthcare needs even when they are 
interacting with services. Coupled with this is the lack of standardisation in data collection due to inconsistent 
classification, recording and coding of homelessness, inclusion health and wider information such as housing 
status. This issue is particularly prevalent for those experiencing hidden homelessness, insecure housing, or 
inadequate housing. Without standardisation, it is difficult to aggregate or compare data effectively across 
different settings.55 People often report experiencing stigma, discrimination and a lack of trust in health and 
care services so, they may be reluctant to fully engage and declare their personal and demographic 
information.240 More broadly, data that drives a focus on health inequalities is often analysed by 
accommodation postcodes or demographic information based on protected characteristics,241 through which 
it is not easily possible to identify people in inclusion health groups facing extreme health inequalities. A 
proposed solution to this issue is a better system for recording housing status as proxy for identifying people 
in inclusion health groups.242 

Importantly, understanding what matters to people and what works must be captured in a range of ways, 
beyond quantitative data. This requires collaborating with people who have lived experience of homelessness 

Page 108



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

27 

• Collaborate with partners to develop an inclusion health needs assessment that encompasses the 

broad definition of homelessness to build understanding of the health needs of the inclusion health 

population in NEL, 

• Embed a unified definition of inclusion health across NEL and implement standardised coding 

practices in both primary and secondary care settings to enhance data capture, quality, and 

comparability, 

• Improve data sharing between sectors and organisations to enable holistic, personalised and 

joined up care planning through the Universal Care Plan, a pan-London digital care plan that puts the 

patient at the centre of their care, ensuring their wishes and preferences are always considered by 

health professionals caring for them, 

• Identify key outcome measures to determine which metrics are most relevant to understand and 

measure the impact of interventions, informing strategic action, 

• Develop and support the use of a range of research and evaluation methods to evidence population 

needs and the impact of services. 

 

(see ‘our strategic opportunities’) and using creative, broad evidence collection - employing qualitative 
research, varied evaluation approaches, and engaging tools to share insights effectively.5 11  

Good quality data, intelligence and evaluation is key to understanding the health needs of our population to 
prevent and address health inequalities. To effectively address the health and social needs of people 
experiencing homelessness, we must harness the power of data and intelligence by improving data 
collection, sharing and analysis, in alignment with our NEL ICS Joint Forward Plan,62 to ‘identify the most 
vulnerable people living locally including those not using services and those frequently using services to 
provide more targeted and proactive support which better meets their needs.’   

Through this cross-cutting theme we will: 

 

  

Page 109

https://ucp.onelondon.online/about/


 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

28 

Remaining meaningful and areas of developing focus 
 
Over the next five years, the strategy will evolve in response to national and local developments, ensuring it 
remains meaningful, dynamic and aligned with changing priorities and community and population needs.  In 
practice this means we will draw strongly on the cross-cutting theme of data, intelligence and evaluation; 
capturing and demonstrating impact, improvement and learning through action steered by the strategy and 
using this to inform what we focus on in the future. 
 
Whilst the ambitions of this strategy are extensive and will necessitate significant focus, resource and joint 
working, there are emerging areas of risk and opportunity that as we look to the future will require 
consideration. These areas include the risks associated with climate change243 and the impact that this will 
have on the most vulnerable populations; and the opportunities that taking a joint ICS and population health 
approach offers in addressing the underlying causes of homelessness and preventing people becoming 
homelessness.  
 
Climate change  
 
The Greater London Authority published the London climate resilience review in July 2024244 recognising that 
climate change will impact Londoners disproportionately depending on socio-economic and demographic 
factors such as age and ethnicity. The CDP245 has also established that the UK’s most marginalised and 
vulnerable health groups are the most at risk from climate change as their specific health and social 
vulnerabilities heighten the risk of illness and death during severe weather.  
 
Climate change means that people sleeping rough will be exposed not only to severe winter weather but also 
increasingly hotter summers, particularly in heavily urbanised areas such as London. The impact of increased 
temperatures can intensify risk factors in people sleeping rough and those in insecure housing, due to the 
presence of underlying physical and mental health conditions, drug and alcohol dependencies, reduced 
access to air-conditioned or shaded environments, drinking water, and increased social isolation. The result 
of which is that people experiencing homelessness are at an elevated risk of hospitalisation associated with 
even moderately high temperatures.246 Considering this, areas that require further scoping include: 

 

• Reviewing extreme weather protocols that set out the actions needed in extreme hot or storm 

conditions – taking learning from current protocols such as ‘SWEP’.247 

• Adaptation planning – understanding the risks to homeless populations and incorporating these into 

planning for climate change across the system, examples could include ensuring public spaces have 

dedicated shaded areas and drinking water facilities and testing the climate resilience of temporary 

accommodation  

• Training staff in the homelessness and housing sector about the impacts of climate change and air 

pollution on those experiencing homelessness 

• Understanding the impact of climate change in driving migration to the UK   

• Continuing to embed the work on the NEL Green Plan to decarbonise the NHS and improve air quality 

 
Housing, health and wider partnerships 
 
ICSs are in a key position to take forward the work outlined in this strategy and to maximise the opportunities 
that greater joint working between the health and care system and housing, particularly with a focus on the 
most excluded populations.248 249 We are proud that the collaboration of housing and health is explicitly 
recognised in pillar four and more collaborative approaches are required to tackle some of the most systemic 
issues we face be it climate change or the supply of good quality affordable housing.   
 
This has been recognised in the recent publication of ICS housing profiles by the GLA250 resource that aims 
to support people working across the system to understand and work jointly to mitigate the key housing-
related issues that drive poor health in London, with a focus on housing quality, security and affordability.  As 
the ICS develops and as the ambitions of the strategy are met there should be a greater emphasis on how 

Page 110



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

29 

we can drive integration between health and housing. As a starting point the collective understanding of what 
our NEL housing profile is telling us will enable a series of conversations with system partners to develop a 
new approach to tackling health inequalities in NEL. Furthermore, there are opportunities to consider the use 
of NHS estates and buildings to support vulnerable communities, including people experiencing 
homelessness.251 Beyond the ICS, we will make opportunities to work with wider partners, including the 
police and criminal justice system, to align, integrate and address the needs of people experiencing 
homelessness together. 
 
Population health approaches for prevention 
 
Taking a preventative approach to health inequalities and homelessness is further supported by our 
population health approach in NEL. Work is being piloted in our some of our place-based partnerships, 
exploring what a population health preventative approach could look like for those most at risk of becoming 
homeless, addressing the risks of homelessness before the point of crisis. The London Borough of Barking 
and Dagenham and place health partners are piloting a tool that uses predicative analytics (bringing together 
disconnected datasets) to identify people at risk of becoming homeless, flagging warning signs like missed 
utility payments or health issues that could be linked to homelessness and triggering wrap around support to 
help prevent the situation tipping into crisis. To be rolled out in 2025/26, this pilot will be evaluated to assess 
whether it can be scaled up as an ICS wide approach to preventing homelessness. 
 

Conclusion and next steps 
 
Due to the cumulative impact of austerity, cost-of-living increases, and the national housing crisis, more 
people in NEL are facing the insecurity of becoming homeless. The impact of this on individuals and our 
wider system is profound and this strategy sets out how as the NHS, we are working strategically with our 
partners to achieve change to ensure people are supported at their most vulnerable time.   

As this strategy is being published at a time of transition for Integrated Care Boards (ICBs), the role of 
strategic commissioning becomes more prominent and there is an increased emphasis on neighbourhood-
level working. This presents valuable opportunities to implement the strategy at Place, while the ICB 
maintains a strategic role in measuring impact and ensuring that the call to action is heard and acted upon. 
The strategy will be approved, monitored, and periodically renewed by the ICB Board. A development plan 
will underpin its delivery and will be regularly refreshed to align with evolving policy and service-level 
changes.  With many areas of focus in the strategy already underway and much best practice across NEL, 
we need to be bold as a system to achieve more together and we are excited to formalise this commitment 
through the NEL Homeless Health Strategy.  

 

Contact us  

To find out more about the NEL Homeless Health Strategy, contact the NEL Integrated Care Board, Health 

Inequalities Team: 

• Ellie Hobart: ellie.hobart@nhs.net 

• Nicola Weaver: n.weaver@nhs.net 

• Melody Dhinda-Rees: melody.dhinda-rees@nhs.net 
  

Page 111



 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

30 

References 
 

 
1 Public Health England. Health disparities and health inequalities: applying All Our Health. 2022 
2 Public Health England. Wider determinants of health. 2018 
3 NHS England. Core20PLUS5 (adults) – an approach to reducing health inequalities.  
4 NHS England. Core20PLUS5 – an approach to reducing health inequalities for children and young people.  
5 NHS England. A national framework for NHS – action on inclusion health. 2023 
6 NICE Guideline. Integrated health and social care outcomes for people experiencing homelessness [NG214]. 2022 
7 NHS England. Inclusion health groups.  
8 British Medical Association. The impact of the pandemic on population health and health inequalities. 2024 
9 North East London ICB Board. NEL ICB Board Meeting. 29 January 2025 
10 North East London Health and Care Partnership. People and Culture Strategy 2024 – 2028. 2024 
11 Public Health England. Guidance - homelessness: applying All Our Health. 2019 
12 London Councils. Press release: £90m monthly spending on homelessness accommodation ‘threatens bankruptcy 
boroughs’ 2024 
13 Crisis UK. Understanding Society: do black and minority ethnic communities experience more homelessness?  
14 Crisis UK. Homelessness and intersectionality.  
15 Brugha, T. S., McManus, S., Bankart, J., Scott, F., Purdon, S., Smith, J., Bebbington, P., Jenkins, R., & Meltzer, H. 
Epidemiology of autism spectrum disorder in adults in the community in England. 2011 
16 Ministry of Justice. Accommodation, homelessness and reoffending of prisoners: results from the surveying prisoner 
crime reduction (SPCR) survey. 2012 
17 Homeless Link. Seeking solutions to prevent homelessness for people. 2024 
18 Ministry of Justice. Accommodation, homelessness and reoffending of prisoners: results from the surveying prisoner 
crime reduction (SPCR) survey. 2012 
19 English collective of prostitutes. Prostitution: what you need to know. 
20 Crisis. The hidden truth about homelessness: experiencing of single homelessness in England. 2011 
21 UK Parliament. Evidence on tackling inequalities faced by Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities.  
22 Parry, G., Cleemput, P. V., Peters, V., Walters, S., Thomas, K., & Cooper, C. Health status of Gypsies and Travellers in 
England. 2007  
23 Friends, Families & Travellers. How to tackle health inequalities in Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities: a guide 
for health and care services. 2025 
24 University of Manchester. Study reveals huge ethnic minority health inequalities. 2021 
25 CHAIN. Rough sleeping in London. 2024 
26 Ibid. 
27 DLUHC. Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2021. 2022 
28 Single Homeless Project. What is homelessness like for women? 
29 MHCLG & DLUHC. Tables on homelessness. 2021 (revised 2025) 
30 Home Office Visibility Tool 
31 St Mungo’s. Helping people sleeping rough from Europe and beyond. 2017 
32 Rogans-Watson, R., Shulman, C., Lewer, D., Armstrong, Am & Husdon, B. Premature frailty, geriatric conditions and 
multimorbidity among people experiencing homelessness: a cross sectional observational study in a London hostel. 
2020 
33 Mantell, R., Hwang, Ye In Jane., Radford, K., Perkovic, S., Cullen, P., & Withall, A. Accelerated ageing in people 
experiencing homelessness: a rapid review of frailty prevalence and determinants. 2023. 
34 Travers, J., Cronin, T., O’Carroll, A. & Smith, S. The prevalence of frailty among people experiencing homelessness 
attending a primary care clinic: a service evaluation and quality improvement initiative. 2024 
35 Homeless Link. Unhealthy State of Homelessness 2022: findings from the homeless health needs audit. 2024. 
36 Bristol Public Health. People experiencing homelessness in Bristol. Health Needs Analysis. 2022 
37 Pathway. Evaluation of the London Pathway for Homeless Patients. UCLH. 2010 
38 ONS. Deaths of homeless people. 2022 
39 Museum of Homelessness. Dying Homeless Project. 2023 
40 Homeless Link. Brain injury and homelessness. 2022 
41 Lankelly Chase Foundation. Hard edges: mapping severe and multiple disadvantage. 2015 
42 Homeless Link. Unhealthy State of Homelessness 2022: findings from the homeless health needs audit. 2024. 
43 Crisis UK. It’s No Life At All. 2016 
44 BMA. Refugee and asylum seeker patient health toolkit – unique health challenges for refugees and asylum seekers. 
2024 
45 NEL Insights. Homelessness Population Health Profile. 2024 
46 The Kings Fund. Delivering health and care for people who rough sleep: going above and beyond. 2020 
47 Public Health England. Making Every Contact Count (MECC). 2016 

 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-disparities-and-health-inequalities-applying-all-our-health/health-disparities-and-health-inequalities-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england-2018/chapter-6-wider-determinants-of-health
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/core20plus5-cyp/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-for-nhs-action-on-inclusion-health/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng214
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/what-are-healthcare-inequalities/inclusion-health-groups/
https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/covid-19/what-the-bma-is-doing/the-impact-of-the-pandemic-on-population-health-and-health-inequalities#:~:text=Reduced%20access%20to%20care%20has,English%20as%20their%201st%20language.
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/board-meetings/north-east-london-icb-board-meeting-8/
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/people-and-culture-strategy/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-applying-all-our-health/homelessness-applying-all-our-health
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/news-and-press-releases/2024/ps90m-monthly-spending-homeless-accommodation-threatens-bankrupt#:~:text=The%20number%20of%20London%20households,50%20residents%20of%20the%20capital.
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/news-and-press-releases/2024/ps90m-monthly-spending-homeless-accommodation-threatens-bankrupt#:~:text=The%20number%20of%20London%20households,50%20residents%20of%20the%20capital.
https://www.understandingsociety.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/case-studies/explainer-black-homelessness.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/homelessness-intersectionality/
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapsychiatry/fullarticle/211276
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/278806/homelessness-reoffending-prisoners.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/278806/homelessness-reoffending-prisoners.pdf
https://homeless.org.uk/news/seeking-solutions-to-prevent-homelessness-for-people-leaving-prison/#:~:text=In%20recent%20years%2C%20several%20housing,some%20of%20the%20ongoing%20issues.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/278806/homelessness-reoffending-prisoners.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/278806/homelessness-reoffending-prisoners.pdf
https://prostitutescollective.net/prostitution-what-you-need-to-know-briefing/?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/236816/the_hidden_truth_about_homelessness_es.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/88627/html/#:~:text=GRT%20accommodation%20and%20homelessness.%20This%20includes%20removing,carry%20out%20stand%2Dalone%20assessments%20of%20GRT%20housing
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17325395/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17325395/
https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/SS00-Health-inequalities_FINAL-2.pdf
https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/SS00-Health-inequalities_FINAL-2.pdf
https://www.manchester.ac.uk/about/news/study-reveals-huge-ethnic-minority-health-inequalities/
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/chain-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2021/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2021
https://www.shp.org.uk/homelessness-explained/what-is-homelessness-like-for-women/#:~:text=Hiding%20from%20safety%20but%20also,their%20physical%20and%20mental%20health.
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness
https://www.mungos.org/helping-people-sleeping-rough-from-europe-and-beyond/#:~:text=We%20know%20of%20some%20who%20have%20died.,assistance%20that%20is%20possible%20for%20UK%20citizens.
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/hcs-05-2020-0007/full/html
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/hcs-05-2020-0007/full/html
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10061143/#:~:text=Fourteen%20studies%20were%20included%2C%20which,and%20functional%20decline%20in%20PEH.
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10061143/#:~:text=Fourteen%20studies%20were%20included%2C%20which,and%20functional%20decline%20in%20PEH.
https://academic.oup.com/ageing/article/53/Supplement_4/afae178.089/7791117
https://academic.oup.com/ageing/article/53/Supplement_4/afae178.089/7791117
https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/unhealthy-state-of-homelessness-2022-findings-from-the-homeless-health-needs-audit/
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/files/documents/5755-hna-people-experiencing-homelessness-bristol/file
https://www.pathway.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/London_Pathway_Evaluation.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsofhomelesspeopleinenglandandwales/2021registrations#deaths-of-homeless-people-data
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/623b05f9825aa34cda99921f/t/670f5b0eea634800ab76b9f1/1729059636310/2023+Museum+of+Homelessness+report+of+findings+on+homeless+deaths+FINAL.pdf
https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/brain-injury-and-homelessness/
https://e9a68owtza6.exactdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Hard-Edges-Mapping-SMD-2015.pdf
https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/unhealthy-state-of-homelessness-2022-findings-from-the-homeless-health-needs-audit/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/types-of-homelessness/its-no-life-at-all-2016/
https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/ethics/refugees-overseas-visitors-and-vulnerable-migrants/refugee-and-asylum-seeker-patient-health-toolkit/unique-health-challenges-for-refugees-and-asylum-seekers
https://assets.kingsfund.org.uk/f/256914/x/506df18ee7/delivering_health_care_for_people_who_sleep_rough_2020.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/making-every-contact-count.pdf


 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

31 

 
48 Pathway. Always at the bottom of the pile: The Homeless and Inclusion Health Barometer. 2024 
49 Homeless Link. How can homelessness services be expected to deliver with only short-term funding? 2025 
50 Bowie, M., K. Two-thirds of GPs refuse to register homeless patients. HSJ. 2023 
51 King’s College London. Regular GP services face challenges to provide adequate care for people who are homeless, 
study finds. 2023 
52 Homeless Link. Mental health and homelessness: breaking the stigma cycle. 2023 
53 Cornes, M. ‘Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of ‘Usual Care’ versus ‘Specialist Integrated Care.’ Kings College 
London. 2023 
54 Pathway. Transforming Hospital Care for Inclusion Health: Improving Treatment, Discharge and Community Links. 
2024 
55 Fryer, W., Schachieff, F., Kearsey, E., Sugecmez, E., & Ibbot, R. The unseen struggle: the invisibility of homelessness 
in NHS data. 2024 
56 Crisis. Better than cure? 2016 
57 The Connection. Ending homelessness isn’t just morally right, it’s cost effective. 2024 
58 DLHC & MHCLG. Statutory homelessness in England: financial year 2020-2021. 2021.  
59 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Health disparities and health inequalities: applying All Our Health. 2022 
60 The Kings Fund. The hidden problems behind delayed discharges and their costs. 2023.  
61 The Kings Fund. The government’s 10-year-plan for health and care. 2024 
62 North East London Health & Care Partnership. Our Joint Forward Plan. 2023 (refreshed 2024) 
63 UK Parliament. Inter-Ministerial Group on Tackling Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Winter Pressures 24/25 
Funding. 2024 
64 UK Parliament. Inter-Ministerial Group on Tackling Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Winter Pressures 24/25 
Funding. 2024 
65 Mayor of London. Ending rough sleeping.  
66 The Kings Fund. If integrated care cannot tackle inclusion health, we should all be worried. 2022 
67 North East London Integrated Care Board. ICB Board. 2025 
68 NHS Employers. Recruiting people with experience of homelessness toolkit. 2025 
69 DHSC. Tasking statements for the 10 Year Health Plan working groups. 2024 
70 DHSC. Road to recovery: the government’s 2025 mandate to NHS England. 2025 
71 Groundswell. Listen Up! Insights 3: Digital inclusion and exclusion. 2024. 
72 Healthy London Partnership. Health care and people who are homeless: Commissioning guidance for London. 2016 
(revised 2019) 
73 Shelter. No Wrong Door. 2022 
74 The Kings Fund. Delivering health and care for people who rough sleep: going above and beyond. 2020 
75 Health Equity Evidence Centre. What works: how can integrated neighbourhood teams reduce health inequalities in 
health and health care? 2025 
76 Centre for Homelessness Impact. “Discharge back to the streets”: how can we ensure people leaving institutions have 
a home? 2020. 
77 Pathway. Homelessness: a major challenge for the NHS. 2025 
78 Kings College London. ‘Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of ‘Usual Care’ versus ‘Specialist Integrated Care.’ 2023 
79 Pathway. Transforming Hospital Care for Inclusion Health: Improving Treatment, Discharge and Community Links. 
2024 
80 NEL Insights. Population Health Profile – Homelessness. 2024 
81 Kurtzman, L. Homeless people suffer geriatric conditions decades early, UCSF study shows. 2016 
82 Mantell, R., Hwang, Ye In Jane., Radford, K., Perkovic, S., Cullen, P., & Withall, A. Accelerated ageing in people 
experiencing homelessness: a rapid review of frailty prevalence and determinants. 2023. 
83 Rogans-Watson, R., Shulman, C., Lewer, D., Armstrong, Am & Husdon, B. Premature frailty, geriatric conditions and 
multimorbidity among people experiencing homelessness: a cross sectional observational study in a London hostel. 
2020 
84 Malden S, Doi L, Ng L, Cuthill F. Reducing hospital readmissions amongst people experiencing homelessness: a 
mixed-methods evaluation of a multi-disciplinary hospital in-reach programme. BMC Public Health. 2023. 
85 MHCLG, DHSC, DLUHC. Guidance: discharging people at risk or experiencing homelessness. 2024 
86 NHS England. Supporting people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping: emergency department pathway, 
checklist and toolkit. 2022. 
87 MHCLG, DLUHC. Guidance: a guide to the duty to refer. 2018 
88 Pathway. Bristol service evaluation of Homeless Support Team Pilot in Bristol Royal Infirmary. 2019 
89 Khan, Z., McCrone, P. and Koehne, S. ‘Impact on the use and cost of other services following intervention by an 
inpatient pathway homelessness team in an acute mental health hospital’, Journal of Mental Health. 2020 
90 Gazey, A., Wood, L. J., Cumming, C. and Chapple, N. Royal Perth Hospital Team: a report on the first two and a half 
years of operation. 2019.  
91 Hewett, N. Evaluation of the London Pathway for Homeless Patients. 2010. 

 

Page 113

https://www.pathway.org.uk/resources/barometer2024/
https://homeless.org.uk/news/how-can-homelessness-services-be-expected-to-deliver-with-only-short-term-funding/
https://www.hsj.co.uk/primary-care/two-thirds-of-gps-refuse-to-register-homeless-patients/7035028.article
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/news/regular-gp-services-face-challenges-to-provide-adequate-care-for-people-who-are-homeless-study-finds
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/news/regular-gp-services-face-challenges-to-provide-adequate-care-for-people-who-are-homeless-study-finds
https://homeless.org.uk/news/mental-health-and-homelessness-breaking-the-stigma-cycle/
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/hospital-discharge-and-homelessness
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/12/Transforming-Hospital-Care-for-Inclusion-Health-Improving-Treatment-Discharge-and-Community-Links.pdf
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/07/The-unseen-struggle-the-invisibility-of-homelessness-in-NHS-data-CF-and-Pathway-Report.pdf
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/07/The-unseen-struggle-the-invisibility-of-homelessness-in-NHS-data-CF-and-Pathway-Report.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/cost-of-homelessness/better-than-cure-2016/
https://www.connection-at-stmartins.org.uk/news-item/ending-homelessness-isnt-just-morally-right-its-cost-effective/#:~:text=The%20NHS%20spends%20an%20estimated,wellbeing%20of%20the%20homeless%20population.
https://www.connection-at-stmartins.org.uk/news-item/ending-homelessness-isnt-just-morally-right-its-cost-effective/#:~:text=The%20NHS%20spends%20an%20estimated,wellbeing%20of%20the%20homeless%20population.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-disparities-and-health-inequalities-applying-all-our-health/health-disparities-and-health-inequalities-applying-all-our-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/hidden-problems-delayed-discharges#:~:text=That%20means%20that%20the%20direct,at%20least%20%C2%A31.7%20billion.
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/projects/governments-long-term-plan-health-and-care
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/our-joint-forward-plan/
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-11-06/hcws194
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-11-06/hcws194
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-11-06/hcws194
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-11-06/hcws194
https://www.london.gov.uk/join-our-mission-end-rough-sleeping
https://www.london.gov.uk/join-our-mission-end-rough-sleeping
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/NHS-North-East-London-ICB-Board-26.03.2025-v2.pdf
https://www.nhsemployers.org/toolkits/recruiting-people-experience-homelessness-toolkit?utm_campaign=1832108_NHS%20Workforce%20Bulletin%3A%207%20October%202024&utm_medium=email&utm_source=NHS%20Confederation&dm_i=6OI9,139NW,2IO1Y7,50IYW,1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-group-tasks-10-year-health-plan/tasking-statements-for-the-10-year-health-plan-working-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/road-to-recovery-the-governments-2025-mandate-to-nhs-england/road-to-recovery-the-governments-2025-mandate-to-nhs-england#:~:text=Our%2010%20Year%20Health%20Plan,and%20from%20sickness%20to%20prevention.
https://groundswell.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Listen-Up-Insight-3_Digital-inclusion-and-exclusion.pdf
https://www.transformationpartners.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/April-2019-Revised-Commissioning-Guidance.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/what_we_do/inspiring_change_manchester/our_work/no_wrong_door
https://assets.kingsfund.org.uk/f/256914/x/506df18ee7/delivering_health_care_for_people_who_sleep_rough_2020.pdf
https://www.heec.co.uk/resource/what-works-how-can-integrated-neighbourhood-teams-reduce-inequalities-in-health-and-health-care/#:~:text=Proximity%20of%20care%20and%20co,patients%20%5B26%5D%5B27%5D.
https://www.heec.co.uk/resource/what-works-how-can-integrated-neighbourhood-teams-reduce-inequalities-in-health-and-health-care/#:~:text=Proximity%20of%20care%20and%20co,patients%20%5B26%5D%5B27%5D.
https://www.homelessnessimpact.org/news/discharged-back-to-the-streets-how-can-we-ensure-people-leaving-institutions-have-a-home
https://www.homelessnessimpact.org/news/discharged-back-to-the-streets-how-can-we-ensure-people-leaving-institutions-have-a-home
https://www.pathway.org.uk/partnership-programme/why-were-needed/
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/hospital-discharge-and-homelessness
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/12/Transforming-Hospital-Care-for-Inclusion-Health-Improving-Treatment-Discharge-and-Community-Links.pdf
https://www.ucsf.edu/news/2016/02/403511/homeless-people-suffer-geriatric-conditions-decades-early-ucsf-study-shows
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10061143/#:~:text=Fourteen%20studies%20were%20included%2C%20which,and%20functional%20decline%20in%20PEH.
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10061143/#:~:text=Fourteen%20studies%20were%20included%2C%20which,and%20functional%20decline%20in%20PEH.
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/hcs-05-2020-0007/full/html
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/hcs-05-2020-0007/full/html
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10258765/#:~:text=Introduction,an%20evaluation%20of%20the%20programme.
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10258765/#:~:text=Introduction,an%20evaluation%20of%20the%20programme.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discharging-people-at-risk-of-or-experiencing-homelessness/discharging-people-at-risk-of-or-experiencing-homelessness
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/B1263-Supporting-people-experiencing-homelessness-and-rough-sleeping.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/B1263-Supporting-people-experiencing-homelessness-and-rough-sleeping.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-duty-to-refer/a-guide-to-the-duty-to-refer
https://www.homelessnessandhealth.co.uk/events/wp-downloads/2019/presentations/Pathways_from_Homelessness_2019_Seminar_Stream_A5_Dr_Jenny_Schaeffer.pdf
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09638237.2020.1755017
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09638237.2020.1755017
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/332370056_Royal_Perth_Hospital_Homeless_Team_A_Report_on_the_First_Two_and_a_Half_Years_of_Operation
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/332370056_Royal_Perth_Hospital_Homeless_Team_A_Report_on_the_First_Two_and_a_Half_Years_of_Operation
https://www.pathway.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/London_Pathway_Evaluation.pdf


 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

32 

 
92 Tinelli M, Wittenberg R, Cornes M, Aldridge RW, Clark M, Byng R, Foster G, Fuller J, Hayward A, Hewett N, Kilmister 
A, Manthorpe J, Neale J, Biswell E, Whiteford M. The economic case for hospital discharge services for people 
experiencing homelessness in England: An in-depth analysis with different service configurations providing specialist 
care. Health Soc Care Community. 2022  
93 London School of Economics and Political Science. Evaluation of the Out of Hospital Carew Models (OOHCM) 
Programme for people experiencing homelessness. 2023. 
94 Pathway. 2025 
95 Single Homeless Project. 2025 
96 Pathway. Always at the bottom of the pile: The Homeless and Inclusion Health Barometer. 2024 
97 Lawson, E. The global primary care crisis. 2023 
98 DHSC. Independent investigation of the NHS in England: Lord Darzi’s report on the state of the NHS in England. 2024 
99 Humphrey A, Fagan L, Carruthers E, Yuan JM, Ogunlana K, Alfred J, Nagasivam A, Stevenson K, Aldridge RW, 
Stevenson F, Williams S, Burns R. Perspectives on registration to primary care from inclusion health groups in England: 
a mixed-method study. 2023 
100 Bowie, M., K. Two-thirds of GPs refuse to register homeless patients. HSJ. 2023 
101 Carlson, M., and Pepper, M. Scoping the systemic barriers which lead to unsuccessful general practitioner 
registration attempts amongst Londoners. 2022 
102 NHS England. Primary medical services policy and guidance manual (PGM). 2024 
103 Nuffield Foundation. Vulnerability, migration, and well-being: experiences, perceptions and barriers. 2022 
104 OHID. NHS entitlements: migrant health guide. 2014 (revised 2023) 
105 NHS England. Primary medical services policy and guidance manual (PGM). 2024 
106 Burrows, M., Edgar, R., Fitch, E. More than a statistic: a peer-led consultation with people experiencing 
homelessness for the London Homeless Health Programme. (HLP, Groundswell) 2016 
107 Singh. S., & White, H. Why interventions to improve the welfare of people experiencing homelessness work or not: an 
updated evidence and gap map. 2022 
108 The Health Foundation. Re thinking access to general practice: it’s not all about supply. 2024 
109 NHS England. A national framework for NHS – action on inclusion health. 2023 
110 Worthing, K., Seta, P., Ouwehand, I., Berlin, A., and Clinch, M. Reluctance of general practice staff to register patients 
without documentation: a qualitative study in North East London. 2023  
111 Pepper, M. Scoping the systemic barriers which lead to unsuccessful general practitioner registration attempts 
amongst Londoners. 2022 
112 Doctors of the World. Becoming a Safe Surgery. 2025 
113 Dorney-Smith, S. Tackling extreme health inequalities using health data: development of routine housing status 
recording. Pathway. 2024 
114 Pathway. Guidelines for health-related street outreach to people experiencing homelessness. 2021 
115 Public Health England. Making Every Contact Count (MECC). 2016 
116 Transformation Partners in Health and Care. Launch of a new drop-in clinic offering free bloodborne virus (BBV) 
testing and health screening to people experiencing homelessness. 2024 
117 Crane, M., Joly, L., Daly, B. J. M., Gage, H., Manthorpe, J., Cetrano, G., Ford., C & Williams, P. Integration, 
effectiveness and costs of different models of primary health care provision for people who are homeless: an evaluation 
study. 2023 
118 Howard, A. Access to health services for people experiencing homelessness in Manchester, UK: a qualitative study. 
2024 
119 Potter, L. Improving access to general practice for and with people with severe multiple disadvantage: a qualitative 
study. 2024 
120 Stiebahl, S. How does access to NHS dentristy compare across areas in England? 2025 
121 London Assembly. Dentistry in London.  
122 Homeless Link. Improving access to dental care for people experiencing homelessness. 2024 
123 Yusuf, H., Golkari. A., and Kaddour, S. Oral health of people experiencing homelessness in London: a mixed 
methods study. 2023 
124 Paisi, M., Kay, E., Plessas, A., Burns. A. Quinn, C., et al. Barriers and enablers to accessing dental services for 
people experiencing homelessness: a systematic review. 2019 
125 Verity, A. Fulfilling the promise of prevention: the role of general practice in homeless and inclusion health. (Pathway) 
2025 
126 NHS North East London. Primary care transformation: why are we improving primary care. 
127 Office for National Statistics. Deaths of homeless people in England and Wales: 2021 registrations. 2022 
128 Mantell, R., Hwang, Ye In Jane., Radford, K., Perkovic, S., Cullen, P., & Withall, A. Accelerated ageing in people 
experiencing homelessness: a rapid review of frailty prevalence and determinants. 2023. 
129 NHS England. Proactive care: providing care and support for people living at home with moderate and severe frailty. 
2023 
130 Homeless Link. Homelessness Kills. 2012 

 

Page 114

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36205443/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36205443/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36205443/
https://www.lse.ac.uk/cpec/research/OOHCM/oochm
https://www.lse.ac.uk/cpec/research/OOHCM/oochm
https://www.pathway.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/London_Pathway_Evaluation.pdf
https://www.shp.org.uk/homelessness-explained/womens-homelessness-the-stats/
https://www.pathway.org.uk/resources/barometer2024/
https://bjgp.org/content/73/726/3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-investigation-of-the-nhs-in-england
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37997096/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37997096/
https://www.hsj.co.uk/primary-care/two-thirds-of-gps-refuse-to-register-homeless-patients/7035028.article
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/scoping_the_systemic_barriers_which_lead_to_unsuccessful_general_practitioner_registration_attempts_amongst_londoners_1.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/scoping_the_systemic_barriers_which_lead_to_unsuccessful_general_practitioner_registration_attempts_amongst_londoners_1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/primary-medical-care-policy-and-guidance-manual-pgm/
https://www.nuffieldfoundation.org/project/vulnerability-migration-and-wellbeing
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-entitlements-migrant-health-guide#:~:text=GP%20practices%20are%20not%20required,of%20address%20or%20immigration%20status.
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/primary-medical-care-policy-and-guidance-manual-pgm/
https://www.transformationpartners.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/More-than-a-statistic.pdf
https://www.transformationpartners.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/More-than-a-statistic.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/368719453_Why_interventions_to_improve_the_welfare_of_people_experiencing_homelessness_work_or_not_an_updated_evidence_and_gap_map_Why_interventions_to_improve_the_welfare_of_people_experiencing_homelessness_wo
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/368719453_Why_interventions_to_improve_the_welfare_of_people_experiencing_homelessness_work_or_not_an_updated_evidence_and_gap_map_Why_interventions_to_improve_the_welfare_of_people_experiencing_homelessness_wo
https://www.health.org.uk/reports-and-analysis/briefings/rethinking-access-to-general-practice-it-s-not-all-about-supply
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/a-national-framework-for-nhs-action-on-inclusion-health/#the-case-for-action
https://bjgp.org/content/73/729/e276
https://bjgp.org/content/73/729/e276
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/scoping_the_systemic_barriers_which_lead_to_unsuccessful_general_practitioner_registration_attempts_amongst_londoners_1.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/scoping_the_systemic_barriers_which_lead_to_unsuccessful_general_practitioner_registration_attempts_amongst_londoners_1.pdf
https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/safesurgeries/?gad_source=1&gclid=CjwKCAiAlPu9BhAjEiwA5NDSA5SFg6fOLvzcUFGrGPdncAXEfy-PMWuPFTiBiChMANN5B61ypFej2BoCUQYQAvD_BwE
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/12/Tackling-extreme-health-inequalities-using-health-data-The-case-for-the-development-of-routine-housing-status-recording.pdf
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/12/Tackling-extreme-health-inequalities-using-health-data-The-case-for-the-development-of-routine-housing-status-recording.pdf
https://www.pathway.org.uk/resources/guidelines-for-health-related-street-outreach-to-people-experiencing-homelessness/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/making-every-contact-count.pdf
https://www.transformationpartners.nhs.uk/launch-of-a-new-drop-in-clinic-offering-free-bloodborne-virus-bbv-testing-health-screening-to-people-experiencing-homelessness/#:~:text=Launch%20of%20a%20new%20drop%2Din%20clinic%20offering,&%20health%20screening%20to%20people%20experiencing%20homelessness.
https://www.transformationpartners.nhs.uk/launch-of-a-new-drop-in-clinic-offering-free-bloodborne-virus-bbv-testing-health-screening-to-people-experiencing-homelessness/#:~:text=Launch%20of%20a%20new%20drop%2Din%20clinic%20offering,&%20health%20screening%20to%20people%20experiencing%20homelessness.
https://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr/WXUW5103
https://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr/WXUW5103
https://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr/WXUW5103
https://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr/WXUW5103
https://bjgp.org/content/74/742/e330
https://bjgp.org/content/74/742/e330
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/how-does-access-to-nhs-dentistry-compare-across-areas-in-england/
https://www.london.gov.uk/who-we-are/what-london-assembly-does/london-assembly-work/london-assembly-current-investigations/dentistry-london
https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/inclusive-dentistry/#:~:text=Brush%20teeth%20twice%20a%20day,as%20often%20as%20they%20recommend
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10476388/
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10476388/
https://pearl.plymouth.ac.uk/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1041&context=nm-research
https://pearl.plymouth.ac.uk/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1041&context=nm-research
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2025/02/General-Practice-and-Inclusion-Health-January-2025.pdf
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/primary-care-transformation/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsofhomelesspeopleinenglandandwales/2021registrations#deaths-of-homeless-people-data
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10061143/#:~:text=Fourteen%20studies%20were%20included%2C%20which,and%20functional%20decline%20in%20PEH.
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10061143/#:~:text=Fourteen%20studies%20were%20included%2C%20which,and%20functional%20decline%20in%20PEH.
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/proactive-care-providing-care-and-support-for-people-living-at-home-with-moderate-or-severe-frailty/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/health-and-wellbeing/homelessness-kills-2012


 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

33 

 
131 Dawes, J. Walters, K., Frost, R., Bagkeris, E., Burton, A., Hertzberg, D., & Hayward, A. Prevalence, risks and 
outcomes of frailty in people experiencing homelessness: a protocol for secondary care analysis of health needs audit 
data. 2024 
132 North East London Health & Care Partnership. Our Joint Forward Plan. 2023 (refreshed 2024) 
133 NHS England. What is personalised care?  
134 OHID. All Our Health: personalised care and population health. 2015 (updated 2024) 
135 National Academy for Social Prescribing. Does social prescribing work: read the evidence.  
136 DHSC. Independent investigation of the NHS in England: Lord Darzi’s report on the state of the NHS in England. 
2024 
137 NHS England. Comprehensive model of Personalised Care. 2018 
138 OHID. All Our Health: personalised care and population health. 2015 (updated 2024) 
139 Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Providing personalised support to rough sleepers: an evaluation of the City of London 
pilot. 2010 
140 NHS. Universal Care Plan for London. 
141 Transformation Partners in Health and Care. Transforming primary care for homeless and inclusion health. 2023 
142 Public Health England: Health matters: rough sleeping. 2020 
143 Harris, J. Dalkin, S., Jones, L., Ainscough, T., Maden, M., Bate, A., Copella, A., Gilchrist, G., Griffith, E., Mitchenson, 
L., Sumnall, H., & Hughes, E. Achieving integrated treatment: a realistic synthesis of service models and systems for co-
existing serious mental health and substance use conditions. 2023 
144 UKHSA. Dame Carol Black's independent review of drugs: prevention, treatment and recovery. 2021 
145 NHS Confederation. NHS mental health services are under unsustainable pressure, health service leaders warn. 
2022 
146 HO, DHSC, MOJ, DWP, DfE and DLUHC. From harm to hope: a 10-year drugs plan to cut crime and save lives. 2021 
(revised 2022) 
147 NHS England and DHSC. 10-year strategic plan for the drug and alcohol treatment and recovery workforce (2024 – 
2034). 2024 
148 NHS England. Advancing mental health equalities strategy. 2020 
149 Homeless Link. Annual review of the sector reveales immense pressures. 2024 
150 Crisis. #HealthNow peer research report ‘Knowing where to turn’: access to mental health support whilst experiencing 
homelessness. 2023 
151 Pathway. Mental health policy paper. 2025 
152 Mind. No London mind left behind: our strategy 2024 – 2027. 2024 
153 Marie Curie. Caring for people experiencing homelessness in palliative care. 2022 
154 Pathway. Homeless Palliative Care Toolkit. 
155 Shulman, C., Hudson, B. & Stone, P. End of life care for homeless people: a qualitative analysis exploring the 
challenges to access and provision of palliative care. 2017 
156 Coverdale, R. M., & Murtagh, F. Destitute and dying: interventions and models of palliative and end of life care for 
homeless adults – a systematic review. 2024 
157 Crisis UK. Housing crisis in the UK.  
158 Leng, G. Better Homes, Better Care, Better Health. (Pathway) 2024 
159 Housing Act 1996. 
160 MHCLG & DLUHC. Tables on homelessness. 2021 (revised 2025) 
161 ibid 
162 Trust for London. London’s temporary accommodation crisis – the latest data. 2025 
163 Shelter. Not-so-temporary accommodation. 2022 
164 Mettle-Olympio, B. Temporary accommodation in London. 
165 ibid 
166 Trust for London. London’s temporary accommodation crisis – the latest data. 2025 
167 The Magpie Project. 
168 Groundswell. Improving the health of people living in Temporary Accommodation in London. 2023 
169 Shelter. New Shetler research uncovers why the use of temporary accommodation must end. 2023 
170 Austin-Croft, L., Marossy, A., Wilson, T., and Atabong, A. A building concern? The health needs of families in 
temporary accommodation. 2020 
171 Lakhanpaul, M. & Svirydzenka, N. Play gives honest insight into lived of children in temporary accommodation – 
CHAMPIONS project. 2023 
172 Rosenthal, D. M., Schoenthaler, A., Heys, M., Ucci, M., Hayward, A., Teakle, A., Lakhanpaul, M., & Lewis, C. How 
does living in temporary accommodation and the COVID-19 pandemic impact under 5s healthcare access and health 
outcomes? A qualitative study of the key professionals in a socially and ethnically diverse and deprived areas of London. 
2023 
173 The Lullaby Trust. Tackling infant deaths in temporary accommodation. 2025 
174 Shelter. Still living in limbo: why the use of temporary accommodation must end. 2023 

 

Page 115

https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC11375403/#:~:text=People%20experiencing%20homelessness%20(PEH)%20are%20known%20to,in%20homeless%20populations%20varies%20widely%20(16%E2%80%9355%)%2C%20with
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC11375403/#:~:text=People%20experiencing%20homelessness%20(PEH)%20are%20known%20to,in%20homeless%20populations%20varies%20widely%20(16%E2%80%9355%)%2C%20with
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC11375403/#:~:text=People%20experiencing%20homelessness%20(PEH)%20are%20known%20to,in%20homeless%20populations%20varies%20widely%20(16%E2%80%9355%)%2C%20with
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans/our-joint-forward-plan/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/what-is-personalised-care/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/all-our-health-personalised-care-and-population-health
https://socialprescribingacademy.org.uk/read-the-evidence/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-investigation-of-the-nhs-in-england
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/comprehensive-model-of-personalised-care/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/all-our-health-personalised-care-and-population-health
https://lx.iriss.org.uk/content/providing-personalised-support-rough-sleepers-evaluation-city-london-pilot.html
https://lx.iriss.org.uk/content/providing-personalised-support-rough-sleepers-evaluation-city-london-pilot.html
https://ucp.onelondon.online/about/
https://www.transformationpartners.nhs.uk/programmes/homeless-health/transforming-primary-care-for-homeless-and-inclusion-health/?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-matters-rough-sleeping#:~:text=The%20increased%20mortality%20amongst%20people,of%2052%25%20over%205%20years.
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2215036623001049?dgcid=coauthor
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2215036623001049?dgcid=coauthor
https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2021/07/13/dame-carol-blacks-independent-review-of-drugs-prevention-treatment-and-recovery/
https://www.nhsconfed.org/news/nhs-mental-health-services-are-under-unsustainable-pressure-health-service-leaders-warn
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/from-harm-to-hope-a-10-year-drugs-plan-to-cut-crime-and-save-lives
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/PRN00937-10-year-strategic-plan-for-the-drug-and-alcohol-treatment-and-recovery-workforce-2024-to-2034.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/PRN00937-10-year-strategic-plan-for-the-drug-and-alcohol-treatment-and-recovery-workforce-2024-to-2034.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf
https://homeless.org.uk/news/annual-review-of-the-sector-reveals-immense-pressures/?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/health-and-wellbeing/healthnow-peer-research-report-knowing-where-to-turn-access-to-mental-health-support-whilst-experiencing-homelessness-1/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/health-and-wellbeing/healthnow-peer-research-report-knowing-where-to-turn-access-to-mental-health-support-whilst-experiencing-homelessness-1/
https://www.pathway.org.uk/resources/mental-health-policy-paper/
https://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/local-minds/mind-in-london/strategy/
https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/professionals/palliative-care-knowledge-zone/homelessness
https://www.homelesspalliativecare.com/overview-and-faqs/
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0269216317717101
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0269216317717101
https://spcare.bmj.com/content/14/e3/e2411
https://spcare.bmj.com/content/14/e3/e2411
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/key-homelessness-policy-areas/housing/housing-supply/
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/12/Better-Homes-Better-Care-Better-Health.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness
https://trustforlondon.org.uk/news/temporary-accommodation-london-data/
https://blog.shelter.org.uk/not-so-temporary-accommodation/
https://capitalletters.org.uk/temporary-accommodation-in-london-causes-consequences-and-solutions/#:~:text=Children%20living%20in%20temporary%20accommodation%20are%20more%20likely%20to%20experience,stress%20of%20their%20living%20situation.
https://trustforlondon.org.uk/news/temporary-accommodation-london-data/
https://themagpieproject.org/
https://tfl.ams3.cdn.digitaloceanspaces.com/media/documents/Improving-the-health-of-people-living-in-Temporary-Accommodation-in-London-Sep23.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/what_we_do/updates_insights_and_impact/why_use_of_temporary_accommodation_must_end
https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/43/3/581/5839915?login=false
https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/43/3/581/5839915?login=false
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2023/sep/play-gives-honest-insight-lives-children-temporary-accommodation
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2023/sep/play-gives-honest-insight-lives-children-temporary-accommodation
https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/20/2/1300
https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/20/2/1300
https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/20/2/1300
https://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/tackling-infant-deaths-in-temporary-accommodation/#:~:text=%E2%80%9CFamilies%20living%20in%20temporary%20accommodation,authorities%2C%20government%20and%20other%20organisations.
https://downloads.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/2tH1VaV0nD4E1yfkNVgZpd/18a40c539d3d6b8771c55c318f4c0a74/Still_Living_in_Limbo.pdf


 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

34 

 
175 Health Equity Evidence Centre. What works: finding ways to better support people who frequently attend emeegrency 
departments. 2023 
176 The Health Foundation. Housing. 
177 APPG for Households in Temporary Accommodation. Call for evidence findings: summary, analysis of themes, and 
call to action. 2023 
178 MHCLG. Homelessness code of guidance for local authority. 2018 (revised 2025) 
179 Lakhanpaul, M. et al. CHAMPIONS Policy Brief: developing a roadmap to give children experiencing homelessness a 
better future: preventing the exacerbation of the impacts of COVID-19 on an already vulnerable population. (UCL) 2023 
180 Brickell, K., & Nowicki, M. The debt trap: women’s stories of navigating families homelessness and temporary 
accommodation in Greater Manchester. (Shared Health Foundation) 2023 
181 Cameron, C., et al. Healthier Wealthier families in East London. (UCL) 
182 Rice, B. The experiences of families living in temporary accommodation in Westminster. 2023 
183 UK Parliament. Households in temporary accommodation (England). 2023 
184 Qualitative Health Needs Assessment: Exploring the health and healthcare experiences of asylum seekers living in 
London hotels, London Borough of Newham, 2023 
185 UNHCR. Figures at a glance. 2024 
186 Refugee Council. Top facts from the latest statistics on refugees and people seeking asylum. 2024 
187 NEL Insights, 2024.  
188 Home Office. How many cases are in the UK asylum system? 2024 
189 Refugee Council. Government's asylum policies projected to make big cuts to backlog and costs. 2024 
190 Right to Remain. The Right to Remain Toolkit: a guide to the UK immigration and asylum system. 2025 
191 Big Issue. Common sense and humanity: Home Office doubles time given to refugees before eviction from asylum 
hotels. 2024 
192 Crisis UK. The plan to end homelessness.  
193 Narayan, M. & Norris, S. Falling through the cracks: migrant people at risk of homelessness. 2023 
194 BMA. Refugee and asylum seeker patient health toolkit: unique health challenges for refugees and asylum seekers. 
2024 
195 McColl, H., & Johnson, S. Characteristics and needs of asylum seekers and refugees in contact with London 
community mental health teams: a descriptive investigation. 2006 
196 Blackmore, R., Boyle, J. A., Fazel, M., Ranasinha, S., Gray, K. M., Fitzgerald, G., Misso, M., & Gibson-Helm, M. The 
prevalence of mental illness in refugees and asylum seekers. 2020 
197 Heslehurst, N., Brown, H., Pemu, A., Coleman, H., & Rankin, J. Perinatal health outcomes and care among asylum 
seekers and refugees: a systematic review of systematic reviews. 2018 
198 Portnoy, S. & Ward, A. Unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people – understanding their journeys 
towards improved physical and emotional health. 2020 
199 Home Office. Indicators of integration framework. 2019 
200 Kienzler, H. Community integration, quality of life, thriving, and mental health among refugees and asylum seekers. A 
London service provider perspective. 2024 
201 Breaking barriers: meaningful employment for refugees. Facts about refugees in the UK.  
202 Refugee Council. Impact report. 2024 
203 North East London ICS. Refugee employment programme.  
204 Qualitative Health Needs Assessment: Exploring the health and healthcare experiences of asylum seekers living in 
London hotels, London Borough of Newham. 2023 
205 Lebano, A., Hamed, S., Bradby, H., Gil-Salmeron, A., Dura-Ferrandis, E., Garces-Ferrer, J., Azzedine, F., Riza, E., 
Karnaki, P., Zota, D., & Lois, A. Migrants’ and refugees’ health status and healthcare in Europe: a scoping literature 
review. 2020  
206 Ciftci, Y., & Blane, D. N. Improving GP registration and access for migrant health. 2022 
207 Doctors of the World.  
208 Doctors of the World. Access to healthcare for people seeking asylum in initial and contingency accommodation: a 
toolkit for primary care commissioners and providers. 2023 
209 OHID. NHS entitlements: migrant health guidance. 2014 (revised 2023) 
210 Refugee Council. Healthcare for refugees: where are the gaps and how do we help? 2021 
211 Doctors of the World. Delays and destitution: an audit of DOTW’s hospital access project (2018 – 2020). 2020 
212 The Migrant Observatory. Deprivation and the no recourse to public funds (NRPF) condition. 2023 
213 MHCLG & DLUHC. Discharging people at risk of or experiencing homelessness. 2024 
214 NRPF Network. Essential guidance for adults with no recourse to public funds. 2023 
215 Refugee Action. No access to justice: how legal advice deserts fail refugees, migrants and our communities. 2022 
216 Praxis for migrants and refugees. Impact report 2022/23. 2023 
217 The Doctor, Right to Care. 2024 
218 NHS Safeguarding. Homelessness. 
219 Taylor, G. 1,474 reasons to act: adult safeguarding & inclusion health. (Pathway) 2025 

 

Page 116

https://www.heec.co.uk/resource/what-works-finding-ways-to-better-support-people-who-frequently-attend-emergency-departments/
https://www.heec.co.uk/resource/what-works-finding-ways-to-better-support-people-who-frequently-attend-emergency-departments/
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/housing?gad_source=1&gclid=CjwKCAiAqrG9BhAVEiwAaPu5zvdS8f5J0kOPAkm31MFoysWE8-rNnTA_PHR-m6BkybCLHtk4pdLCMxoCXEIQAvD_BwE
https://www.justlife.org.uk/assets/documents/APPG-report.pdf
https://www.justlife.org.uk/assets/documents/APPG-report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-11-assessments-and-personalised-plans
https://www.arc-nt.nihr.ac.uk/media/ellbexqy/champions-final-policy-brief-18-01-2023.pdf
https://www.arc-nt.nihr.ac.uk/media/ellbexqy/champions-final-policy-brief-18-01-2023.pdf
https://sharedhealthfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/The-Debt-Trap.pdf
https://sharedhealthfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/The-Debt-Trap.pdf
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/thomas-coram-research-unit/research/children-young-people-and-families/healthier-wealthier-families-east-london#:~:text=The%20Healthier%20Wealthier%20Families%20programme,decisions%20to%20help%20maximise%20income.
https://cdn.prod.website-files.com/5f5f94ceea510f9156eba318/63f50fe846401c53cd86d36e_The%20experiences%20of%20families%20living%20in%20Temporary%20Accommodation%20in%20Westminster.pdf
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn02110/
https://www.unhcr.org/uk/figures-glance
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/stay-informed/explainers/top-facts-from-the-latest-statistics-on-refugees-and-people-seeking-asylum/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-system-statistics-year-ending-september-2024/how-many-cases-are-in-the-uk-asylum-system#:~:text=Figure%203%20shows%20that%20as,more%20than%2012%20months%20increased.
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/stay-informed/articles/governments-asylum-policies-projected-to-make-big-cuts-to-backlog-and-costs/
https://righttoremain.org.uk/toolkit/destitution-and-housing/
https://www.bigissue.com/news/social-justice/refugee-move-on-period-asylum-hotels-homelessness/
https://www.bigissue.com/news/social-justice/refugee-move-on-period-asylum-hotels-homelessness/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/the-plan-to-end-homelessness-full-version/solutions/chapter-12-ending-migrant-homelessness/#:~:text=Although%20not%20all%20destitute%20migrants,them%20extremely%20vulnerable%20to%20homelessness.
https://bylinetimes.com/2023/01/19/falling-through-the-cracks-migrant-people-at-risk-of-homelessness/#:~:text=Some%20of%20those%20most%20at,EU%20Settled%20Status%20post%2DBrexit.
https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/ethics/refugees-overseas-visitors-and-vulnerable-migrants/refugee-and-asylum-seeker-patient-health-toolkit/unique-health-challenges-for-refugees-and-asylum-seekers
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16900305/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16900305/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32956381/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32956381/
https://bmcmedicine.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12916-018-1064-0
https://bmcmedicine.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12916-018-1064-0
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32538134/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32538134/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/627cc6d3d3bf7f052d33b06e/home-office-indicators-of-integration-framework-2019-horr109.pdf
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38699416/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38699416/
https://breaking-barriers.co.uk/our-impact/refugee-asylum-facts/
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/stay-informed/articles/our-impact-report-how-we-support-refugees-to-thrive/
https://www.nwlondonicb.nhs.uk/careers/H-SCskillsacademy/refugee-employment-programme
https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-020-08749-8
https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-020-08749-8
https://bjgp.org/content/72/715/56
https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/
https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Toolkit-for-ICBs-and-PC-commissioners-access-to-healthcare-for-asylum-accommodation-DOTW-2023.pdf
https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Toolkit-for-ICBs-and-PC-commissioners-access-to-healthcare-for-asylum-accommodation-DOTW-2023.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-entitlements-migrant-health-guide#hospital-treatment
https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/stay-informed/articles/healthcare-for-refugees-where-are-the-gaps-and-how-do-we-help/
https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Delays-and-destitution-An-audit-of-Doctors-of-the-Worlds-Hospital-Access-Project-July-2018-20.pdf
https://migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/briefings/deprivation-and-the-no-recourse-to-public-funds-nrpf-condition/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discharging-people-at-risk-of-or-experiencing-homelessness/discharging-people-at-risk-of-or-experiencing-homelessness
https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/news/adult-guidance
https://www.refugee-action.org.uk/no-access-to-justice-how-legal-advice-deserts-fail-refugees-migrants-and-our-communities/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5d91f87725049149378fce82/t/65fc097178590a5781da5f05/1711016315183/Praxis_Impact_report_22-23.pdf
https://issuu.com/thebma/docs/1_20240611_thedoctor
https://safeguarding-guide.nhs.uk/types-of-abuse-exploitation-and-neglect/s3-16/
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2025/01/1474-Readsons-to-Act-Adult-Safeguarding-Inclusion-Health.pdf


 
NEL Homeless Health Strategy  
Case for Change 

 

 

35 

 
220 Groundswell. London Participation Network. 2022 
221 LGA. Adult safeguarding and homelessness: a briefing on positive practice. 2020 
222 National Network for Chairs of Adult Safeguarding Boards. London multi-agency safeguarding policy and procedures. 
2019 
223 North East London Health & Care Partnership. Our strategic priorities.   
224 NHS England. NHS equality, diversity, and inclusion improvement plan. 2023 
225 The Health Foundation. The NHS as an anchor institution. 
226 Cornes, M. Re-thinking multiple exclusion homelessness. (Kings College London) 
227 Henderson, R. Burned out homelessness service staff are leaving to take up better salaries in retail and haulage. 
(Inside Housing) 2022 
228 Cornes, M., Tinelli, M., Coombes, M., Harris, J., Burridge, S. Robinson, J., & Wittenberg, R. Evaluation of the Out of 
Hospital Care Models programme for people experiencing homelessness. (Kings College London) 2024 
229 Homeless Health London Partnership, Homeless and Inclusion Health Workforce - Case for Action. 
230 Goldstein, E., Chokshi, B., Melendez-Torres, G. J., Rois, A., Jelley, M., & Lewis-O’Connor, A. Effectiveness of Trauma 
information care implementation in health care settings: systematic review of reviews and realistic synthesis. 2024 
231 NHS Inclusion. The importance of trauma-informed training in care services. 
232 Centre for Homelessness Impact. Trialling what works to improve wellbeing of client-facing staff working in 
homelessness. 2024 
233 The Independent. Workers on frontline of homelessness crisis face surge in demand as they fear ending up on 
streets themselves. 2024 
234 What Works Wellbeing. Evidence on reducing burnout among frontline workers: a literature review. 2024 
235 Homeless Link. Involving and recruiting people with lived experience. 2024 
236 NIHR Policy Research Unit in Health and Social Care Workforce. Opening the door to employment in healthcare: 
people with lived experience of homelessness. 2023 
237 NHS Employers. Recruiting people with experience of homelessness toolkit. 2025 
238 British Medical Association. Patient registration. 2024 
239 Elwell-Sutton, T., Fok, J., Albanese, F., Mathie, H., & Holland, R. Factors associated with access to care and 
healthcare utilization in the homeless population of England. 2017 
240 Homeless Link. Mental health and homelessness: breaking the stigma cycle. 2023 
241 UK Government. Discrimination: your rights. 
242 Pathway. Health data policy paper. 2025 
243 Tiratelli, L. Climate change and heat-related mortality: will ‘summer crises’ become part of the NHS’s future? (The 
Kings Fund) 2024 
244 Boyd, H. E., Leigh, G., Sutton, J. The London Climate Resilience Review. 2024 
245 Carbon Disclosure Project. 
246 Hajat, S., Sarran, C. E., Bezgrebelna, M., & Kidd, S. Ambient temperature and emergency hospital admissions in 
people experiencing homelessness: London, 2011 – 2019. 2023 
247 Homeless Link. SWEP and winter provision toolkit. 2024 
248 Leng, G. Better homes, better care, better health. 2024  
249 LGA. Championing inclusion health: local government’s key role. 2024 
250 Greater London Authority. ICS London Housing Profile. 2024 
251 NHS England. Build for health.  

Page 117

https://groundswell.org.uk/2022/london-participation-network/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/adult-safeguarding-and-homelessness-briefing-positive-practice
https://nationalnetwork.org.uk/London%20Multi-Agency%20Safeguarding%20Policy%20and%20Procedures/
https://northeastlondon.icb.nhs.uk/about-us/about-nel-hcp/our-strategy-and-priorities/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/nhs-equality-diversity-and-inclusion-improvement-plan/
https://www.health.org.uk/features-and-opinion/features/the-nhs-as-an-anchor-institution?gclid=CjwKCAjwzo2mBhAUEiwAf7wjknRK4crwUq_GteblRjI3Vr4GYQUKGlmKApGwdZJ1cxTlhqmAQ6Z1NBoCr7IQAvD_BwE
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/rethinking-meh
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/comment/burned-out-homelessness-service-staff-are-leaving-to-take-up-better-salaries-in-retail-and-haulage-75935
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/oohcm-evaluation
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/oohcm-evaluation
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10940237/#:~:text=TIC%20education%20imparts%20recognition%20that,well%20as%20those%20delivering%20care.
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10940237/#:~:text=TIC%20education%20imparts%20recognition%20that,well%20as%20those%20delivering%20care.
https://www.inclusion.org/the-importance-of-trauma-informed-training-in-care-services/
https://www.homelessnessimpact.org/news/workforce-wellbeing
https://www.homelessnessimpact.org/news/workforce-wellbeing
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/homelessness-staff-burnout-housing-survey-b2617381.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/homelessness-staff-burnout-housing-survey-b2617381.html
https://whatworkswellbeing.org/resources/evidence-on-reducing-burnout-among-frontline-workers-a-literature-review/
https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/involving-and-recruiting-people-with-lived-experience/
https://blogs.kcl.ac.uk/socialcareworkforce/2023/02/01/opening-the-door-to-employment-in-healthcare-people-with-lived-experience-of-homelessness/
https://blogs.kcl.ac.uk/socialcareworkforce/2023/02/01/opening-the-door-to-employment-in-healthcare-people-with-lived-experience-of-homelessness/
https://www.nhsemployers.org/toolkits/recruiting-people-experience-homelessness-toolkit?utm_campaign=1832108_NHS%20Workforce%20Bulletin%3A%207%20October%202024&utm_medium=email&utm_source=NHS%20Confederation&dm_i=6OI9,139NW,2IO1Y7,50IYW,1
https://www.bma.org.uk/advice-and-support/gp-practices/managing-your-practice-list/patient-registration
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26896508/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26896508/
https://homeless.org.uk/news/mental-health-and-homelessness-breaking-the-stigma-cycle/
https://www.gov.uk/discrimination-your-rights
https://www.pathway.org.uk/resources/health-data-policy-paper/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/climate-change-and-heat-related-mortality-nhs-future
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2024-07/The_London_Climate_Resillience_Review_July_2024_FA.pdf
https://www.cdp.net/en/data
https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.2023.307351
https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.2023.307351
https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/guidance-on-cold-weather-provision-swep-and-heatwaves/
https://www.pathway.org.uk/app/uploads/2024/12/Better-Homes-Better-Care-Better-Health.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/championing-inclusion-health-local-governments-key-role
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/ics-london-housing-profile
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/contacts-and-resources/building-for-health/#:~:text=The%20trust%20partnered%20with%20St,wide%20range%20of%20NHS%20skills.


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Introduction to Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Services Report
	Appendix 2 homelessness-and-rough-sleeping-strategy-2023-27
	Structure Bookmarks
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 Introduction Strategic Context Background Strategy Progress Developing this strategy Priorities Priority one: Providing rapid, effective and tailored interventions Priority two: Securing access to suitable and affordable accommodation Priority three: Working collaboratively Priority four: Supporting beyond accommodation Implementation 5 7 9 13 14 15 15 17 19 21 23 
	Our strengths • A commitment to deliver comprehensive services that has been backed by a significant growth in funding by the City Corporation • Quality services, co-located with social care, that deliver advice, guidance and assessment that is accessible through an inclusive range of channels • Spot purchasing of interim accommodation allowing us to search in or as close as we can to the areas where a homelessness applicant last resided to help maintain links with support networks and services where possib
	Case Study City of London Corporation Women’s Project The City of London Corporation opened its first dedicated women’s accommodation project in April 2023. The Domestic Abuse Act (2021) introduced new requirements for local housing authorities to have safe accommodation available to any applicant on approach where domestic abuse is the reason they have given for leaving their home. Recognising the national and regional shortage of affordable, suitable accommodation, the City Corporation commissioned an exi
	Case Study High Support Hostel The City of London Corporation and its commissioned partners conducted research to determine what additional projects could be introduced to have the highest impact in supporting those in our rough sleeping population who have the most complex needs. In November 2022, The City of London Corporation opened a 29-bed high support hostel. This new service occupies a site that was redeveloped from the ground up and designed with psychologically informed principles in mind. The proj
	Case Study Health Community Wellbeing Van The City of London Corporation’s Health Community Wellbeing Van is a partnership between City and Hackney Public Health, North-East London Integrated Care Board and East London Foundation Trust. This weekly, GP-led service brings vital primary care interventions directly to rough sleepers found in the Square Mile. The service operates from a fully converted vehicle and was launched in February 2023. The van offers a private consultation space, storage for clinical e
	Case Study Employment and Progression Service – ‘Streets to Work’ The first project of its kind in the City of London, ‘Streets to Work’ launched in February 2023. The project has a remit to work across all our cohorts – vulnerably housed social tenants, residents in supported accommodation and rough sleepers. The service offers individuals the opportunity to build up their skills through education, training and employment opportunities as well as through volunteering. The service offers a mix of one-to-one
	Figure


	Appendix 2 HRS Structure Chart June 2025 (names removed)
	Slide 1: Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping

	Appendix 3.Rough Sleeping Budget allocation 2025-26

	8 Co-Production Project Progress Report
	9 Statutory Homelessness Service Development Plan
	Appendix 1.HAST Feedback_abbreviated.HRS
	Slide 1: Corporate Context and Strategy 
	Slide 2: Service delivery
	Slide 3: Service delivery
	Slide 4: Service delivery
	Slide 5: Service delivery

	Appendix 2 Stat.H_Service Development Plan_2025-26

	10 Meeting the Health Needs for People Rough Sleeping in the City of London
	Appendix 1 - NEL Homeless Health Strategy - Case for Change




